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Financial Overview

Total revenues (Million THB)

Gross profit margin (Million THB)
Profit before finance cost and
income tax expense (Million THB)
Net profit (Million THB)

Dividend per share (THB)

Total assets (Million THB)
Total liabilities (Million THB)
Total shareholders’ equity (Million THB)

Debt to equity ratio (time)
Return on equity (%)

Return on assets (%)

Book value per share (THB)*

Revenue Structure

EMS Business (Million THB)
Enterprise Solutions Business (Million THB)

Smart Service Business (Million THB)

2567

2567

2566 2565
9,820 9,754
2,255 2,290
977 1,257
573 775
047 052
11,049 1,386
7,767 8,127
3,282 3,259
237 249
17.46 2378
5.18 6.81
351 348
2566 2565
3,504 4,154
2,209 1,860
3,778 3,417




Performance

Profit before finance cost and income tax expens (Million THB) Net profit (Million THB)
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Message from the Chairman of the Board
and Chief Executive Offic

In today's business world, industries are constantly evolving and subject to

fluctuations. However, with our expertise in the industry and extensive

experience in both software and hardware technology since the company's
establishment in 1989, FORTH has been a leader in the development of telecommu-
nications and electronics technology in Thailand. Our company has never stopped
innovating, which has earned us the trust of both government and private sector
clients. We have a highly experienced Research and Development (R&D) team that
works closely with our clients, from co-designing and developing products to prototyping
and final production. Our clients can be assured that the best solutions are created
through high-quality design and efficient production processes at competitive
costs. Additionally, we operate a manufacturing facility that produces electronic
devices for leading global brands.

As for the Thai economy in 2024, it is expected to grow by around 25-2.6%,
with increased imports and exports, as well as higher government investment and
spending in the second half of the year. However, private sector investment and
consumption have slowed down due to the rising household debt burden. It is evident
that domestic economic growth is primarily driven by government spending and
tourism

Last year was a challenging one for the FORTH Group due to the global
slowdown in the electronics industry, which led to a decrease in our EMS (Electronic
Manufacturing Services) business. Additionally, delays in government budget
disbursements resulted in revenue from project deliveries in our Enterprise Solutions
business not meeting targets. However, the Smart Services business showed strong
growth, driven by the expansion of our credit services for large corporate clients
with efficient debt collection management, as well as the increased use of our "Tao
Bin" payment kiosks, which significantly boosted overall revenue

Looking ahead to 2025, amid the uncertain domestic economic conditions
and the global economic slowdown, the Group plans to expand its business and
manage costs and expenses efficiently. Specifically, we will focus on:

1. EMS Business: Expanding our customer base to reduce dependence on
large clients and improving production cost efficiency.

2. Enterprise Solutions Business: Continuously bidding for government and
private sector projects, while ensuring timely revenue recognition from projects
awarded in previous years.

3. Smart Services Business: Expanding our credit service customer base for
large corporations and increasing the number of "Tao Bin" payment kiosks to enhance
accessibility for customers. We are also working to build international business
partnerships to expand the customer base for "Tao Bin" abroad and to prepare for
the introduction of new technologies and innovations that meet global changes in
the present and future.

Finally, on behalf of the Board of Directors and the Executive Committee, |
would like to express our sincere gratitude to our partners, clients, shareholders,
and all stakeholders who have continuously supported and trusted our operations.
We remain committed to upholding good corporate governance principles and
corporate social responsibility while ensuring the sustainable growth of our company.
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FORTH Innovation Center

FORTH Innovation Center

Forth Corporation Public Company Limited is a Thai-owned
company that has continuously prioritized research and
development (R&D) for over three decades. The company
recognizes that in order to operate sustainably, it must
diversify its product offerings and ensure that its products
remain up-to-date with current trends. As a result, the company
has consistently focused on research and product development,
establishing a dedicated unit composed of experts in production
and product design related to electronics. This team is
responsible for developing new products for the company.



R & D Team Engineers

The company has a dedicated research and development
(R&D) team that collaborates in researching, developing,
and designing innovative products to drive business
diversification and meet the needs of both government and
private sector clients. With decades of accumulated experience
and expertise, our R&D team is able to create new products
and solutions that are aligned with future technologies.

The company consistently invests in state-of-the-art
machinery to support the rapid adaptation required for
producing new product types. Over the years, the R&D
department has continuously developed new products that
contribute to the company’s ongoing innovation and growth.

n



Background and Key Developments

MY 57
it
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® Smart IP phone, speaker
®* WIFl Router, LED streetlight
® Nurse call

® Analog & Digital PBX, Circuit Board
and Electronic Devices, LED Traffic light &
System, Implement DLC to TOT

® FORTH WDM access switch, ® BOONTERM by FSMART
BOONTERM Kiosk

1989-2007 > 2008-2014
A A

1989 2006 2008 2014

Listing on the Stock Listing the Subsidiary on the
Company Start-Up Exchange of Thailand (SET) Establishment of a Subsidiary Market for Alternative Investment
(MAI)

- The company was founded - The company transformed - The company established - Forth Smart Services Co,, Ltd.
to engage in the telecommuni- into a public company and was a subsidiary, Forth Smart Services was transformed into a public
cations technology business listed on the Stock Exchange Co,, Ltd, to operate the automatic company and listed on the
(telephone exchange systems) of Thailand (SET) under the top-up kiosk business under Market for Alternative
and provide manufacturing stock symbol “FORTH.” the brand name “Tao Bin". Investment (MAI).

services for electrical and

electronic circuit boards.
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® Online gaseoline vending machine, * EV Charger
passive optical network, Electronic ® Electronic Monitoring device
Manitoring device (EM) * BOONTERM (new version)

* TAOBIN Robotic Barista
® GINKA Charge Paint
* TAOBIN Smart Cafe

& Vending Machine by FVD

2015-2020 > 2021-2024
A A

2019 PAOYA 2023

Establishment of a Subsidiary Establishment of a Subsidiary

Business Model Adjustment of UU-]USSﬁDIU
Subsidiary A i
avus:inA

. The company established . The company established - Forth Vending Co., Ltd. (a - The company has started
a subsidiary, Forth Vending Co., a subsidiary, Forth EMS Co.,, Ltd,, subsidiary) adjusted its business expanding its flying turtle booth
Ltd., to operate the business of to provide comprehensive model to focus on providing business to international markets.
selling bottled and canned electronic manufacturing services. automated fresh coffee and
products and beverages through beverage vending services
automatic vending machines. under the brand name “Tao Bin".

13



Vision & Mission

Vision

Fort Corporation Public Company Limited is an organization engaged in
the research, development, manufacturing, distribution, and provision of information
and communication technology and electronics in all forms, including automated
service network channels and comprehensive financial services of the highest
standard. The company operates under good corporate governance with a focus

on sustainable growth, social responsibility, and environmental stewardship.

Mission

. Promote research and development to expand business by creating
diverse products and services.

o Adapt the business plan in response to the dynamic market trends
and the expectations of stakeholders.

. Enhance capabilities in research, innovation creation, design,
development, sourcing, manufacturing, sales, marketing, and
distribution channels.

. Achieve customer satisfaction and after-sales service, while
safeguarding the interests of shareholders, customers, partners,
employees, communities, society, the environment,

and thegovernment.

Faithful Optimist Responsible

honest and have faith in the have a good attitude responsible for work
organization.



MULTI Products & Services

Electronic System Integration
Manufacturing Solutions
- Services

Traffic Light System
and Automatic Traffic
Controller

_ & } - Electronic

Menitoring

Electronic
Meter

Maintenance
Components GROUP Service
Distribution Agreement (MA)

“Boonterm” Top-up “TAOBIN"
and payment kiosks Cafe

"GINKA® “TAOBIN"
EV charger Robotic barista

Thoughtful
Thorough, Thoughtful

Harmony

works as a team

15



Business Structure and
Operating Performance



1. Business Structure and Operating Performance
1.1. Policy and Business Overview

Forth Corporation Public Cornpany Limited (the *Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Forth Group") operate businesses in the fields of information and communication technology,
telecommunications, and electronic equipment. The Company has a dedicated research and
development (R&D) team, along with high-tech manufacturing facilities, enabling it to design and create
products that cater to the needs of various customer groups, including government organizations, private
enterprises, and general consumers, Currently, the Company has expanded its business operations to
include aircraft sales and maintenance services, as well as beverage sales and services. The Company's
business operations are categorized into three main business groups as follows:

1. EMS Business Engaged in the contract manufacturing and assembly of circuit boards and electronic
components, offering both turnkey manufacturing and assembly services for domestic and
international clients. The company provides consultation and product design services in collaboration
with clients seeking to develop new products or create innovative solutions, Additionally, the business
includes the sourcing and distribution of electronic components and parts used as raw materials for
circuit board assembly, catering to both electronics manufacturing plants and general customers.

2 Enterprise Solutions Business Engaged in the procurement, sourcing, and distribution of
telecommunications and electronicequipment, as well as comprehensive [T and communication system
integration. This includes site surveys, system design, installation, and maintenance of equipment and/or
communication networks. Additionally, the business extends to the distribution of private aircraft and
the provision of maintenance services for both private and commercial aircraft, catering to both
government and private sector clients. The company also operates overseas businesses involving
automated vending machines for freshly brewed coffee and other beverages.

3. Smart Services Business Engaged in providing top-up and payment services, as well as financial
transaction services [deposit and withdrawal] through the "Boonterm” automated top-up machines and
counter service, The company offers comprehensive financial services, including personal loans and
installment payment financing. Additionally, it is involved in the distribution and servicing of electric
wvehicle charging stations under the "Gingaa Charge Point” brand. The business also includes the sale of
freshly brewed coffee and made-to-order beverages through the “TAO BIM Robotic Barista” vending
machines in Thailand, catering to general retail customers.

Enterprise Solutions Smart Services Business
Business Group Group

EMS Business Group

17
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1.1.1. The Company's vision, goals, and business strategies

Vision

Forth Corporation Public Company Limited is a research, development, and production organization. Distribute
and provide information communication technology services, and all kinds of electronics including a network of
autormated and financial service channels Excallent all-in-one under good corporate governance by focusing on
sustainable growth Social and environmental responsibility.

Mission
& promote research and research to expand the business to create various products and services,

*  Fulfill your research capacity through Innovation, design, developrent, acquisition, production, sales,
marketing, and distribution channels,

« Adjust the business plan according to the dynamics of marketing. and expectations of stakeholders towards
the arganization.

s Access customer satisfaction and after-sales service.

*  Maintain benefits for shareholders, customers, business partners, employess, communities, society,
environment, and government sectors.

Culture of Organization

F: Faithful

O Optimist

R: Respansible

T: Thaughtful

H: Harmony

Business Direction in 3-5 years

The company has been operating in the fields of information and communication technology and all types of
electronic devices for over 30 years. With a vision that prioritizes research and development (R&D] in electronic
products, the company has consistently focused on developing both hardware and software solutions. It has a
dedicated R&D unit staffed with knowledgeable, skilled, and experienced personnel who specialize in electronic
product research and developrment. This expertise enables the company to transform knowledge into innovative
products that align with technological advancements and customer demands. Furthermore, the newly developed
products and innovations can be leveraged to expand business operations.

The company recognizes that achieving sustainable business operations for the Forth Group requires both
employee development and the advancement of new technologies and products that align with future industry
trends. As a result, the group has invested in employee training programs as well as state-of-the-art machinery to
support product development, enabling continuous business expansion into new sectors.

Furthermore, the transition from Industry 3.0 to Industry 4.0 has brought significant structural changes across
various industries, from manufacturing to service sectors, as Al, electronic devices, and advanced automation
systems are increasingly integrated into business operations. This shift presents a continuous growth opportunity
for businesses related 1o electronic products, information technology, and communication systermns. Growth is
further driven by long-term government infrastructure investment policies, digital transformation initiatives in both
public and private organizations, and the rising consumer demand for new technology-related products and
services,

Forth Group has focused on serving all customer segrments through its expertise and experience in technology
innovation, accumulated over more than 30 years. The company also integrates new technological innovations with
various business sectors (Crossing Borders and Industry Sectors) to expand its market reach. In addition to
researching and developing electronic products to meet the technological needs of different customer groups,
Forth Group actively seeks new business expansion opportunities to strengthen its operations and ensure long-
term sustainable growth.

At present, Forth Group offers a diverse range of products and services that cater to a broad customer bass, from
corporate clients to individual consumers. To ensure sustainable growth and continued success, the group has set
the following business goals and strategic directions:

- Continuously innovate and develop techneology for both hardware and software in products and services to drive
business expansion and growth. At the same time, enhance business collaboration with partners and expand the
company's network of business associates across various sectors.

- Expand the customer base in the future technology and innovation sectors, including the medical industry,
autormotive industry, telecommunications and electronic equipment industry, and home appliances industry, both
domestically and internationally.

- Expand the network of electric vehicle charging stations under the "CINKA Charge Point" brand, offering both AC
and DC chargers to accommedate the growing EV market, with a target of 1,000 charging points within two years,



- Expand the loan service business, including personal loans, installment loans, and other credit products, to meet
the increasing customer demand in the future, Additionally, extend international deposit/transfer services and
instant money transfers to better serve foreign workers in their financial transactions.

- Expand the business of "Tao Bin Robotic Barista” (Tac Bin vending machines] for freshly brewed coffee and
beverages to various locations such as office buildings, haspitals, factories, and government and private sector
premises.The goal is to install 20,000 machines across Thailand. Further expand the Tao Bin vending machine
business into international markets beyond the current four countries—Malaysia, Singapore, Australia, and Dubai.

« Expand the new model of Tao Bin Autormated Cafe, integrated with GINKA Charge Point for electric vehicle
charging. This new café concept will offer an expanded menu, including beverages with tapioca pearls and soft-
serve ice cream, prepared by the 'Tao Bin' automated counter, along with a selection of bakery items. The goal is to
launch at least two new Tao Bin Automated Café locations in Bangkok and other provinces within this year,

- Expand the business of private aircraft sales along with comprehensive maintenance services. Invest in an aircraft
maintenance center for small to mid-sized commercial aircraft, aiming to officially launch services within the next
2-3years.

The company remains committed to continuous innovation, development, and the creation of high-quality
products and services that align with modern technology. It also strives to offer solutions that meet the evolving
needs of customers at different stages of technological transformation. This ensures the efficient and optimal use
of resources while strengthening the business and creating sustainable value for customers and all stakeholders.

Forth Group operates with a focus on sustainable business expansion, delivering high-guality products and
comprehensive services by integrating knowledge, expertise, and modern technology. Additionally, the company is
dedicated to social, community, and environmental responsibility, adhering to good corporate governance
principles, which will lead to sustainable and mutual growth.

1.1.2. The Company Background

The company was founded in 1989 under the original name Cenius Carmmunication System Company Limited by
the Amatanon Groupwith a starting registered capital of 1 million baht to operate a telecommunicationstechnology
business. Initially establishing the company, the company is engaged in the production of telephone PABX under
the FORTH trademark and the business of contract manufacturing and assernbly of electrical circuit boards and
electronic equipment. Later, there was an incréase in capital and business expansion to telecommunications
technology and related businesses, The company registered its transformation into a public limited company under
the name Farth Corporation Public Cormpany Limited in 2005 and the company was listed as a listed security and
trades on the Stock Exchange of Thailand ("Stock Exchange” or “SETT) in 2006. Currently, the company has registered
capital and paid-up capital of 4&87.62 million baht.

The Forth Group under the management of the Armatanon family has grown progressively by laying the foundation
for research and developrment as a basis along with inheriting the vision of looking for new business opportunities
from generation to generation. This helps drive the growth of the Forth Group and help the Forth Croup to
continuously expand its business.

Significant Development in the Past 3 Years
2022

+ Forth MRO Service Company Limited has increased its registered capital from 24 million baht to 54 million baht

«  Forth EMS Co, Ltd. has increased its registered capital from 250 millien baht to 400 million baht,

» Forth Vending Co, Ltd. increased its registered capital from 1.070 million baht to 1,400 million, the shareholding
of the Company increased to 4004 percent and the shareholding of Forth Smart Service Public Company
Limited increased to 2071 percent

* The Company has purchased land located in Makhaon Pathom Province to support future business expansion of
the group of companies. The 2 plots of land is about 49 acres.

+  The company won first prize on the National Innovation Award 2022 from the National Innovation Agency (N 1A)
and received Cutstanding Awards in 3 award categories: (1) CEQ Awards (2) Company Performance Awards (3)
Innovative Company Awards from the Stock Exchange of Thailand (SET Award).

2023

Investment and business expansion

+ The Company has reduced its registered capital and paid-up capital of it from £80,000,000 baht to 467,687,350
baht by cutting commaon treasury shares according to the share repurchase program.

+ Forth EMS Company Limited (subsidiary) registered the change from a limited company to a public limited
company under the name Forth EMS Public Company Limited and increased its registered capital from 400
million baht to a new registered capital of 560 million baht, with the company's shareholding in Forth EMS Public
Company Limited of 87.50 percent.

+ The company joins with its partners to establish a new company abroad to operate a business on selling
beverages through FORTH Tao Bin machine in Malaysia and Australia. The company holds 10 percent of the shares.

»  Forth MRO Service Company Limited has entered into a contract with the Airports of Thailand [ACT] to operate
an aircraft maintenance center at Don Mueang Airport for a period of 15 years from the date the business began.

19
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2024
Investment and business expansion

In June 2024, the Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders No. 112024 of Forth Meter Co., Ltd. approved an
increase in registered capital from 40 million baht to 54 million baht by issuing 1.4 million newly issued ordinany
shares with a par value of 10 baht per share.

The company exercised its rights to purchase additional shares in proportion to its existing shareholding and
acquired unsubscribed shares from other shareholders, totaling 1.4 million shares, amaounting to 14 million baht. As
a result, the company's shareholding in Forth Meter increased from 85% to 88.9%.

Forth Meter used the proceeds from the capital increase to repay its cutstanding loans and accrued interest to the
cormpary.

1.1.3 Right Offering

- Mone -

1.1.4 Obligations shown in the prospectus and/or conditions of the office
- None -

1.1.5 Company Information

Company Mame ¢ Forth Corporation Public Cornpany Limited
Head Office : No. 1053/1 Phaholyothin Rd, Phayathai, Phayathai, Bangkok 10400
Mature of Business ¢ Business of research and development, production and distribution,

and communication devices including a fully integrated network of
automated and financial service channels

QO7543000471
Q-2265-5700, 0-2265-6799
Common Stock

Company Registration Mo,
Telephone/ Fax No.

Stock type
Registration Capital T4ET7H8Y 350 Baht (235,374,000 shares with a par value of 0.50 Baht)
Company Website o owwwiforthcoth



1.2 Nature of Business
1.2.1 Revenue structure

The company operates business in the fisld of telecommunication technology, providing services in all types of
communication systems, telecommunication equipment and electronics and continuously invests and expands its
business. The Forth group of companies conducts business from being a manufacturer of electronic products,
providing integrated systermn planning services to distributing electronic products and selling various beverages
through kiosk. |In addition, from more than 30 years of experience in the business of information communication
technology and various types of electranic equipment, Forth Group offers products and servdices to many different
customer groups from private sector corporate customers, Government organization customer group and genera
retail custormers under the trademarks of the Forth group .as well as under product brands such as flying TAQBIN,
GINKA and BEOONTERM, etc

The company has divided the business operations inte 3 main business groups as follows:

1 EMS Business Focusing on contract manufacturing  and  assembly of  electronic
components and devices, innovative technology products, as well as the
sourcing and distribution of electronic parts and equipment.

2. Enterprise Solutions Business Focusing on providing digital solutions, communication network
systermsand information technology, as well as the distribution of personal aircraft
and comprehensive  maintenance  services,  including  automated  fresh
coffes and beverage vending machines in international markets,

3. Smart Services Business Focusing on payment services, comprehensive financial transactions,
and personal loans, as well as the sale of fresh coffee and freshly brewed
beverages through the “Tao Bin" automated wvending rmachines, along

with product distribution via vending machines and other sales channels,

Revenues From Major Business

EMS Business

« Manufacturing and distribution of

lecommunication and electronics 1,735 1896 24354 2473 2 862 2941
aquipment under customar brands

« Dustrnibution of electronics part 1,042 .39 1,070 1090 1285 1318
Enterprise Solution Business
« Procurement propects of government and
state enterprise and projects of private 1527 1.592 6.21 11 15
organization
. ration and Distnbution of traffic lght 596 B L) 542 &75 692
slooment and imclementa fE
. elopment and implementation of ERP - 018 15 als - 013

SElem

s Othars 134 146 70 o7l 49 050
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1.2.2 Products and Services by Business Groups

1.2.2.1 Products, Services and Innovations

Ol

EMS Business Group

Electronics Manufacturing Services
Business Group

Consisting of businesses in contract manufacturing and assembly of electronic circuit boards

(Printed Circuit Board Assembly: PCBA) and finished electronic products [Box-build), offered in
both turnkey and consignment models for dormestic and international customers. Additionally, the
company provides sourcing and distribution services for electronic components and eguipment for
industrial factories and general customers, including semiconductors, electronic components, as
well as measurement and testing instruments. The details of products and services are as follows:

11 Business of providing services for producing and assembling circuit boards and

ready-made electranic praducts.(PCBA and Box-build)

The business provides contract manufacturing services for technology innovation products and

complete assembly of electronic components. This includes services such as placing electronic
components onto the surface of electronic circuit boards (Printed Circuit Board Assembly: PCBA)
and manufacturing them into finished electronic products (Box-Build) using modern technology
and machinery. The services are offered to customers across various industries both domestically
and internationally, such as the automotive industry, medical equipment industry, electrical and
electronics industry, and telecormmunications industry. The factory has a tearn of engineers and
production experts who provide consulting, collaborate on product design, and plan production
with customers, as well as conduct product testing before delivery. Additionally, the factory's
production lines are modular and adaptable, providing flexibility in adjusting production
processes, whether it is for new product prototype production (Prototyping), production testing

[Testing), or full-scale mass production (Commercial Production). These production lines can be

adjusted from manufacturing electronic circuit boards to producing finished electronic products,

with customers that include both product owners and product designers.

The production can be divided into 2 types:

1. Consign Parts refers to the manufacturing of electronic circuit boards for customers, where the
company's engineering team collaborates with the customer in the design and assembly
planning of the circuit board. The circuit boards assembled by the company include those for
horme appliances, computer eguipment, telecommunications equipment, and other electronic
circuits. In this case, the company uses raw materials supplied by the customer, who is
responsible for contacting the suppliers or manufacturers to deliver the raw materials to the
company and for covering the cost of the raw materials. Therefore, the company has no risk
regarding the management of raw material costs in this type of assembly process,

2. Turnkey refers to the production of electronic circuit boards or electronic devices on a contract
basis, where the company's engineering team collaborates with the custormer in the design and
assembly planning of the circuit board. The products the company undertakes to manufacture
include circuit boards for home appliances, computer equipment, telecormmunications
equipment, electronic circuits, electrical meters, and satellite communication devices for
vehicles, among others. The company can source the raw materials itself, selecting high-quality
materials according to the customer's specifications, handling the procurement process, and
managing the cost of raw materials. In this case, the company is responsible for managing the
raw material costs for all the electronic circuit boards [Printed Circuit Board Assembly: PCBA)
and electranic products produced according to the customer's order,

12 Business of procuring and distributing parts and equipment

The business provides the sourcing and distribution of electronic components and electronic
devices. The products offered cover a wide range, including semiconductor components, which
serve as raw materials for assembly on electronic circuit boards, such as ICs, transistors, diodes,
semiconductors, optoelectronics, display devices, relays, batteries, connectors, electrical alarms,
switches, EMC filters, capacitors, resistors, and more. The company also provides measuring and
testing instruments, as well as robotic technology for factories. Trusted by leading global
companies, the company has been appointed as the official distributor in Thailand for brands
suchas FUIITSU, DELTA MICROCHIP, KEC, ETT, CPi, SCHAFFNER, SILA, GIORY, FLLIKE, and other
prominent companies, Additionally, the company offers a comprehensive range of services,
including consultation, design, prototyping, testing, and delivery of products, all under the
concept of One Stop Services.
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02

Enterprise Solutions Business Group
Enterprise Solutions

Business Group

The business includes the procurement, sourcing, development, and implementation of
comprehensive information technology systerns (System Integration: S1) far various projects of
government agencies, state enterprises, and private sector organizations. This includes site
surveys, design work, system installation, and complete system integration, as well as the
maintenance and repair of equipment and communication networks. Additionally, the cormnpany
provides telecommunications equiprment and various electronic devices.

Furthermaore, the Enterprise Solutions business group also offers aviation services, including the
distribution of personal aircraft from leading aircraft manufacturers and aircraft maintenance,
repair, and overhaul (MRO) services for medium-sized commercial aircraft. The business also
includes the distribution of automatic coffee machines and fresh beverage dispensers to
international markets. Detailed product and service offerings are as follows:

Telecommunications system integration and information
technology solutions services business.
The business provides procurement  and  distribution  of
telecormmunications equiprment and related devices, as well as services
in the design, system integration, installation, and maintenance of
telecommunications network systems and information systems. The
services are provided by a team of experienced and skilled engineers,
along with a project management team with proven capabilities and
experience in managing over 100 projects, These projects range from
those worth millions of baht to those valued at over a billion baht, such
as
MEAN: Multi Service Access Node
o Telephorne and Internet Exchange Projects (MSAM: Multi Service
Access Node)
= Smart Grid System Integration Projects for managing electricity
between electricity authorities and smart meters (Smart Meter) in
households
Digital Trunk Radio Systerm Network Projects
Fiber Optic Cable Network Projects (Cyber Optic Cable Network)
Electronic Monitoring and Tracking Systern Projects
Enterprise Resource Planning (ERF) System Integration Projects
Core Network Bandwidth Expansion and Network Performance
Improvement Projects
»  MNurse Call System Installation Frojects and others

Business providing system integration and sales of
comprehensive traffic signal products.
The company provides system integration services and sales of
comprehensive traffic signal system products. With expertise in Sl (System
Integration), the company offers a full range of services, including
consulting, design, installation contracting, system management via
network technology for centralized control, systerm maintenance, and the
sale of related equiprment, such as:
Full Color LED Screen

= Full Color LEC Display Screens

« Traffic Signal Lights and Traffic Signal Control Systems

= Traffic Signal Lights and Pedestrian Countdown Timers

+ CCTV Cameras, Selar-Powered Flashing Lights, and other related

eguipment.



Business of distributing lamps, LED bulbs, and

lighting equipmentL

LED Lighting and Equipment Distribution Business
Providing sourcing and distribution services for
various types of LED lighting products and
illumination eguiprment, such as:

& LED Street Lights
* LED High Bay Lights and others

Electronic Meter Distribution Business
Offering sales and distribution of electronic
electricity meters, including single-phase and three-
phase kWh electronic meters, which can be
connected to an automated processing system via
RS485 Interface, LAN, or Ethernet, and integrated
with the company's billing system.

Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) Systemn
Implementation Business
Providing ERP systern implermentation services for
government agencies and state enterprises.

Vehicle Tracking System and Equipment
Distribution Business

Providing vehicle tracking systern distribution
services via satellite for vehicle usage monitoring
and real-time status reporting, allowing users to
manage vehicle operations maore efficiently. Key
offerings include:

*  GPS (Global Positioning System): Identifies
vehicle location, speed, and travel routes,
with alerts for route deviations or excessive

speed.

* Vehicle Tracking Devices: Satellite-based
vehicle tracking systems for recording
vehicle usage.

&  Electronic Monitoring Devices (EM):
Electronic tracking devices for monitoring
individuals.

Private Aircraft Sales and Maintenance
Business

Providing official distribution services for private
aircraft from four major manufacturers, including
Hondalet, Kodiak, Cirrus, and LAIONG. Additionally,
offering comprehensive aircraft  maintenance
cervices, including scheduled maintenance and
inspections, performed by a team of highly skilled
aviation technicians.
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Private aircraft distribution and maintenance services.

A subsidiary has been officially appointed as an authorized dealer for private aircraft
by several leading aircraft manufacturers.

Honda Jet Kodiok Cirrus

Authorized Distrbuter in CLMV For Royol Thal Army [RTAJ

L410NG
For Department of Royal Rainmoking
v .L}nrql!‘.,lrﬂ Avurtann (DRRAA)

>

Adutharized Distributor n CLWY

Commercial Aircraft Maintenance Center

The company has partnered with Airports of Thailand (AOT) to establish a new international
commercial aircraft maintenance center at Don Muesang Airport. This facility aims to support the

growing demands of the aviation industry in the region and is expected to be fully operational in the
future.




Tao Bin International

The company has partnered with international partners to expand
branches abroad for its Thai-made fresh coffee and automated
beverage vending machines—an innovation created by Thai
expertise.
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Smart Services Business Group
03 Smart Services
Business Group

The business includes services related to top-up and payment processing, financial transactions
through automated cnline kiosks, personal loan services, and electric wehicle charging services. It
also involves the food and beverage sector, particularly the sale of freshly brewed coffee, freshly
made beverages, and products sold through automated kiosks. The details of the products and
services are as follows:

31 Top-up service business - receiving payments and complete
financial transactions through automatic online kiosks under the
brand "Boonterm" and electric vehicle charging services under
the brand "CINKA Charge Point”

The company provides electronic payment services and comprehensive
financial services through automated payment machines and cashier
counters. Services include mobile phone top-ups, online game top-ups,
electronic wallet top-ups, internet package payments, utility bill payments,
cash deposits and withdrawals, and over 105 other services available at
Boonterm machines nationwide, 24 hours a day. It also offers payment and
top-up services for utilities, phone kills, internet fees, insurance premiums,
credit card bills, flight tickets, and more than 1,300 other services through
cashier counters nationwide. The subsidiary has been appointed as a
Banking Agent by financial institutions and collaborates with nan-financial
service providers to offer cash deposit and withdrawal services, bank
account opening with identity verification (e-KYC), personal loans, and
installment financing for various products.

Additionally, the subsidiary provides both AC and DC electric vehicle
charging stations equipped with touch-screen systems that accept
payments through Mobile Banking apps. The system also allows users 1o
store credit in their phone numbers for future service payments. Moreover,
the company offers management services for payment systems at
autormated machines for fresh coffee and beverage vending under the "Tao
Bin" brand.




“Top-up and Payment Service Business

via Kiosk"

Mobile phone top-up service, online game top-
up service and top-up various types of cash
cards, top-up services to electronic wallets
Internet package payment services and various
utility  bills, insurance premiums, fines
electronic identity werification services, anc
other services through more than 120,00
Boonterm kiosks nationwide. There is also &
service for accepting payments and top-ups
payment service for utilities: telephone bills
internet bills insurance premiums including
credit card fees, Airfare tickets and more
totaling mere than 1300 kicsks that can be
purchased at cashier counters in Centra
Departrnent Stores nationwide. More thar
3600 service points in wvarious locations
nationwide,

Q yoaiu
Buwsauld

The business of selling and providing electric vehicle
charging services, as well as payment system services
for Tac Bin vending machines.

CINKA Charge Point electric wehicle charging services,
available in both AC and DC models, feature touch-screen
displays and support payments wvia Mobile Banking
applications. The system also allows users to store credit in
their phone numbers for future payments. The company
provides comprehensive management services for  all
charging stations, including payment processing and
backend systems for property owners, enabling real-time
tracking of energy consumption and revenue at each
charging point. Additionally, the company offers payment
systern services for Tao Bin automated fresh coffee and
beverage vending machines.

Banking and Lending Business

Comprehensive  financial  services by
appointing the subsidiary as a banking
agent for financial institutions and
cooperating with financial service providers
that are not financial institutions in
providing deposit-withdrawal  services,
Bank account opening services as well as
identity wverification service (e-K¥YC) and
personal loan service and installment loans
for various products,
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12 Business of Selling Fresh Coffee and Freshly Brewed Beverages
through Vending Machines and Product Sales through Vending
Machines

Sell fresh coffee and freshly brewed beverages automatically through
"TAOBIN"

Providing freshly brewed beverages, served cup by cup, with over 200 menu
options, including hot, iced, and blended drinks such as fresh coffee, tea, cocoa,
milk, Pepsi, and various soda-based beverages. These drinks are available through
automated fresh coffee and beverage vending machines, known as "Tao Bin"
Customers can customize their drink's sweetness level using a moedern touch-
screen interface. The payment system supports both cash (banknotes and coins)
and QR code payments. Currently, more than 7,000 Tao Bin vending machines
are in operation nationwide,

Tao Bin is an innovative automated fresh coffee and beverage vending machine,
developed by Thai expertise. It features advanced technology and mechanical
systems, including a coffee bean grinder, an ice maker, a heating system, and a
soda-making systermn. With over 38 petty patents registered for protection, Tao
Bin can craft a diverse range of beverages with premium flavors, delivering
barista-quality drinks one cup at a time—all within a compact space of just 1

square meter.

“Tao Bin”

Rolbotic Mechanism tee and Soda Making
o
“ .
‘ fr]
i st
Management Controller Coffes Brivan: orvd Mot Water

= ¥ i
B @ O

“Tao Bin Station” vending machine.

The "Tao Bin Station” is an automated vending machine that offers a
widle variety of products, such as pouches, cups, boxes, cans, and more,
It features a lift system to handle the products carefully, preventing
any damage, and includes a cooling system to maintain product
quality. This type of vending machine is linked with the automated
beverage vending machines and supports payments both in cash and
electronic payment methods (QR Code).




“Tao Bin" Cafe

The service offers a variety of freshly brewed beverages, such as
fresh coffee, milk tea, Thai tea, cocoa, milk, Pepsi, sodas, and soft-
serve ice cream, Customers can add toppings like tapioca pearls
to beverages such as cocoa or tea. These drinks are prepared
using a new type of automated beverage machine, or "Tao Bin
Counter,” which uses advanced technology, allowing the
equivalent of three baristas to prepare three drinks
simultaneously. Additionally, the Tao Bin café also offers a
selection of baked goods. Customers can order both drinks and
baked goods, make payments at the automated drink ardering
machine, and receive a gueue tickat to scan and collect their
drinks and baked goods at the Tac Bin Counter.
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Forth places great importance on
research and development (R&D).
The company has established an
innovation center equipped with a
research team to conduct research,

explore, and develop electronic

Business in Innovation Development

Forth Corporation Public Company Limited is a Thai company that has placed importance on research and
development continuously for more than 3 decades with a research and development team of more than 100
people who work together to study, research, develop and design various products and innovative products to
further the business operations that are diversified and meet the needs of customers in both public and private
organizations. With decades of experience and knowledge accumulated by the research and development team,
the company can therefore create new products and solutions that are in line with new technology in the future.




Research and Development Process

The cormpany focuses primarily on research and development of electronic products, ermphasizing technology
innavation and praduct design that align with market demands andfor user needs. Thisappraach is also in line with
the company's strategic plans and direction, The main steps in the research and development process are as follows,

1. Business Development and Customer Need
o Initiating with an Understanding of Market Problems or Needs

o Studying User Needs and Technical Requirerments

2. Concept Design and Product Development
o Designing Electronic Circuits, Hardware, and Related Software
o Selecting and Designing Yarious Electronic Components, such as processors, Capacitors, sensors,
and connectivity devices,
o Designing the PCB (Printed Circuit Board) to integrate all componeants together.

3 Prototyping
o Creating a Prototype to test device functionality and technical capabilities.
o Testing Circuit Operation and Systern Response, such as data transmission testing or device
durability.

4. Testing and Evaluation
o Analyzing Test Results, Evaluating Performance, and Improving the Prototype to address
identified issues or defects, such as resizing, reducing power consumption, or enhancing
efficiency.
o Ensuring Mass Production Feasibility with compstitive cost considerations.

Function Test and Final Production
o Conducting Operational Tests During the Preduction Process
o Performing Quality Contral (QC) 1o ensure the quality of each manufactured device

i

The research and development process for electronic devices involves multiple rounds of testing and close
collaboration betweean electronics engineers, software enginears, and mechanical design teams. This ensures that
the product achieves optimal performance and meets its intended functionality.

The cycle from research and development to manufacturing a final product,
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Promoting Innovation and Development.

The company prioritizes and supports innovation that adds value to the business while also creating economic and
social benefits. This is achieved through research and development of products, as well as the creation of new
solutions that not only provide a competitive advantage for customers but also contribute to environmental and
social sustainability. Examples of such products include:

o  Top-upand Payment Kiosk "Boonterm” = Reduces paper usage by enabling transactions directly at the
kiosk instead of purchasing physical top-up cards, game cards, internet packages, or printed receipts for
top-up codes.

+ FreshCoffee and Beverage Vending Machine “Tao Bin" - Minimizes wastewater by integrating advanced
technologyinto its design, including a high-pressure cleaning systerm using water at temperatures above
952C, significantly reducing water consumption per cleaning cycle.

» Electronic Monitoring Ankle Bracelet "EM Bracelet” - Helps alleviate prison overcrowding by allowing
eligible offenders to be monitored outside correctional facilities, in accordance with legal regulations and
government policies.

The company actively encourages patent registration to protect intellectual property and regularly rewards
irventors for both patents and petty patents, Additionally, the company supports all ernployees in expressing their
opinians, proposing new approaches, or introducing innovations related to work processes. These initiatives aim to
enhance operational efficiency within the erganization and drive improved overall performance.

Since its establishrment, the company has received numerous awards for technology products and innovation from
various organizations, including the MNational Broadcasting and Telecommunications Commission (NBTC], the
Telecornmunications Research and Industrial Developrnent Institute, the National Innovation Agency (MIA), the
Mational Research Council of Thailand (NRCT), and the Department of Intellectual Property (CIR).

Cwer the past three years, the company has received the following awards for the Tao Bin vending machine;
*  National Innovation &wards 2022 - MNational Innovation Agency (M1A)
* |DP Champion 2022 - Department of Intellectual Property (DIF)
s Qutstanding Innovative Cornpany Awards 2022 - The Stock Exchange of Thailand (SET Awards 2022)
= Production Innovation Award 2022 - Technology and Digital Product Category [Vending Machine)
Business Innovation Development (Products/Services/Business Models)

Research, Development, and Product Design Projects

The company's research and development projects not only aim to meet the needs of various customer segments
but also create new dermands that enhance customer convenience, Over the past year, the company has conducted
R&D initiatives focused on both continuously improving existing products and developing new products in
alignment with the group’s business direction and customer needs.

“TAOBIN Robotic Barista”

Forth's research and development team has designed an innovative automatic beverage machine that stands apart from
traditional coffee makers and vending machines. This breakthrough innovation enables the automated creation of a
diverse range of beverages within a single machine.

The machine is equipped with an integrated coffee bean grinder, ice-making system, heating and soda system, and
advanced brewing technology, allowing it to serve both hot and cold beverages with over 200 menu options, These include
tea, coffee, cocoa, soft drinks, fruit juices, and various other beverages. It functions like a Barista Bot, ensuring consistently
delicigus, high-guality drinks in every cup.

“IP Nurse Call”

The internal communication system for healthcare facilities enables seamless communication between patients and
nurses, allowing patients to reach out to nurses anytime without picking up a handset—simply pressing a single button
enables real-time conversation as if they were in the same room.

The IP Nurse Call systerm enhances the capabilities and stability of traditional Nurse Call systermns by transitioning all device
communications within the system to Internet Pratocol (|P)-based connectivity. This upgrade improves nursing efficiency
while providing patients and their families with greater reassurance and trust, especially in emergency situations where
immediate assistance is neaded,

Farth's research and development tearn has further enhanced the IP Nurse Call system by incorporating a larger display
and additional features, ensuring the systern is suitable for healthcare facilities ranging fram small clinics to large hospitals,



‘"TAOBIN Counter”

The compary's research and developrnent team has further enhanced the automatic beverage vending rmachine,
evalving the current “Tao Bin" model into the "Tao Bin Counter.”

This new version features a larger counter-sized design, allowing it to accommodate a widervariety of menu options
that were previously unavailable in the standard Tao Bin machine, These include bubble tea, soft-serve ice cream,
and fresh milk-based beverages, expanding the menu to over 300 drink options.

Additionally, the Tao Bin Counter has been designed to handle multiple simultaneous drink orders, reducing wait
times for customers. Instead of queueing at the machine, customers will receive a QR code-based queue ticket that
they can scan to collect their drink once it is ready, as indicated on the display screen.

“CINKA Charge Point”

The company's research and development team has designed and developed a new electric vehicle (EV) charging
station under the brand GINKA This new station features a modern design with enhanced user convenience and
supports both AC (normal] charging and DC (fast) charging. AC Charging: Available in 7 kwh and 22 kWh models
and DC Charging: Available in 120 kWh and 40 kWh rmadels [the 40 KWh model is a compact version currently
under developrment and testing). The GINKA EV charger is designed as a padestal-type charging station,
compatible with internationally standardized charging connectors. Users can conveniently pay via mobile banking
applications based on the desired charging amount. Additionally, the R&D tearm has developed software that
stores rermaining balances on users' phone numbers, allowing them to use the stored balance for future EV
charging payments, further enhancing the convenience of electric vehicle users.

The FORTH Group places great emphasis on the continuous development of new products and services. Every
product developed by the group undergoes the patent or petty patent registration process to protect against
counterfeiting, modification, or unauthorized alterations.

Research and Developrment Expenses

Over the past three years, the company's research and development (R&D) expenses have prirmarily been allocated
to salaries and special rewards for researchers who create innovative solutions or improve existing products
successfully. These developments often lead to patent or petty patent registrations.

The company allocates an annual RED budget of 100 million baht to support continuous innovation and
technological advancements,

Patents and Petty Patents

Currently, the company has registered petty patents for the "Tacbin Robotic Barista" vending maching, the "Taobin
Counter", and other electronic products. The Taokin Robotic Barista has been granted 36 petty patents, while the
Tacbin Counter has received 3 petty patents.

The company continues to register petty patents and patents both domestically and internationally. Below are five
examples of granted petty patents for the Taobin vending machine:

Examples of Inventions Within the Taobin Vending Machine Petty Patent
Numbers
+ Automatic Coffee Grinder with Adjustable Grinding Mechanism 17751
« Vending Machine with Integrated |ce-Making System and Carbonated Beverage 17798
Cooling Systern Using a Shared Carmpressor
e Cup Holder with Load Cell for Weighing Ingredients Inside the Cup 17742
+ Self-Service Beverage Preparation System 8188
» Brewing Head Cleaning Device 19135
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Board of Investment (BOI) of the Company and its Subsidiaries

The Company

66-1469-1-00-2-0

Research and developrment
activities for vending machine

- Exermption of import duties for raw
materials and supplies for 1 year.

- Exernption of corporate incorme
tax for net profits for 8 years.

- Mot yet exercised

The subsidiaries

62-1342-1-04-1-2

Manufacturing Printed Circuit
Board Assembly (PCBA), parts or
devices used with electrical
appliances, electronic products,
and finished electronic products,
PABX and Telephone set

- Exernption of corporate income tax
for net profits up to 50% of the
investment for efficiency praduction
improvement until 2 June 2025,
Exemption of import duties on
imported machinery as approved by
BOl committee until 2 June 2023
- Exermnption of import duties for raw
materials and supplies

- 3 December 2012

66-1630-2-00-1-0

rManufacturing automatic vending
machines and repairing automatic
vending machines which
produced by the subsidiary

- Exemnption of corporate income tax
for net profits for 5 years.
- Exemption of import duties for raw
materials and supplies for 1 year.

- Mot yet exercised

66-1720-2-00-1-0

Manufacturing Printed Circuit
Board Assembly (PCBA) and
MNetwork Device.

- Exemnption of corporate income tax
for net profits 3 years for the
production of PCBA and 5 years for
the production of Network Devices,
- Exemption of import duties for raw
materials and supplies for 1 year.

- 7 December 2004

66-1126-2-00-1-0

Aircraft maintenance [weight limit
at 5,700 kilograms) under category
31803 - Aircraft  repair or
components

Exemption of corporate incarme tax
for net profits for 8 years.
- Exemption of 30% of import duties
for raw materials and supplies for 1

Not yet exercised

year.

12.2.2 Marketing and Competition
Overview of the Thailand Economy in 2024

The Thai economy in 2024 is projected to expand by 2.7%, supported by the services and tourism sectors, which hawve
been expanding continuously, especially in the second quarter, with growth in value-added tax and foreign tourists.
It is anticipated that there will be 36 millian foreign tourists, with spending per person increasing to 47,000 baht
due to the visa exemption for 93 countries, Private consumption is expected to grow by 4.5%, private investment by
A6%, and merchandise exports by 2.7%. Merchandise imports are expected to grow by 3.1%, especially capital goods
in line with increased private investment The economic growth of Thailand in 2024 is forecasted to expand by 2.7%,
an increase from the earlier estimate of 2.4% made in April. This is because: 1) Merchandise exports are showing
better-than-expected growth, with demand from key trading partners expanding by 3.2%; 2] Revenue from foreign
tourists is higher than expected due to government measures to attract tourists; and 3) Government spending is
better than expected, driven by accelerated spending towards the end of the fiscal year 2024, Regarding dormestic
stability, inflation is expected to remain at 0.6% per year (with a forecast range of 0.1% to 11%), as food and energy
prices decline due to government rmeasures to ease the cost of living. As for external stability, the services balance
is likely to be in surplus due to foreign tourists, resulting in a current account surplus in 2024, which is expected to
reach 11 billion LUSD, or 2.4% of GOP, not including the impact of the 10,000 baht digital wallet top-up scheme [the
program). Howewver, Factors that will impact the Thai economy that need to be closely monitored include: 1)
Ceopolitical tensions, 2) Volatility in glokal financial markets, 3) The outcome of the LS. presidential election and the
economic policy direction of the new government, 4) Economic recovery in key trading partner countries, and 5)
Household and business debt issues in Thailand. Key drivers of the economy in the remainder of 2024 include:
accelerating government spending, increasing the number and revenue from foreign tourists, and speeding up
investments in various projects, especially those that have already been approved. Additionally, promoting Thailand
as a global financial hub will help strengthen the country's future competitiveness.

|Source: Fiscal Policy Office)



Industrial Economic Conditions in 2024 and Trends in 2025

In 2024, the Thai industrial economy is expected to decline by 16% compared to the previous year, primarily due to
the slowdown in the global economy, geopalitical tensions, global warming, and erratic weather conditions. Key
industries that are experiencing a slowdown include the automotive industry, such as pickup trucks and small
passenger cars, which have been affected by the slowdown in the domestic market and rising household debt.
Additionally, electronic components, such as Integrated Circuits (IC) and Printed Circuit Board Assembly (PCBA),
have been impacted oy the slowdown in the electronic export market and rapid technological changes in related
industries, such as automotive, concrete, cement, and plaster, as well as computers and peripherals, which have
decreased in line with the slowdown in the real estate sector and delayed government budgets. At the same time,
industries that are expanding include petroleum products, which have increased due to the growth in tourism;
processed animal feed preducts, such as pet food, chicken, and pork, which have expanded their customer base
abroad; and general machinery, such as air conditioners, which have seen rising demand due to hotter weather and
are expected to continue growing. The Industrial Production Index [MPI) for 2024 is estimated to grow by 1.5-2.5%,
supparted by the following factors: 1) Thailand's international trade with key trading partners continues to show
steady growth, 2) The tourism and service sectors are expanding, 3) Private sector investment is expected to grow
steadily, 4) The government is accelerating spending and investment, as well as implermenting various economic
stimulus measures, and 5) The signing of Free Trade Agreements (FTAs) with key trading partners.

However, there are several factors to watch out for: 1) Geopolitical tensions in various regions, 2] The economic
policies of the United States under President Donald Trump, 3) High production costs, living expenses, and business
and household debt, and 4] Erratic weather conditions and global warming.

{(Source: Office of Industrial Economics)

The Company’s Strategy

Frorm the company's business in various fields related to products in the electronics industry for more than

3 decades, the company is well equipped and has extensive experience in production, research and marketing as

well as having subsidiaries and associated companies that support each other's business. The Group has the

following business strategies:

»  Continuous product development to increase the variety of products and business lines.
Fram the experience of doing business for a long time, the corpany realizes that in order to enable the
company to operate its business sustainably. The company must add new products in order to be diverse and
keep the products up-to-date. Therefore, the company has always focused on research and product
development and established a department consisting of personnel specializing in the production of
electronic products. It serves to develop new products of the company to meet the needs of customers. In the
past, the department  has a history of developing products into new products of the company continually.
Therefore, the result of the above business line expansion, will allow the company to have a more diverse
customer base and can reduce risks in the company's business operations.

» Consistency of After-Sales Service Focus and Maintain Customer Satisfaction.
The company focuses on continuous after-sales service provided by its customer service department and
receiving support from dealers covering the country such as providing consultants on how to use the product
with expertise, sufficient spare parts service, and quick repair service. As a result, customers feel good about
using the company's products, This makes the customers remember the brand. It creates trust and confidence
in using the company's products or servicas resulting in the company's income. Furthermaore, the cormpany
alse builds good relationships with customers through customer satisfaction surveys in order to improve
ServIce,

* Focuson Using the FORTH's Trademark and Creating a Brand for the Subsidiary to Market the Company's
Products.
Since the company's been in business for a long time, there are various products under FORTH and many
other subsidiaries' trademarks, Therefore, at present, the company's products are widely known and accepted
for their quality and service, This makes it easier for companies to market their products to consumers'
acceptance,
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The Industry, Marketing and Competition Conditions of Each Business Group

1. EMS Business Group

The EMS business group operates in the electronics sectar, specializing in the procurement and distribution of
electronic components, as well as providing contract manufacturing and assermbly services for electronic
products, innovative products, and various technology-based items.

Competitive Landscape

Currently, Thailand's electronics industry comprises multiple players, including domestic enterprises and
multinational corporations. The cormpany falls under the category of domestic enterprises. Due to its business
rmodel as a comprehensive electronics manufacturer and assermbler [One-Stop Services), the company is involved
in various stages—from co-designing and developing manufacturing processes, assembling circuit beards, and
planning circuit integration to producing fully finished innowvative products.

Maost domestic competitors face limitations in terms of investment in machinery, production quality, and capacity.
However, the company maintains a competitive edge by continuously investing in state-of-the-art machinery,
leveraging experienced executives and skilled tearms with deep expertise in the industry. Additionally, the
company's presence in electronic component sourcing and distribution strengthens its ability to provide end-to-
end solutions, meeting customer demands efficiently in both domestic and international markets.

Competitive strategy of EMS business group

1) Using preduction technology that can support new product production changes, the subsidiary has a policy 1o
regularly invest in machineny with modern technology in order to support the production of customers' complax
products. However, the company's production plants have production standards that have been certified to
international standards, including IATF 169492016, Quality Control System for Autormotive Production and 1SO
134852016 including Quality Management Standard System which covers the design, development, production
and sale of medical equipment. The requirements of this system are used internationally, such as Europe,
Canada, Australia, etc. In addition, production lines are managed to support adjustments to produce new types
of products to be able to use machines efficiently under changing orders and can support the production of
various products and the Group had received a Green Industry certification Level 3, Green Systermn from the
Ministry of Industry.

2} Interm of product quality development and standards in production, the gquality is controlled from the inspection
of raw materials to ensure that the raw materials used in the production process are up Lo standards according
to the criteria set by the customer. At each step of the production process, the company continuously inspects
product quality at every step in order to meet the standards according to the reguirements of customers.
However, the company uses a strategy to adjust production lines to be flexible in order to support production of
other custormers more and appropriately. Each customer's product still meets the standards and criteria set by
the customer. Apart from the Group also invests in improving production machinery and in new production
technology.

3) Procurernent of raw materials by selecting raw materials from quality trading partners as well as consulting
service and product design tegether with customers in one Stop Services)

4) Providing production services both in the form of contract production (Turn Key) and in the form of contract
assermnbly (Consign Part). The subsidiary is a full-service manufacturer and assermbly of electronic components
[One-Stop Services) for customers in various industries both domestic and international with a team of
engineers and production experts who provide advice, design and production planning and product testing
before delivering them to customers as well as providing consulting and product design services in collaboration
with customers whowant to develop products. or want to create new solutions including electronic component
assembly services such as products that are electronic circuit boards with electronic components placed on the
surface (Printed Circuit Board Assembly : PCBA) and finished electronic products (Box Build).

5 Fecusing on providing continuous after-sales service and maintaining customer satisfaction. The subsidiany's
customer senice department provides advice in using the product with expertise, adequate spare parts
service and a quick repair service. As a result, customers have good feelings in using the preducts; remember
the brand and trust and confidence are created in using the products or services of the subsidiaries. In
addition, the company also builds good relationships with customers by surveying customer satisfaction in
arder to iImprove sernvices,

Target customer groups and distribution channels

Providing contract manufacturing services for innovative products and complete assembly of electronic
components under customer's brands. The subsidiary company focuses on the target customer group of
original product manufacturers whao own foreign brands that have production bases in Thailand or directly own
foreign brands in various industries such as the autornotive industry, telecommunications network equipment
product group, product group used in the industrial sector [Industrial Electronics), medical device group,
consurmer praduct group, automatic kiosk praduct group (Vending Machineg), including customer groups that
are members of the Forth Groeup. In addition, the company also has a pelicy to expand its customer bases who
are distributors of various electronic equipments and have the company produces more products on a contract
manufacturing basis (Turnkey), etc,

By focusing mainly on direct sales, the company neeads to present experiences in accepting work, production
technology, production process, how to store raw materials, experience of the team and executives in order to
gain custormers trust. Therefore, the Company provides an opportunity for customers come visit or inspect the
factory before agreeing to sign the contract and some customers may send a technical team to work with the
company's production department to participate in planning. The production process is ranging from
Production process design and production cost analysis to make offers to customers, production of sample
products (Pilet Runj to the start of production and delivery of products according to customer arders, In addition,



the company uses various channels to find new customers by publicizing through the company's website,
wwww forth-ems.com, introduction and solicitation from the company's current customer group and from
recommendations by company executives, ete.

+ Being a representative for distributing electronic parts and equiprnent to manufacturers of electronic products
and electrical appliances. The manufacturers can be divided into two types: domestic entrepreneurs and
multinational companies with production bases in Thailand. If not including sales to affiliated companies, the
majority of the subsidiary's customers are manufacturers of wvarious electrical appliances, including air
conditioners, fans, televisions, sound systerns, and factory custormers from New Zealand, Japan, and Taiwan, etc,
For the distribution channel of the subsidianys electronic parts distribution business, most of them contact
directly, using ES sales staff to contact and market to customers who are manufacturing plants. Sales targets
are set for both expanding the existing customer base and expanding the market to add new customer bases,
ES has both offline and online distribution channels: at the locations of 2 ES branches and on the website, www.
escoth, which supports both factory custormers and general customers,

2. Enterprise Solutions Business Group

specializing in telecommunications network systems, information systems, and system integration, which connects
hardware and software seamlessly. Additionally, it provides maintenance services for various governmeant agency
projects.

Competitive Landscape

Due to the evolving landscape of modern technology, entreprenaurs in the information technology and
communication systems industry continue to develop their service models and seek ways 1o meet the increasing
demand for new digital technologies from business and corporate clients, as well as government organizations that
prioritize infrastructure investment to transform cities into smart cities.

The competitive landscape of this industry remains similar to the previous year. Given the company's expertise and
experience in providing telecornmunications network services, System Integration (S1) projects, and maintenance
of communication equipment and networks—along with a deep understanding of regulatory requirements for
government and state enterprise projects—the company has a strong market position.

Additionally, the company has a specialized engineering team, as well as its own research and development team
capable of innovating new products such as Electronic Monitoring (EM) ankle bracelets for offenders and smart
meaters, With strong business partnerships, including HP, CISCO, and HUAWEI, the company has expanded its
capabilities to bid on various projects,

These projects include smart grid systems for electricity management, which connect electricity autherities with
household smart meters via the internet, electronic monitoring (EM) systems for judicial and correctional
institutionsto track offenders, and other projects such as trunk radio communication equipment, traffic light control
systems, and CCTV surveillance systems. The company has plans to continue bidding for future projects.
Enterprise Solutions Business Group's Strategy

Due to the company's development of various products, the company can meet the needs of customers and build

a larger customer base. There are quidelines for implementing strategies in many areas such as

* Product development in new ways all the time and there are a variety of products that meet the neads of every
target group.

+ The credibility of a brand or cormpany that has been around for morea than 32 years shows its acceptance.
Widely regarded in terms of quality and service, the company's new product offerings under the FORTH brand
are accepted by consumers through reference standards from government auctions.

» Developing quality and fashionable products with competitive prices. Therefore, the company has adjusted
the business direction that is more connected to the broadband business. It's an opportunity for the company
to zell devices for high-speed Internet connections,

+ Focusing on thorough and fast after-sales service 24 hours a day, 7 working days, both in terms of spare parts
and repair service by a service team with expertise and ready to access the area as soon as notified. There are
complete and moedern repair tools with standardized operating procedures strictly in accordance with the
COMmpany’'s requirerments,

*» Quality standards and properties of the company’s products and products It has undergone qualification tests
from various agencies to ensure its quality and durability. In addition, all the products that the company has
produced and installed have outstanding features in terms of energy saving and quality that is recognized by
government agencies in Bangkok and other provinces,

« Have the ability to compete in price because the company can purchase important raw rmaterials directly from
the manufacturer and can also purchase other raw materials through affiliasted companies together with
proper cost control. As a result, the company has a production cost that allows it to be able to set a competitive
price with products from foreign manufacturers.

* Hawve sufficient raw materials and spare parts, due to the fact that the company has installed the company's
products for many government agencies. Most of which have a guarantee for installation work. Therefore,
there is sufficient availability of raw materials and spare parts reserves.

Target Custormers and Distribution Channels

Target Customers of Enterprise Sclutions Business Croup Will vary according to the nature of products and

services that cover all sectors from both government and private sectors such as

+ The Murse Call system has targeted customers, namely hospitals and hospitals of government and private
sectors across the country. that want to reinstall or to replace the ariginal nurse call system.

« Electronic tracking devices (EM Manitaring) for tracking agencies of the Ministry of Justice to use to monitor
the person's identity instead of arrest ar detention and can also apply the device in the same way to control
monitoring in the fishing vessel system.
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+ System for manufacturing and selling satellite vehicle tracking systerns (GPS Tracking) for target customers
and distribution channels. Focusing mainly on the transport operator market, but currently planning to use
the tracking systern to be in a variety of industries. This makes it able to support and meet the needs of
customers in varnous Dusiness groups.

»  The traffic signal systern is the government agency responsible for the installation of traffic lights which can be
divided into 5 main groups of customers according to the nature of the area of responsibility: Bangkok
Metropolitan Administration, Department of Highways, Department of Rural Roads, local organization and
customers from abroad,

+ Electronic water meter products, target custorners and distribution channels have been focusing on the
household market of the population in the country under the managerment of government agencies such as
the Metropolitan Electricity Authority (MEA], the Provincial Electricity Authority (PEA).

By distributing telecommunication equipment and electronic equipment, under the trademark "FORTH", the
company uses two distribution channels, namely, direct sales with direct sales tearmns separated into different
product lines who have the understanding of product characteristics and with the expertise in products
distributed with a policy to sell directly to large projects customers, In addition, products are also sold through
dealers (Dealer) who have experience in contacting various government agencies and have the ability to market
for the company. The company also has more than 150 dealers across the country where they are all having the

capability and basic knowledge,

Smart Services Business Group

The Smart Service Business Group is involved in providing services such as top-up systems, payment collection
systems, personal loans, electric vehicle (EV) charging systems, as well as offering beverages and preducts through
various types of vending machines, The vending machines used to provide and sell products in the Smart Service
group are currently researched and developed by the compary's own ressarch and developrnent team.

31 Top-up service business, accepting payments and complete financial transactions and electric vehicle charging
services under the operations of Forth Smart Service Public Company Limited.,

According to data from the Bank of Thailand, the volume of cash transactions continues to circulate in the
econormy, with the number of financial transactions conducted through electronic channels increasing. However,
it has been observed that the population in Thailand still uses cash as a medium for payment for goods and
senvices, in line with the growing amount of cash in the economy, which shows a continuous upward trend. This
indicates that cash is still widely used in Thailand, even though e-Payment is gaining popularity and experiencing
consistent growth.

In this context, the subsidiary company offers services that cater to a society still heavily reliant on cash while also
expanding its online services to align with the growth of the digital world. The company provides a wide range of
services across various industries that meet the needs of custormers. Additionally, the subsidiary offers other
products and services that help increase its competitive opportunities,

- For more details, please refer Lo the Annual Registration Statement (Form 56-1) of Forth Smart Service Public
Company Limited-

3.2 Selling fresh coffee and freshly brewed beverages through automatic machines under the brand "Tao Bin”

The overallmarket for non-alcoholic beverages in the country has been estimated to be worth more than 200 billion
baht, divided inte various types such as coffee, tea, milk, health drinks, etc. Currently, the nen-alcohelic beverage
market and the coffes market are growing according to consumer popularity combined with the lifestyles of today's
consumers who are more accustomed to using automatic kiosks. The company, therefore, developed a new type
of automatic kiosk which is an innovation that is different from general automatic kiosks because it can make fresh
coffee and automatic drinks under the brand "Tao Bin" also known as "Tao Bin" Robotic Barista, That will fill the gap
in the market for traditional freshly brewed beverages and meet the needs of all customer groups 24 hours a day
with a modern design that is easy to use and maintains the same delicious taste of each drink in every menu. As of
the end of 202 4, the subsidiary has more than 7,000 *Tao Bin" Robotic Barista cabinets. with over 65 million cups
sold.

Business strategy

Machinefkiosk for making fresh coffee and freshly brewed beverages automatically or "Tao Bin" Robatic Barista is
considered a new innavation in the automatic beverage vending machine industry since itis an automatic machine
that can make variocus types of drinks covering hot, cold, and blended drinks, freshly brewed glass by glass. The
company is the one who invented, developed, and produced this automatic machine and therefore is able to
continuously modify or develop the Tao Bin kiosk including being able to do all the maintenance itself

*  Various types of beverages such as fresh coffee, tea, milk, cocoa, iced tea, etc, with maore than 200 menus to
choose from (hot, cold, and blendead).

Good tasting drinks from the selection of quality ingredients and the standard taste in every glass.

Creating sales promotions/creating new menus.

Offering fresh brewed drink to maintain the best taste with sweetness selection service,

Cleaning the brew head with hot, high-pressure water after making each drink.

Focusing on delicious taste, convenience, cleanliness and safety.

Using a simple UX/J| and creating video graphics to convey information across the screen,

@ & @& & & @



« Managing online service with a system connected 1o a central server making it possible to monitor sales and
various systermns within the machine in real time with high precision accurate and fast.

+ Serving beverages 24 hours a day.

*  Supporting all forms of payment [cash and QR Code).

With a customer service call center 1220 that takes care of customers and helps solve varicus problems 24 hours

1223 Procurement of Products and Services
1. EMS Business Group
11 Contract manufacturing services for assembly of printed circuit boards and finished electronic products
(PCBA and Box-build] Procurement of key raw materials used in the manufacture and assembly of
telecommunicationcircuit boards and electronic Under the customer's brand, there are 2 methods: 1
the company is the supplier of all raw materials, This method of procurement of raw materials is applicable to
turnkey production and 2) the customer prepares and delivers raw materials to the company for production
which is a production to order [Consign Parts). To purchase raw materials for production in this line, the
Company considers from branding and distributors with 3 forms as follows:
1. Brands and distributors are assigned by the customer.
2.The brand is assigned by the custarmer. The company selects the distributor by the company.
3.The company selects brands and distributors for customers.

In case that the customer allows the company to supply raw materials. The company will select the brands and
suppliers of raw materials by considering the importance of the guality, price and trade conditions by purchasing
raw materials from the country and abroad both direct orders and through a subsidiary. The company may
consider ordering from the manufacturer of raw materials that the customer already uses in the customer's
products, and in the case that the customer is the supplier of raw materials, the company will receive
rawy materials from customers or from the manufacturer of raw materials in the amount that it is sufficient o
meet the needs of usage in the production and assembly of electronic companents, which the Company does
not have to proacure,

12 Procuring and distributing electronic parts and equipment by being appointed as an official distributor of
electronic parts and equipment in Thailand for many leading companies, both domestic and international
brands, the company has a pelicy to determine the minimum amount of inventory. For general customers, it
will be based on the history of raw material usage and estimated dermand for raw materials in the procurement
and distribution business of electronic parts and equipment. Details can be found in the table of raw materials
and sources,

2. Enterprise Solutions Business Group

Product sourcing or purchasing main raw materials such as electronic circuit boards, electronic parts, wires,
plastics and connectors, the company's purchasing department will select raw materials by taking into account
suitable prices and trade terrms, The raw materials of most products in this line of business are purchased
through domestic and international manufacturers and distributors including subsidiaries and does not have
a policy to rely on purchasing raw materials from any single manufacturer or supplier to be used in Each
objective of each project task and provide a full range of sendces from system installation, installation,
management, after sales service and maintenance of various systems. Inaddition, the Company is a distributar
of Kodiak brand private aircraft, including aircraft maintenance by procuring spare parts from abroad. Details
can be found in the table of raw materials and sources.

5. Smart Services Business Group

31 Business of providing top-up services, payment acceptance and integrated finance has procured the Boonterm
kiosk products from the company and various senvices on the kiosks from various service providers such as
mobile phone operators in Thailand, utility organization or a representative for various banks. The company
estimates the consumer's top-up demand based on the total daily top-up report from the company's system.
together with the remaining balance or credit received frem mobile phone service providers each day, in order
to be able to provide services to customers who come to do various transactions appropriately. In terms of
providing electric vehicle charging services, the procurement of products and services willbe purchased directly
from the Company.
- Maore details can be found in the Annual Registration Staterment (Form 56-1) of Forth Smart Service Public
Company Limited -

3.2 Business of providing automatic coffee and beverage vending machines [TACEIN Robotic Barista) has
procured automatic beverage vending machines from the Company and procuring raw materials for use as a
rmixture of beverages in the cabinet by selecting each type of raw materials of good quality from manufacturers
both domestic and international, such as 100% pure milk powder without creamer imported from New Zealand or
selecting 100% pure Arabica coffee beans from many guality plantations both from coffee farms in the country
and abroad, as well as in every step of the brewing process, Forth WVending Co., Ltd. has a tearn of award-winning
baristas with high expertise in making drinks to have a delicious, standardized taste, details can be found in the
table of raw materials and sources.
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Raw Materials and Sources

1. EMS Business Group

Agroup of electronic compenents made from
serruiconductars (Active device), such as diodes, 1Cs, and
transistors, etc.,

A group of electronic components that are not
rmanufactured from passive devices such as connectors
and capacitors.

PCB board, electronic components

Cable

Plastic, Steel

2. Enterprise Solutions Business Group

Elsctronic Componants

LED Light Bulb

Cammunication Equipment, Telecommunication Circuits
Electric meter, Water meter

CCTV and related eqguipment

Computer equipment

3. Smart Services Business Group

Airtirme (Mobile Prepaid)
Transfer and receive payments
Coffee beans

Milk

Raw materials for making beverages

Japan, USA, Korea, Hong Kong, Taiwan, China

Japan, USA Hong Kong, Taiwan, China, Thailand,
Australia

Thailand, Hong Kong, Malaysia, China, Taiwan, Japan,
Switzerland, Singapore, United States, Germany,
Philippines, Indonesia, lsrael

Thailard

Thailand, Ching

Thailand, Japan, United States
Thailand, Japan, United States
Thailland, China, Japan, United States
Thaland, China

Thailand

Thaland

The phone operator in Thailand
Commercial bank and government and private agencies
Manufacturers in Asia, Africa and Thailand

MNesw Zealand
Thailand

The company's production facilities have been certified with internaticnal standards such as 150 140012015
[Ervironmental management systems), which is the international standard for ervironmental management
systems |50 450012018, the international standard for occupational health and safety management systems, and
150 2001 : 2015 (Quality Management System) International standard for guality management system. From the 505
accreditation institute, it has been accradited by both UKAS Management System and NAC in order to operate in
cormpliance with ervironmental law.

In the past, the Company had no disputes or been sued for environmental impacts. And the company has always
renewed the factory license from the Department of Industrial Warks

Technical Assistance Contract

- None -

12.2.4 Project Work on progress as of December 312024

Agency Project Value (Million Baht) Contract Duration
L ministry of Agriculter and Cooperatives 1,106 2024 - 2025
2 Miinistry of Interior 1,028 2024 - 2025
3. Electric Authorities 523 2023 - 2027
4. Ministry of Justice 222 2024 - 2025
5. Mmnistry of Higher Education 135 2023 = 2025
6. Miristry of Defence or Royal Thai - 2023 — 2025

Armed Foroes



1225 Assets used in business

() Assets used in Business
As of December 31, 2024, the net book value is as follows;

Land and improvements Chwner 923569 Burden free

Buildings and improvermnents Cwner 694,180 Burden free

rMachines and tools Crmer 212 487 Burden froe

Vehicles Crvner 17,500 Burden free

Cffice equiprmernt and furnishings Crwvmer a0 887 Burden free

Assets under construction Crwner 1,509 Burden free
Tetal 3,840,132

12) Property Lease Agreement
As of December 31, 2024, the company and its subsidiaries have property lease agreements as follows:

Mame Type of Lease Term of Contract Total Value

Farth Corporation Ple Land lease with office building 2003 - 2033 50,020,000

Renting land, factory buildings and

Genius Traffic Systern Co., Ltd. e 2016 - 2026 16,530,737
et remie el . Rent office space for sale and . )
Electronic Source Co., Lid. commercial buildings 20010 - 2035 1,054,520
< F | |
Forth Smart Service Co,, Ltd, actoryEeiiding entaland office 2017 - 2026 55,596,000

buildings

(3] Intangible Asset Details
As of December 31, 2024, the company and its subsidiaries have significant intangible assets as follows:

1. The company has a trademark "FORTH" for products manufactured and sold under the company's brand.
However, the company does not measure and account for the company's intangible assets

2. Forth Smart Service Public Company Limited has the trademark "Boonterm” for the Boonterm top-up
machine. Howeaver, the subsidiary does not measure and record it as an intangible asset of the subsidiany.

Trademarks of the Company and its subsidiaries

! rati \
COwner Request Regist aFlon Cue date Tradernark image
nurmber number
1 Forth Corporation Plc, 190132064 2103027 2108/2572 F@RTH
2 Forth Corporation Plc, 552474 n2ie058 12/05/ 2567 1
=
3 Forth Corporation Ple, 950800 UE9948 30/10/2567 F@HTH

B L L LR

4 Farth Smart Service Plc. TS A308512 QIOIIIST m

5 Farth Smart Service Plc. 785629 A340965 271042573 :‘:

&  Forth Smart Service Ple, FB5630 A340966 27711072573 ‘_1.,;'.._;!,,.: 1
7 Forth Smart Service Ple., 785631 A340967 271002573 = 'I__! ;‘.,JL:? i
8  Forth Corporation Plc. 1045015 171103661 06/06/2569 FORTH
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Request

Registration

Cwvner Due date Trademark image
number number ;
2 Forth Corporation Flc, 200142986 2123065 22/MN/2573 'ﬁ
Thd DN
10 Forth Corporation Plc. 210111288 2219396 24/03/2574 I’
PO = WS E Sl
il Forth Corporation Ple, 22010809 23N01987 02/03/2575 ﬁ
ThD DN
12 Forth Corporation Ple. 230102494 23130076 19/01/2576 @
140 BIN
3 Forth Corporation Ple. 210145441 227223 13/12/2574 lﬂ”'ﬂ!‘m
14 Forth Corporation Ple. 210145442 22126751 1312/2574 Lﬁﬁm
15 Forth Corporation Plc. 230123295 241127439 29/06/2576 -@;
grmremr
1% Forth MRO Service Blc 2101287 231101788 24/03/2574 A
AFRO FORTH
17 Forth Lighting Ple. 220112040 23104781 /0342575 ARHUN
18  Forth Corparation Ple. 230104996 23IN32547 Q8/02/2576 A
GINKA
19 Forth Corporation Plc. 961653 7121080 Q6/NF 2577 F %RTH
L™
20 Forth Corparation Plc. 552476 A216060 12/05/2577 F@RT H
T TR T .
21 Forth Corporation Plc. 552475 A216059 1240542577 F.RTH
22  Forth Corpaoration Plc. 552477 n216061 1240542577 F@Rm

UTASTY e —




1.5 Corporate Structure

(5% ror enss

—

W% L Electronics Source Co., Lid

S

Joint Venture (IV)

= Genius IV

_.:w_i'_... Geniun Traffic System Co, Lid
_1':]-. Forth Lighting Co., Ltd

| 908 L Aero Forth Ca., Ltd
_'L'_'""J"T Forth MRO Services Co. Lid
— 34n 1 Forth Tracking System Co.. Lid

.-{ 1'-_|-+ Forth Deven Co, Ltd

L{ " | forth Global Mesh Co., Lid

Smart Services
Business Group

a0 Forth Smart Services PLC.
[ Forth Smant Capital Co. Ltd | = |
L4 R
Forth Smart Digital Co, Lid
| Forth Smarnt Distribution Co., Lidi| won |

| ForthSmant Sabuy Tech Co, Lid H s |
|

- snown 4 FORTH Vending Co, Lid =7
| wn }= Tao Bin Sdn Bhd

Flying Turtle Beverage
_'E" {Austr aia) Pty Lid

» Forth Genhes IV
& Forth and Yip Ini Tsoi IV
- Farths.;.rwyﬂ

Forth Corporation Public Company Limited group consists of subsidiaries and associated companies as fallows:

16 subsidiaries.

1.
2

A

12.
13

14,

6.

Electronics Source Co, Ltd. (ES) - Engages in sourcing and distributing electronic cormponents.

Genius Traffic System Co,, Ltd. (GTS) - Engages in sourcing, distributing, and installing integrated traffic signal
systerms, CCTV carmeras, and electronic signage,

Cenius Joint Venture Group (IVG) = Granted rights by the Bangkok Metropolitan Administration to construct,
maintain, and manage 125 advertising billboards,

Forth Smart Service Public Company Limited (FSMART) - Provides online and autornatic mobile top-up
services,

Forth Consulting Co,, Ltd. (FCON) - Provides consulting services for data management, system organization,
data entry, training, marketing planning, and distribution of computer software and related products.

Forth Lighting Co., Ltd. (FLT) - Engages in sourcing and distributing lighting equipment and electric bulbs.
Forth Meter Co., Ltd. (FMT) - Manufactures electronic power meters,

Forth Vending Co, Ltd. (FVD) - Provides freshly brewed coffee and beverages through automated online
vending machines (TAC BIN Robotic Barista).

Forth Smart Capital Co, Ltd. (FSC) - Provides microfinance and personal loans.

., Forth Smart Digital Co, Ltd. (FSD) = Operates as an e-commerce marketplace and supports the expansion of

related digital cornmerce businesses,

. Forth EMS Public Company Limited (FEMS) - Provides full-service manufacturing of electronic circuit boards

and telecommunications equipment under clients' brands.

Forth MRO Service Co, Ltd. [FMRO) - Provides aircraft maintenance services at Don Mueang Airport.

Forth Smart Distribution Co,, Ltd. (FSDT) - Sells products and services related to the "Boonterm” top-up kiosk
business.

Aero Forth Co, Ltd. {ARF} - Engages in aviation services and aircraft maintenance.

Forth Devons Co, Ltd. [FOV) - Participates in government project bidding.

Forth Global Mesh Co, Ltd. (FGM) [formerly known as TAIM Co, Ltd)) = Engages in government project bidding.
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T associated companies

1

2

tn

o

Forth Tracking System Co., Ltd. (*FTS") engages in the business of manufacturing vehicle-mounted satellite data
transmission equiprnent,

FPT Payment Technology 1SC (“FPT) cperates as a provider of automatic mokile top-up and online top-up
services in Vietnam

Forth Survey Joint Venture operates a contract for improving the information system along the administrative
boundary in the geospatial system.

Jaint Venture Forth and Yip in 5ol operates a business for the preparation of the Smart Metro Grid system.
TAO BIM Sdn. Bhd. operates a service business selling fresh coffee and freshily brewed beverages through a smart
vending machine (TAOBIN] in Malaysia

Flying Turtle Beverage operates a service business selling fresh coffee and freshily brewed beverages through a
smart vending machine (TAOBIN) in Australia.

FarthSmart Sabuy Tech Company Limited operates products selling and services through vending machines,

Rermark [1) Cessation of business aperalons,

Entities that own, directly and through, 10% or more of the total issued shares

distribution of traffic  Common 100%

system

Cenius Traffic Systrm Co, Ltd.

77 Moo 11 Phuttarmmonthon & Road,
Raikhing, Sampran,
Makornpathom 73210

Tel: 0-2811-7925 Fax: 02-811-7235
Electronics Source Co,, Ltd.

256, 5th Floor, and éth Floor
Phaholyyothin Road, Samsennai,
Phayathai, Bangkok 10400

Tel: 0-2062-4970 Fax:0-2082-4999
Genius Joint Venture

10531 Phaholyothin Road,
Phaya thai sub district,

Phaya thai district,

Bangkok 10400

Forth Smart Service Plc.

256 Phahclyyothin Road,
Samsennai, Phayathai,

Bangkok 10400

TelQ-2278-1777 Fax0-22793-7195
Forth Cosulting Co., Ltd.

105341 Phaholyothin Road,

Phaya thai sub district,

Phaya thai district,

Bangkok 10400

Tel:0-2265-6700, Fax0-2265-6799
Forth Lighting Co., Ltd.

2,000,000 1,999,994

Distribution of Common 499994 100%

electronic parts

500,000

Concession for traffic - - - 100%™

board project

Online top-up senvices Common
and automated
prepaid mobile phone

755141300 396,164,800

Ceased the operations Common 230,000 329998 1005

Manufacture and  Common 200,000 199996 100%

10531 Phaholyothin Road,

Phaya thai sub district,

Phaya thai district,

Bangkol 10400

Tel:0-2271-4888 Fax0-2271-3040-41
Forth Tracking System Ceo., Lid.
252 S.P.E. Tower Phaholyyothin
Road, Samsennai, Phayathai,
Bangkok 10400

Tel: 0-2615-0808 Fax: 0-2615-0809
Forth Meter Co, Ltd.

1053/1 Phahelyothin Road,

Phaya thai subs district,

Phaya thai district,

Bangkok 10400

Forth Vending Co., Ltd,

10531 Phahalyothin Road,

Phaya thai sulbs district,

Phaya thai district,

Bangkok 10400

distribution of lamps
and lighting
equipment

Distribution of Common

Electronic system

Ceased the operations Cormmaon

Management of
vending machine

300,000

4,000,000

Common 140,000,000

101,291

3399997

101849967

34%

B85%

1

72.75%
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Mindrmap Commitech Inc.

8th Floor, Salamin Building,

197 Salcedo, Legaspi Village,
Makati City, Metro Manila,
Philippines

FPT Fayrment Technology 1SC

FPT Tan Thuan Building - 2nd
Floor. 298 - 318 - 33B, Tan Thuan
Street, Tan Thuan Export
Processing Zone, Tan Thuan Dong
Ward, Dist.7, HCM City, Viet Nam
Forth Smart Capital Co., Ltd.

256 Phaholyyothin Road,
Samsennai, Phayathai,

Bangkok 10400

Tel: 0-2278-1777 Fax: 0-2279-7195
Qdin Power Co, Ltd.

3333 Moo 6 Bangpreang Bangbor,
Samutprakarn 10560

Forth Smart digital Co., Ltd.

256 Phaholyyothin Road,
Samsennai, Phayathai,

Bangkok 10400

Forth Smart Distribution Co, Ltd.
256 Phaholyyothin Road,
Samsennai, Phayathai,

Bangkok 10400

Forth EMS Plc.

77 Moo 11 Phutthamonthaon Sai 5
Road, Rai Khing Subdistrict, Sarm
Phran District, Nakhorn Prathom
73210

Forth Survey Joint Venture
105341 Phaholyothin Road,
Phaya thai sub district,
Phaya thai district,
Bangkok 10400

Forth and Yip In Tsoi Joint Venture
105311 Phaholyothin Road,
Phaya thai sub district,
Phaya thai district,

Bangkok 10400

Forth MRO Services Co,, Ltd.
10531 Phaholyothin Road,
Phaya thai sub district,
Phaya thai district,
Bangkok 10400

AERD Forth Ca, Ltd.

10531 Phaholyothin Road,
Phaya thai sub district,
Phaya thai district,

Bangkok 10400

21 Forth Global Mesh Co., Ltd.

22

10531 Phaholyothin Road,
Phaya thai sub district,
Phaya thai district,
Bangkok 10400

Forth Devons Co, Ltd.
10531 Phaholyothin Road,
Phaya thai sulb district,
Phaya thai district,
Bangkok 10400

Ceased the operations Common

Ceased the operations Cormmon

Selling products and Common
services relating to
Boontrem kiosk

Investment in Cormmeon
renewable energy
powver plant
companies
Selling products and Common
operate as an onling

platform

Selling eqguipment and Common
products related to the
Boonterm kiosk and
other product
distribution
The production of
circuit board and
electronic and
telecommunication
equipment under the
customer's brand

Contracting to -
improve the district
information system in
geographic
information sytem
Smart Metro Grid -
system

Common

Aircraft Hangar and Common
Aircraft Maintenance
at Don Mueang
Airport

aircraft service and Common
aircraft maintenance

Bidding for
Government work

Cormmon

Telecommunication Common
equipmeant installation
service and bidding for
government projects

150,000

4,200,000

30,000,000

4,000,000

10,000,000

20,000,000

800,000,00
0

5,400,000

1,650,000

100,000

500,000

150,000

1260,000

29,997,000

400,000

9,999,998

12,994,000

699,999,380

3905261

1,649,997

50997

374,999

100%

30%

100%

10%

1009

100% &

8750%

pre
~

uny

=0%

100%

T5%
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T

Nark (1) 20% hiakd by Forth and B

Ferth Cenuis Joint Venture
10531 Phaholyothin Road,
Phaya thai sub district,
Fhaya thai district,
Bangkok 10400
ForthSmart Sabuy Tech Co., Ltd selling a can of drinks
256 Phaheolyyothin Road, through a vending
Samsennai, Phayathai, machine
Bangkok 10400

Tag Bin Sdn. Bhd,

42.3, Block G, Jalan PIU 1/37, Dataran
Prima, <7301 Petaling Jaya, Sela
Malaysia

Ceased the operations

selling fresh Brew drinks
through the smart
ngor, vending machine

Flying Turtle Beverage [Australia) Py selling fresh Brew drinks
Lta through a vending
Cf- Mann Judd [VIC) Py Ltd, Level 9, 550, machine

Bowurke street, Melbourne
WIC 3000, Australia

s hedd Dy Cenius Trallic Sysiem Co | Lid
pand 26, 715 gl

(2) 46.04% hield Ly the co
(3) 100% held by Forth Smart Services Flc

(4) 100% held by Forlh Smart Capital Co. Ltd
(5) 100% Fel
(6) 95% held by Forth and 5% held by Genius Trathic System Co, Ltd
{7) 50% held by Forth Smart Services Flc

by 1M Srmart Services Plc

awiny

awiny

anloy

Farth Smmart Services Pic

100,000

10,000,000

100

50,000

1,000,000

10

105

S0%T

0%

10%

1.3.2 Persons who may have conflicts of interest hold shares in subsidiaries or

associated company more than 10%

Mone

1.3.3 Relationship with major shareholder's business group

- None -



1.3.4 Shareholders

1.3.4.1 List to major shareholders
TOP 10 Shareholder of the Company

1 Amatanon family 514,784,700 55.04%

Mr, Pongchai Amatanon 264744400
Mr, Kaelic Amatanon 57,924,000
Mrs. Rangsee Lettripinyo 30,235,500
Mrs. Wantana Amatanon 24 089600
Mr. Chawin Lettripinyo 5000,000
Mr, Pattanun Amatanon 1,120,000
Ms, Watanya Amatanon 1,050,000
Ms, Rasinee Lettripinyo 530,000
Ms, Thitaporn Amatanon 50,000
Mr. Autsila Amatanon 32,000
Ms. Pichamon Jarupanawet 8,200
2  Thongtang family 61,238,100 6.55%
Ms, Vi-orn Thongtang 17,350,850
Mr. Attikbhun Thongtang 17,350,850
Mr, Att Thongtang 13,945,450
Mr. Itti Thongtang 12,590,950
3 Siripongpreeda family 34,831,900 372%
Mr. Poonsak Siripongpreeda 32,431200
Mr. Somruek Siripongpreeda 2,400,000
4 Ninnoennon farmily 26,660,898 2.85%
Mr. Boonyong Ninneennon 20370598
Mz, Boonyanit Ninnoennon 6,290,300
5 Thai NVDR Cormpany Limited 25772618 25772618 276%
& Mrs. Matinee Wandeepirom 24,750,400 24,750,400 2.65%
7 Tantipanichapun family 23231400 2.56%
Mrs. Vipawan Tantipanichapun 12,550,000
Mr. Boonya Tantipanichapun 11,361,400
Ms, Sakuntala Tantipanichapun 20,000
8  Mr. Supat Phongratanakul 21)72,300 21,172,300 2.26%

SOUTH EAST ASIA UK (TYPE C)

9 NOMINEESLIMITED 14,193,029 14,195,029 1.52%
10 Mre Tharinee Senchantichai 12,543,100 12 543100 1.54%
n Others 183287 455 19.60%

1.3.4.2 Shareholders’ agreement
- None -



13.43 Report on Changes in Shareholding of the Company by Directors and Senior

Executives

Position

Number of Shares (Shares)

Increase

28 DEC 2023

30 DEC 2024

(Decrease)

1 Mr. Sanit Viarapunya Chaiman of BOD - - -
Independent Director
Spouse and Minor Children - - -
2 Mr. Sakda Sreesangkom Cirector - - -
Independent Director
Chaiman of Audit
Committee
Chaiman of Nomination and
Remuneration Committee
Spouse and Minor Children - - -
3 Mrs. Wilasines Puddhikarant Director - N -
Independent Director
Audit Committee
Momination and
Remuneration Committee
Spouse and Minor Children - - -
4 Mrs. Porntip Lettanongsak DCirector - - -
Independent Director
Audit Committes
Chaiman of Risk
Managerment Committes
Spouse and Minor Children - - -
5 Mr. Pongchai Amatanon Cirector 366,744,400 366,744,400 -
Chaiman of Executive
Committee
Risk Management
Committes
Spouse and Minar Children 34,089,600 34,089,600 -
& Ms. Pichamon Jarupanawet Director 8,200 8,200 -
Executive Committee
Risk Management
Committee
Momination and
Remuneration Commitlee
Spause and Minar Children 1,120,000 1,120,000 -
7 Mr, Kaalic Amatanon Director 57,924,000 57,924,000 -
Spause and Minor Children - - -
8 Mrs. Matines Wandeepiram Cirector 24,750 400 24,750,400 -
Morminaticn and
Remuneration Committes
Spouse and Minor Children - - -
Cirector 11,361,400 11,361,400 -
Executive Committes
9 Mr. Boonya Tantipanichapun :Eilur:?pﬁf Audit
Excutive Committee Risk
Management Committee
Spouse and Minaor Children 12,570,000 12,590,000 20,000
10 Ms. Nopparat Siripongpresada Directar - - -
Spause and Minor Children - - -
. Chief Business 1,120,000 1,120,000 -
n Mr. Pattanun Amatanon Cevelopment Oifficer
Spouse and Minar Children 8,200 8,200 -
mr Arin Jamnares Corporate Secretary
12 : -
Wi of Finance
Spouse and Minor Children - - -




1.4 Number of registered capital and paid-up capital

As of December 31, 2024, the company has registered capital and paid-up capital of 487,687 350 baht, divided into
935,374,700 common shares with a par value of 0.5 baht.

1.5 Issuance of other securities

- Mone -

1.6 Dividend Payment Policy
Company Policy

According to the separate financial staternents, the Company has a policy to pay dividends of not less than 40% of
net profit after corporate income tax and accumulated losses (if any). 1t depends on the performance, financial
position, liquidity, and the need to expand operations, including the use of working capital for business
management.

The Company's dividend for 5 years

0.06 086 Q53 040 0.43

Met profit per share (Baht/share)®

Dividend rate per share (Baht/share) Q15 047 052 0.45 0.32
Dividend payout ratio per net profit (%) 250 55 a8 13 74
Mote: "} Separate financial statements

Subsidiaries Policy

Forth Smart Service Public Company Limited ("FSMART") has a policy to pay dividends of not less than 40% of net
profit after deduction of incometax and all types of reserves asspeacified in the Articles of Association of the Company
and as required by law if there is no other necessity and the dividend payment does not significantly affect the
normal operations of the subsidiaries,

FORTH EMS Public Company Limited ["FEMS") has a policy to pay dividends of not less than 40 percentage from
the net profits after deducting various reserves, corporate income tax and accumulated losses (if any) according to
the separate financial staterments, and abligations under the terms of the loan agreement (if any) and the payment
of dividends does not significantly affect the normal operations of the subsidiary.

Other subsidiaries have a policy to pay dividends at the rate of not less than 20% of net profit after corporate income
tax according to the subsidiaries' financial statements, depending on investment plans, other necessities, and
suitability in the future.
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1.6 Dividend Payment Policy
Company Policy

According to the separate financial staterments, the Company has a policy to pay dividends of not less than 40% of
ret profit after corporate income tax and accumulated losses (if any). 1t depends on the performance, financial
position, liquidity, and the need to expand operations, including the use of working capital for business
management.

The Company's dividend for 5 years
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Dividend rate per share (Baht/share) Q.15 047 052 045 032
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Subsidiaries Policy

Forth Smart Service Public Company Limited ("FSMART") has a policy to pay dividends of not less than 40% of net
profit after deduction of income tax and all types of reserves as specified in the Articles of Associationof the Company
and as required by law If there is no other necessity and the dividend payment does not significantly affect the
narmal operations of the subsidiaries.

FORTH EMS Public Company Limited ["FEMS"] has a policy to pay dividends of not less than 40 percentage from
the net profits after deducting various reserves, corporate income tax and accumulated losses (if any) according to
the separate financial staterments, and cbligations under the terms of the loan agreement [if any) and the payment
of dividends does not significantly affect the normal operations of the subsidiary.

Other subsidiaries have a policy to pay dividends at the rate of not less than 20% of net profit after corporate income
tax according to the subsidiaries' financial statements, depending on investment plans, other necessities, and

suitability in the future.



2 Risk Management
21 Risk Management Policy and Plan

The Company recognizes and pricritizes effective risk management as a crucial factor for its
sustainability, by creating confidence in achieving objectives amidst changes in the business
environment, addresses the needs of all stakeholder groups in a balanced manner, protects against
potential losses from uncertainties, and identifies opportunities to enhance business value. Risk
management is considered a vital component of every business operation process, necessitating
integration across all levels to optimize the efficiency of overall risk management. The Fort Group has the
following risk management policies and approaches:

1. Risk management as a shared responsibility: Risk management is a shared responsibility across all
departments to enhance the organization's risk management capabilities, enabling thern to define strategies
and measures to reduce the impact of risks and ensure business continuity management.

2. Processes, strategies, and measures aligned with international standards: The company establishes risk
management processes, strategies, and measures according to good standards and quality, consistent with
global best practices. This includes: 1) Risk identification 2) Risk management 3) Monitoring and review
4] Continucus communication on risks throughout the company, covering various areas such as strategic risk,
operational risk, financial risk, regulatory and legal compliance risk, and other types of risks.

A Risk assessment processes and resources The company establishes systems and processes for risk
assessment, along with the necessary resources to mitigate risks and track the implementation of the risk
management guidelines tailored to the company’s business operations.

4. Acceptable risklevels: The company sets acceptable risk levels that could impact the achievernent of corporate
objectives and defines the scope of the company's readiness to accept deviations from the predetermined
acceptable risk levels,

5 Reporting severe risks: Risks exceeding the severity thresholds and impacting the business and strategic plans
must be reported to the Risk Management Committee and the Board of Directors.

6. Review of risk management policies. The company regularly reviews its risk management policies and
processes to ensure their effectiveness, and aligns thermn with the current and future business environment
and company culture.

2.2 Risk Factors for the Company’s Business Operation
221 Operational risk.

Risk from reliance on major manufacturers

The EMS business group, specifically the manufacturing plants receiving orders from a major custarmer wheo
moved their production base to Thailand, faces risks, If the major customer encounters problerms that préevent
them from continuing their operations, or if the custormer cancels orders, it could significantly impact the
company's overall revenue. However, the company is aware of this volatility and has mitigated the risk by
diversifying its customer base, both domestically and internationally. Additionally, the company has developed
strateqgies to expand its customer base, particularly targeting internaticnal customers in the electronics [loT),
medical equipment, and automotive industries. The company is also enhancing its offerings by providing
consulting services and integrated production planning for specialized clients looking to create new electronic
preducts. This approach aims to reduce reliance on major customers and mitigate associated risks.

Risk from changes in production technology

Rapid technological changes require the electronics manufacturing and assembly business Lo adapt, especially with
the emergence of new technologies that may disrupt existing processes (Technology Disruption). These disruptions
affect both manufacturing processes and the continuaus evolution of products. If the company fails to prepare for
technological changes or develop procassas that maintain the ability to produce high-quality products meeting
international standards and customer demands, it may lose its competitive edge and miss future business
opportunities.

To address thisrisk, the company invests in developing its workforce to handle technological changes and has plans
to improve and expand production capacity. This includes installing new, high-efficiency machinery to enhance
preduction lines, making them more efficient and flexible to meet customer demands, The company is confident
that these efforts will allow it to manage technelogical changes effectively, respond to diverse customer needs, and
seize increasing business opportunities in the future,

Risk from product obsolescence

The production and sale of electronics and telecommunications products are subject to constant technological
changes. To prevent the company and its subsidiaries from holding excessive inventory that may become obsolete
and incur high management costs, regular reviews of inventory provisions for obsolete products are conducted to
ensure they reflect the most accurate and realistic estimates.

55



56

The company and its subsidiaries hawve a policy in place to manage inventory levels and avoid long-term stockpiling.
This includes regular meetings with relevant departments such as production, sales, and research to find solutions
for inventory management. Additionally, the company utilizes information systems for production planning, sales
farecasting, and inventory control to optimize product flow and minimize the risk of obsolescence.

Risk from changes in government policies

The Enterprise Solutions business group is invalved in bidding for government projects, which require budget
approval from the government. Therefare, any changes in government policies related to these projects could have
both positive and negative impacts on the company’s business opportunities. However, the company closely
monitors and assesses the situation, and has diversified its risks by expanding into the EMS business and online top-
up services. This strategy helps to reduce revenue and profit fluctuations caused by potential changes in
government policies.

Risk relating to project delivery.

In the operation of the project business by the Company and its subsidiaries within the Enterprise
Business Group, the project durations usually range from 3 months to 1 year, varying with the project's
scope. Upon maturity, if the Company fails to implement and deliver work, the Company and its
subsidiaries may lose credibility or incur fines imposed by project owners as stipulated in the contract.
These fines could reduce the profit margin of each project. However, the Company and its subsidiaries
have implemented a strict management policy for each project, ensuring meticulous and careful
planning. Over the past 3 years, the fines paid for project management issues have amounted to less

than 0.05% of the total project value. To further mitigate such risks, the Company and its subsidiaries
maintain ongoing communication and coordination with customers and manufacturing entities to
promptly address any arising issues.

Risk from technological changes affecting consumer behavior

In the business of providing mobile phone top-up services, money transfer services, and payment collection services
by the subsidiaries in the Smart Services business group, there is a dependence on technology for service delivery
through automated kiosks, With the advent of new technolagies, consumer behavior may shift, leading to a
decrease in the use of these kiosks as consumers may prefer to conduct mobile top-up transactions or make
payments through mobile banking. This could reduce the popularity of the kiosks compared to previous years.
However, the subsidiary has diversified its service offerings beyond just mobile top-up Kiosks and payment collection
points by adding new channels such as cashier counters and applications for corporate customers. These efforts
provide a comprehensive service platform. Additionally, the subsidiary has expanded into the lending business,
which helps mitigate the risk of changes in consumer behavior toward the use of top-up kiosks and enhances the
overall business resilience.

Risk from management reliance on senior executives or major shareholders

Mr. Pongchal Amatanon, the founder of the company and the current CEOQ, has extensive experience inthe business
and plays a key role in defining the company's policies, direction, and marketing strategy. Therefore, any changes in
this leadership could potentially create challenges for the company’s future operations,

To mitigate this risk and decentralize management authaority, the company has established an organizational
structure with qualified and experienced board members and executives. It encourages greater involvement of
middle management in decision-rmaking and direction-setting for the company. The company also decentralizes
management across its subsidiaries and joint ventures, clearly defining roles, responsibilities, and authority within
various departments. Each subsidiary has decision-making power within the defined scope of its responsibilities.
Furthermaore, the company hasimplemented a succession planning strategy and career development pathways to
ensure smooth leadership transitions and reduce reliance on any single individual or major sharehelder for the
company's long-term stability and growth.

Financial risk

Risk from the liquidity of distribution to the public sector

In the Enterprise Solutions Business, the primary customer base consists mainly of government
agencies, which typically have longer payment terms compared to the private sector. The average
collection period from these customers is around 6 0 days. Conseguently, the Company and its
subsidiaries must maintain an effective liguidity management system to support projects targeting
this specific custormer group. Given their experience and expertise in handling government projects,
the Company and its subsidiaries possess the necessary knowledge and skills in liquidity management.
To accommaodate the extended cash flow cycles associated with government customers and others
with lengthy credit terms, they maintain a sufficient level of working capital. Moreover, the Company
and its subsidiaries have secured adeguate credit lines from commercial banks and possess the ability
to obtain additional financing, ensuring robust liguidity management over the long term.

Risk from the fluctuation of foreign exchange rate

The business aperations of the Forth Companies Group primarily involve importing raw materials and
selling products internationally in USD currency. Thus, the Company may subject to risks associated
with exchange rate fluctuations, which could impact its operations if not adeguately mitigated or
controlled, potentially affecting its financial position and performance. To address this, the Company
has developed a policy to manage exchange rate risk through revenue and expenditure management
in the same foreign currency, also known as a Natural Hedge. This strategy is feasible as the Company
and its subsidiaries generally have a higher total net export amount than impaorts in foreign currency.




However, a depreciation of the Thai Baht against the USD will increase the Company’s costs, while an
appreciation of the Thai Baht against the USD will reduce the Company's revenue when converted into
Thai Baht.
Emerging Risk
Cybersecurity Threats
To manage the security of information from cyber threats, the Fort Group has implermented network protection
devices and continuously updates them to prevent attacks on the company's critical data. The company also installs
antivirus programs to protect against damage to its computer systems and sets up backup systems to safeguard
data in case the primary storage or operational systems are damaged and cannot be restored, Additionally, the
cormpany has contracted with a supplier of computer equipment and software to maintain and manage the systern,
ensuring that the company’s data and IT infrastructure remain secure from potential cyber threats,

: f .
Climate change is a sustainability (ESG) risk due to increasing concerns about more severe climate
fluctuations, leading to global agreements to address climate issues. This may result in stricter legal
requirerments or regulations to control the greenhouse gas emissions of producers, such as the
potential implernentation of carbon pricing mechanisms (Carbon Pricing Instrument: CPI).
However, transitioning the business to comply with more stringent regulations may lead to increased
compliance costs and investment expenditures. To address this, the company has assigned responsible
parties to study relevant regulations and standards and communicate with stakeholders to ensure
alignmentwith these laws and requirements. In the past year, the company began preparing a carbon
accounting report following 150 14064 -1 standards and conducted a carbon footprint assessment,

starting with the subsidiaries in the EMS business group,

2.2.2 Investment Risks of Securities Holders

Risk from a shareholder group, which held of more than 50% of the Company's share

capital.
As of 30 December 2024, the Amatanon Family held a 55.04% share in the Company, which exceeds
half of the total number of the Company's paid-up ordinary shares. Conseguently, this shareholder
group has the capacity to control nearly all resolutions at the Shareholders' Meeting, including the
appointment of directors or other resolutions that require a majority vote of the Shareholders'
Meeting. This control extends to all matters except those specified by laws or Company regulations
that reguire a 3/4 majority vate at the Shareholders' Meeting. Therefore, it may be challenging for
other sharecholders to consolidate votes to counterbalance proposals made by the major
shareholders.

223 Investment Risks Foreign Securities
- Mone -

Investors can access information on the risk factors associated with Forth Smart Service Public Company
Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, by reviewing the Annual Registration Statement/Annual Report [Form
56-1 One Report) of Forth Smart Service Public Company Limited.
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3.1 Sustainability Policy and Goal

The commitment to sustainability forms a crucial foundation for the stable growth of the Croup of
Forth Companies. Consequently, the Company focuses on business operations that generate positive
changes for stakehalders across all sectors, ensuring that its activities align with the Company's
Corporate Governance Code and are cansistent with the sustainability strategies that can be
implemented.

Sustainability Policy

The Company has a policy related to sustainable developrment as the guideline for business operation
under the principle of corporate governance by realizing the benefits of stakeholders in every
dimension, such as environmental dimension, social dimension, and economic dimension, under good
corporate governance according to international standards and Sustainable Development Goals
(SDCs) of the United Mations Organization. In addition, the Company gives importance to sustainable
business development and participative growth to be part of upgrading the quality of life while
creating sustainable value for people in the communities and society.

Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs)

[ T i CLLb Wit d
A WL ' il L P

Structure and Approach to Sustainability Management of the Company

The company has established a sustainability managerment policy to serve as a framework for the organization's
sustainability efforts in achieving goals across all dimensions. The policy also promaotes raising awareness of
sustainability among stakeholders throughout the company's value chain. The Risk Management, Corporate
Governance, and Sustainable Development Committee is responsible for overseeing and approving strategic
plans and action plans related to risk management and ESG development, ensuring alignment with national and
international sustainakility management standards. The committes also drives the operations of relevant
departments o support the execution of sustainability strategies and reports the progress of sustainability efforts
to the board of directors,

Sustainability Management Strategy

The company is committed to being a technology company that operates with sustainable growth, taking into
account the benefits of stakeholders in all dimensions, The United Nations Sustainable Developrment Coals (SDCs)
serve as one of the key frameworks referenced in formulating the organization's strategic direction. The company
has outlined operational approaches to enhance and drive the achievernent of goals across three dimensions
following the ESC (Environment, Social, and Covernance) guidelines as follows:



al Dimension

Aim for ervironmental care, natural resource conservation, appreciated
resource consumption, such as reduction of recycling, and reuse for
12 o 13 o waorthwhile resource consumption and maximum benefit from the design,
v - development of products, manufacture of products, transportation, and
sales, until the use of products by the customers. All of them are related to
energy consumption, water consumption, the creation of waste products
and polluticn, and the emission of greenhouse gasas to sustainably balance
ECOsystems.
Goal: To deliver a positive and high-quality experience throughout the entire
supply chain.

Non-discrimnination and ensuring equal opportunities for all groups, including
promeoting employment among  local, underprivileged, persons  with
disabilities, and vulnerable groups, regardless of race, skin color, religion, age,

St e gender, sexual orientation, educational background, or political views, and

dad i bl ke adhering to human rights principles throughout the business value chain,
protect the labor rights, safety, and health, while fostering a positive waork
environment, and continuously mManage and develop the personnel at the
sarme time, provide the appropriate welfare to create value and upgrade the
quality of life of the communities and society for sustainable growth.

Goal To create a better society and guality of life towards sustainability.

Take into account the Corporate Governance Code, Code of Business
Conduct, relevant laws, and requirements, with a strong focus on anti-

e s T corruption, fair trade competition, and the management of risks related to
e | sustainability and business continuity throughout the supply chain to
& CO maintain competitiveness, build business reliability, and showcase the

potential for creating long-term sustainable returns.
Goal: To create sustainable business and economic growth,

usenladmstiensaulanemsuimissomsanugeduludmsufudnoneoodns ToedmsmmuaithruieuaAAnmemsauduoiy
dwanudoduoodns Wausmsdamsdiudousndou doAU uaussiniiuna wa:usunlddmsdoarsdoyadiuniudoduliu
yanameuanuameliuaedns ToadmsiDome ulounedunoiudedy sanmsduduoudunsudodu ulouramsmiiuguaioms
wasfisnssudiunugodudio a wWiusieouls:dd (56-1 One Report ua: Structured Data) nasSulsddnasnuduwusuoo
usUN ivaltRdidsuldidennmaduansohdodoyadiunoiudoiiuldachedaidoona:nsudou uanond usdnldiwmualRizon
vavnwdodullundoiuiadovaomsdgutinawdnoiulng soulldousinidioous:yUsadudiuaniudoduiu Supplier
Agreement Contact &MSumsrigsiorugAt iWosouiuWandumsigsnoivoAUgvaU uaswWumstinauaiayadiuninu
gufiuriu Corporate Presentation lunmisdsssuwulsfudnaonu anasasudoonivoauladuaouivn iwanauduavtioniiu
makdovavrddsuldidunnngu

32 Management of impacts on stakeholders in the business value chain

The Company prioritizes sustainable management practices across the entire business value chain, from
upstream to downstream, ensuring that the cperations of the Group of Forth Companies are conducted in a
manner that fosters sustainable business growth. The Company has analyzed and assessed the business
operation process impacts on the value chain, assessed the expectation of the stakeholders both inside and
outside the organization to recognize the expectations of stakehclders in every sector, and screened the
significant issues to cover in all aspects for hedging risks and mitigating the impact that may interrupt the
business, as well as develop the relationship and strengthen shared value in value chain, do the social activities
that are useful for society and stakeholders.
321 The Company's Business YWalue Chain
The company priaritizes the development of high-quality products and services, focusing on meeting the needs
of stakeholders throughout the entire value chain, This includes ensuring safety and ervironmental friendliness,
both directly and indirectly. The geal is to enhance crganizational management efficiency, encourage employes
participation, and provide job security, ultimately maximizing benefits for development and creating value for
the arganization. Additionally, the company aims to continuously develop innovative and modern technologies.
The value chain of the group is as follows:
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Conduct research, development and design of
products and services that  create benefits and
valses for the Company theowgh Ffair and
transpanent  procurement process according to
It &l rubes  and rH}.JI.:lIi::rn_ as well A
provision of close advices and counsels i

business operation for mutual sustainable qcmlh

1 Research,
dievelopment and
dusign of products

and services

- § .*."f‘
S0 "

Stakeholder

correspands Lo

.
-

;ﬁ" .

Alpgrada of axpariences

thraugh technology and

after sales service

Upgrade experiences through technology that
technological  change  and
meets the needs of the target group, and after
sales service at wel as retention of personal
data of the service users for security.

2 Manufacture and
assembly of elactronic
producisftechnclogy

3. Defvery and distribution
of products and services

322 Analysis of Stakeholders in The Business Value Chain

Provide advices and mutually develop along
the manulacturing process together  with

customers by taking into account quality and

procedure, enhance convenience and rapidity
through system development, and focus the
manufacturing standards according to the

1

1

1

1

]

|

i

i

i

i

efficiency of every product manufacturing !
|

i

|

i

i

international standards. !
|

Timely fulfil needs and emphasize good and
efficient  delivery, distribute products and !
=arvices equipped with integrated management

Sysbem
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Guidelines for Participation and
Communication

Stakeholders in the Business Value Chain

Share

Interest and Expectation Issues

The Company’s Response

= The Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders

+ The Stock Exchange of Thailand's
Opportunity Day Activity for the
listed companies to meet the
investors, and factorny visit

=« Contacting the Company via
telephone, E-mail, and website

« Annual Report

= Quarterly Performance Report

» Disclosing the information through
the arganizational communication
channels

Guidelines for Participation and
Communication

« Cood turnover and sustainable
growth of the Company

+ Regular communication and
information provision of the
Company

+« Cood Corporate Covernance

= Ayaility of the risk
management systermn

+ Availability of good audit and
control system

Interest and Expectation Issues

* Holding the Annual General
Meeting of Shareholders

Participating inthe SET's
Opportunity Day Activity for the
listed companies to meet the
investors and organizing the
factony visit

Disclosing the correct,
complete, and timehy
information via the website and
Annual Report

Determining Investor Relations
to reply to queries and provide
the correct and complete

information in the investrment
aspect

The Company’'s Response

s Performance assessment

* Hearing the employee’s
complaints and cpinions

« Communication via channels

+ Paying remuneration and
having good welfare

« Coodworking environment
« Equality and fairness

= Stability and career growth

Customer

+« Promating and developing  the
employes's potential

+ Paying the appropriate and fair
remuneration

+ Fairly assessing the performance

« Egually respecting hurman rights
and treating




Stakeholders in the Business Value Chain

Guidelines for Participation and
Communication

Interest and Expectation Issues

The Company’s Response

+ Hearing customer opinions,
suggestions, and complaints
through various channels.

s Jointly organizing activities

Guidelines for Participation and
Communication

+ Quality products and services

* Responsible for products and
services

+« Complying with the
agreements and conditions of
the contract

= Quickly receiving the
assistance

* Participating in the
Company's activities

+» Creating geood relationship
between customers and the
Company

Business Partner

Interest and Expectation |ssues

+ Selling quality products and
SErvices

s Treating customers under the
determined contracts,
agreements, and conditions

s Rapidly and efficiently
providing product and service
information, hearing, and
solving problems for the
CUSTOMErs

The Company’s Response

s Visiting the factory
+ Holding joint meetings

Guidelines for Participation and
Communication

s Operating the business with
fairness and business ethics

« Developing collaboration in
jointly doing business

Government Agency

Interest and Expectation Issues

s Treating the business partner

under the determined
agreernents and conditions of
the contract

e Developing and maintaining

sustainable relationships with
business partners and contractual
parties

The Company’s Response

» Contacting the Company via letter
and E-mail

Guidelines for Participation and
Communication

» Complying with the determined
agreements and conditions of the
contract

Competitors

Interest and Expectation Issues

« Complying with the contracts,

laws, rules and regulations, and
practical measures of the
government agencies

The Company’s Response

+ Holding joint meetings

Guidelines for Participation and
Communication

s Complying with the good
competition framework
without distortion or
slandering each other

Creditor

Interest and Expectation
Issues

s Complying with the business

competition policy under a
good competition framewaork

The Company's Response

. Holding joint meetings

e« Contacting the Company
via letter and E-mail

» Repaying under the contract

= Cooperating upon reguest of
the additional information

Comrmunity and Society

« Cooperating  with

o Strictly complying with the

terms of the loan contract
financial
institutions in the disclosure of
the appropriate financial
report
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Stakeholders in the Business Value Chain

Interest and Expectation Issues The Company's Response Interest and Expectation Issues

+ Organizing the community relations | « Being taken care when affected | » Being certified according to the
activities through volunteer by the Comipany’s operation international standards.
projects, meetings and

= Supporting the public benefit
activities for communities and
society

discussions, and communication
via various channels

3.3 Sustainability Management in the Environmental Dimension

Ervironmental policy and praclice

The Company has developed a policy and practices for environmental care to ensure compliance with relevant laws,
regulations, and standards. These efforts aim at environmental preservation, pollution reduction affecting
ecosysterns and communities, and efficient resource consumption stemming from the Company's operations.
Furthermore,

the Company actively promotes the cultivation of new behaviors among all employees to align with its
environmental policy. This includes measures such as setting air conditioners to appropriate temperatures, turning
off air conditioners and lights during lunch breaks, transitioning to LED lighting throughout the office, using lights
only where needed, encouraging the use of stairs over elevators, and reusing single-sided paper to maximize its
utility. Additionally, the Company organizes ongoing training on environmental measures and efficient resource use
te enhance employees’ knowledge and understanding to foster an awareness of social responsibility among
employaes,

Environmental Performance
Resource and Energy Management
The group of companies recognizes the importance of using energy efficiently and sustainably. We are committed
e implemesnting various measures to improve energy efficiency, reduce environmental impacts, and promaote the
use of renewable energy. These efforts align with international environmental policies and the organization's
sustainable development goals. The group continuously campaigns within the organization to raise awareness
among employees about the importance of using resources and energy efficiently, including the use of ail,
electricity, and water. The company communicates through internal email channels to ensure employees
understand the significance of these issues and shares best practices as examples for employees to apply in their
daily lives.
r-urtyhermore, the company has received strong cooperation from employees warking in the office, such as turning
off electrical devices when not in use. For example, switching off lights in unused areas, turning off electrical devices
and the office during lunch breaks, and adjusting air conditioner temperatures to appropriate levels. Employees are
also encouraged to report any equipment malfunctions.
In addition, the Facilities and Building Management department conducts annual air conditioner cleaning and
regularly inspects water leaks. If any leaks or malfunctions are found, they are promptly addressed. These practices
help reduce negative impacts on the planet, which in turn affect individuals, livelinoods, the economy, and society,
such as global warming, acid rain, air pollution, and water pollution.
Greenhouse Gas Management
The Group of Companies is recognized as a collective of businesses contributing to indirect greenhouse gas
emissions through electricity consumption. Given that coal, the primary fuel for global electricity generation,
significantly contributes to global warming through greenhouse gas emissions during combustion, the Company
has actively campaigned for behavior change among executives and employees to reduce electricity usage. This
initiative helps cultivate employee awareness of environmental impacts and encourage responsible operations.
Consequently, the Company has developed practices focused on energy conservation, for instance:
- Ensuring thorough verification of the annual maintenance schedule for air-conditioners to rmaintain optirnal
efficiency.
= Implementing regular inspection and maintenance protocols for machinery, electrical appliances, and
equipment within scheduled intervals.
- Regularly checking the condition of autormobile in the determined period.
- Encouraging carpooling among employees when traveling in the same direction and planning routes in
advance to optimize travel efficiency.
- Promoting employes participation inwaste sorting to streamling recycling processes and minimize energy
consumption during waste disposal.
- Encouraging employees to use reusable cloth bags, food containers, and water bottles to significantly reduce
the reliance on disposable iterns and decrease overall waste production.
Selection for Use of Containers
The Group of Companies aims te minimize its environmental impact and encourage consumers to participate in
sustainability efforts, such as through the Tao Bin Robotic Barista Vending Machine, This vending machine is unigue
in its fresh-brewing technology, which utilizes a weighing and measuring system to make each beverage efficient
while minimizing water waste through its integrated cleaning system. Consumers can also contribute to reducing
plastic waste by opting out of straws and lids when purchasing beverages from the Tao Bin machine. Additionally,
the Croup of Companies uses glass containers and Polypropylene (PF) plastic straws, which are recyclable and can
be upcycled into new products.



Water Management

The company recegnizes the importance of using water resources efficiently and sustainably. Therefore, it has
established a water management plan to reduce wasteful water usage and improve water efficiency within the
organization. This includes regular inspactions of water control devices, and if any equipment is found to be
damaged, it will be promptly repaired or replaced to prevent unnecessary water loss. The company also promotes
water conservation through the installation of signs and communication materials to encourage water-saving
practices, as well as motivating employees to actively participate in the efficient use of water resources.
Additionally, the factory (subsidiary) has implemented measures to reuse treated wastewater for non-potable
activities, such as watering plants and cleaning parking areas, in order to reduce freshwater consumption and
improve water resource management efficiency. The group also runs campaigns and raises awareness about the
importance of effective water management to ensure the efficient use of water resources, reduce environmental
impacts, and support sustainable business operations.

Waste Management

The group of companies places great importance on effective waste management to reduce environmental
impacts and promote the efficient use of resources, in alignment with sustainable development practices,
Therefore, the group has implemented various measures and projects related to waste reduction, segregation,
and proper disposal. These include encouraging employees to use resources efficiently, reduce the use of
unnecessary materials, and choose environmentally friendly alternatives. The cormnpany also uses an electronic
document systemn (Paperless) to reduce paper Usage, significantly decreasing the amount of paper used within
the organization.

Moreover, waste segregation bins are installed in all operational areas, with staff being educated on the correct
waste separation methods to ensure that waste is disposed of according to the designated categories.
Additionally, the company promotes the reuse of materials, such as cardboard boxes and packaging maternials, to
maxirmize their benefits.

Greenhouse Gas Management

The group of companies recognizes the importance of managing greenhouse gases and their envirenmental
impacts in a sustainable manner. As a result, the group has developed a systermnatic and sustainable greenhouse
gas management plan to support the reduction of global warming and promote long-term sustainability. The
subsidiary companies have begun gradually installing solar rooftop systems to generate clean energy and reduce
dependence on enerdy sources that contribute to greenhouss gas emissions.

Additionally, the subsidiary engaged in electronic device manufacturing has assessed the greenhouse gas
emissions from various activities within the organization. A carbon footprint report has been prepared using
international standards for measurement and has been verified by SGS (Thailand). The company is in the process
of registering with the Thailand Greenhouse Gas Management Crganization (Public Organization) or TGO,

3.4 Sustainability Management in the Social Dimension
3.4 Social Policies and Practices
Corporate Social Responsibility
The group of companies focuses on growing the business alongside sharing and taking responsibility
for society. The company has established policies and guidelines regarding social responsibility, such
as respecting laws, cultures, traditions, and universal human rights, ensuring the protection of
individual rights, and upholding dignity and respect. This includes non-discrimination based on
education, ethnicity, nationality, religion, or gender, as well as supporting employment opportunities
for disadvantaged groups and treating workers fairly. The company is also committed to consumer
responsibility and actively contributing to community or social development.
Additionally, the company has engaged with various sectors of society to establish projects that
support income generation for local communities and organize activities that improve the welfare
and quality of life for people in these communities through different initiatives and projects.
3472 Social Performance
1. Employee and Labor
Human Rights Practices
The company adheres to hurman rights principles from the recruitment process through to employee care,
ensuring that all employees feel a sense of belonging and are part of the organization as one family. In 2024, the
company received no complaints regarding violations of human rights. The company also carries out important
operations related to its employees as follows:
Employment
Promotion and Support for Employment of People with Disabilities
The company ploces importonce on improving the quality of life and creating equol opportunities for people with
disabilities, in line with the Disability Quality of Life Promotion and Development Act B.E. 2550 (2007) and its
amendments (No. 2) B.E. 2556 (2013). People with disabilities are provided with fair cornpensation, benefits, and
righits equivalent ta those of other ermployees. They are also assigned suitable tasks that enable therm to work
comfortably and safely, allfowing them to support themselves and their families.
In 2024, the group supported the empioyment of people with disabilities in the workploce and hired o toral of 11
individuals under Section 33 of the Act.
Let me know if yvou need further adjustments!

i I ion of
The Company continuously supports and prometes the safety, occupational health, and working environment
management system and achieves the policies by communicating and publicizing to the employees, visitors,
contractors, and related parties, as well as publicizing to the public as follows:
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+ Operate the business through compliance with the set of regulations, regulations, and laws in safety,

occcupational health, and working ervironment.

« Support and promote the implementation of safety, occupational health, and working environment activities to

reduce the occurrence of occupational accidents, casualty, and disease.

» Supply and encourage every employee to wear standard and safe personal protective equipment in operation.

¢ Schedule the yearly evacuation drill in the case of fire incidence, and determine the assembly point in every

office.

+ Organize the training of FIRST Ald & CPR, and install AED at the office.

+ Use Fingerprint Access Control System for the Office and Passenger Elevator System particularly for the persons

to access and go up-down between the offices for the life and property safety of the Company's employees

* Arrange the annual health check-ups and annual vaccine services.

« Arrange Fitness Center and exercise ground, such as an indoor saccer field, and basketball field of the Company.
The Company consistently enhances its operating efficiency and safety measures to effectively mitigate risks of
injury or death, ensuring the well-being of its employees. In 2024, there were no accidents, injuries, or deaths related
to the occupation. In 2024, there is no accident in the Company
Employee Care and Personnel Development
Human Resources
Personnel are considered valuable resources for the company, and for the organization to grow sustainably, it
must have a capable workforce that can adapt to changes. Therefore, the company focuses on "developing” the
potential of its employees alongside "caring” for them by providing good benefits to motivate them. This approach
is designed to drive the company towards sustainable growth,

e Emeclument of the Employees

Employees of the Company and its subsidiaries are entitled to a range of benefits, including overtime pay, annual

bonuses tied to Key Performance Indicators [(KPIs), enrollment in the Provident Fund and Social Security Fund, and

comprehensive insurance coverage (accident, life, and health). Additionally, the Company provides grants for the
unfortunate event of death within the immediate family (employee, parent, spouse, or child), allowances for remote
work, employee uniforms, and hosts an annual party. For further details, please refer to Part 2 - Structure of Corporate

Governance, and Important Information of Directors (Emiployes Information).

* Personnel Developrment

Organizational Development and Employee Engagement

The company has a policy to develop itself into a learning organization to support business growth and adapt to the

changes in the current economic and social environment, Therefore, the company promotes employee

development by enhancing their knowledge and capabilities, focusing on creating processes for knowledge
transfer within the organization from experienced personnel, alongside learning from external sources. This
includes learning through practical experience and knowledge transfer via on-the-job training and teamwaork, as
well as external learning through personal development training and general seminars. These include courses such
as Basic First Ald and CPR, using the EMC person-tracking systemn, risk management in accounting and finance,

international business service improverment, creative thinking and innovation presentation skills, and developing a

Customer Relationship Management (CRM) system for better custormer relations.

In 2024, employees in the group accumulated an average of 10562 training hours per person.

Promoting Employee Engagermnent

The company places great importance on building relationships between the company, senior management, and
employees at all levels through various activities such as the annual New Year's gathering, annual merit-making
events, and participation in various festive dress-up and fun activities, The company also conducts surveys and
listens to feedback frorm employees to exchange ideas and perspectives, which are used to improve operational
approaches and processes to increase efficiency. In addition, the company evaluates employee engagement and
satisfaction through the Employee Engagerment Survey and plans to conduct it annually.

2. Custormners

Customer Relationship Management and Respensibility

Effective customer relationship management helps the company increase customer satisfaction and develop
stranger relationships between the company and its customers. Additionally, the group of companies places
significant emphasis on managing the health and safety of consumers by ensuring the quality of preducts and
services meet established standards. The company also seeks innovative solutions that meet customer and
consumer needs, demonstrating true responsibility and care for customers and consumers, The company also
prioritizes the protection of custormer and consumer privacy, adhering to the Personal Data Protection Act
(PDPA) and data security standards, The company uses advanced technologies to safeguard custormer data,
such as encryption and high-security systems to prevent unauthorized access. Furthermore, the company treats
all customers and consumers equally and fairly.

Managing Feedback, Suggestions, and Complaints

The group of companies has established multiple channels for receiving complaints related to products and
services, including Call Center 1220, social media platforms such as Facebook, Line Official, Instagram, and the
company's website, available 24 hours a day. When receiving feedback or complaints from custormers and
consumers, the company promptly investigates and resolves the issues, demonstrating sincerity in addressing
complaints and building trust with customers and consumers to regain confidence in the company’s products
and services. Additionally, the company conducts service quality assessments, analyzes the root causes of issues,
and uses customer feadback and suggestions to improve the quality and efficiency of products and services, The
company also tracks the progress of prablem resolutions,

In 2024, customer satisfaction with the service provided through the customer service center (Tel. 1220) was
surveyed, achieving an average score of 98.44% throughout the year.



3. Communities and society

The group of companies is mindful of the community and society, placing great importance on reducing
environmental impact and aveiding business activities that could cause negative effects on the surrounding
community and society. Additionally, the company participates in and supports various community activities to
build streng relationships with the community and society through social projects in various areas.
Examples of Social Responsibility Activities (CSR-After-Process) of the Group of Companies
. “Missing People, Boonterm Helps Find” Project: This initiative is aimed at raising awareness about missing
persons and providing assistance to saciety. It has been running for the third consecutive year, as part of a
collaboration with the Mirrar Foundation, to serve as a channel for finding missing persons.

. “Boonterrn Cares for the Earth" Project: This activity involves recycling plastic bottles, where 10,000 ermnpty
bottles are transformed into 450 blankets.

e “Welfare Fun Fin" Project: This project provides neck, shoulder, and back massages to support visually
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“Cheerful Box™ Project

lhe group is committed to supporting the empowerment of people with disabilities, enabling them to be self-
reliant and improve their quality of life through the "Cheerful Box" project. Every 1-2% of the sales from drinks
sold in "Tac Bin" vending machines, part of the 50 machines in the "Cheerful Box" project, will be allocated to
support the mission of improving the lives of underprivileged people with disabilities. This initiative is run
through Kidfkades Social Enterprise Co, Ltd,, a social enterprise established by the Social Innovation
Foundotion, which leads fundraising efforts and collaborates with partners nationwide to select people with
disabilities for the program. The subsidiary company is responsible for installing all the "Tao Bin" vending
machines, and the funds raised will drive the mission of assisting people with disabilities to access job
opportunities and professions in their local areas, as well as improving living conditions for those with
disabilities to enhance their well-being.
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4 Management Discussion and Analysis

4.1 Financial position and operating results as of 31 December 2024

Unit: Million Baht

2024 2023 Increase (decrease) Variance (%)
Total revenues 9149 9,820 (671) (7%)
Met profit 221 573 (352) (613%)

The Group reported a total revenue of 9,149 million baht for 2024, a decrease of 671 million baht, or 7%, compared
to the total revenue of 9,820 million baht in 2023. This decline was largely driven by a reduction in revenue from
the EMS (Electronics Manufacturing Service) business.

The Group also reported a net profit of 221 million baht for 2024, a decrease of 352 million baht, or 61%, compared
to a net profit of 573 million baht in 2023 The main reasons for this decline include a drop in gross profit from the
Enterprise Solutions and EMS businesses and increased administrative expenses.

Analysis of revenues
2024 2023 Increase (decrease)

Million Millien Million

Baht * Baht * Baht *
Revenues from the main business
EMS business 2,777 30% 3,504 36% (727) | (21%)
Enterprise solutions business 2,273 25% 2,209 22% 64 3%
Smart service business 3,777 41% 3,778 39% (61) (2%)
Total revenues from the main business 8,767 96% 9,49 97% (724) (B%:)
Interest income from loans 135 1% 38 | - 97 | 255%
Other income 247 3% 291 | 3% (44) (15%)
Total revenues 9149 | 100% 9,820 | 100% (671) (79%)

EMS business

The Company reported revenue from its EMS business amounting to 2,777 million baht for 2024, a decrease of 727
million baht, or 21%, compared to the same period last year, which was 3,504 million baht. The primary reason far
this decline was reduced orders from a major customer in the electronic circuit board manufacturing
segment Enterprise solutions business

The Company reported revenue from its Enterprise Solutions business amounting to 2,273 million baht for 2024, an
increase of 64 million baht, or 3%. This represents no significant change compared to the same period last year,
which was 2,209 million baht

Smart service business

The Company reported revenue from its Smart Service business amounting to 3,713 million baht for 2024, a decrease
of 61 million baht, or 2%. This represents no significant change compared to last year's period, which was 3,778
million baht However, revenue from the top-up kiosk business increased due to the rise in electronic wallet top-
up services and internet package purchases. Conversely, revenue from the TAO BIN vending machine business
decreased because the kiosks were taken offline for upgrades to enhance operational efficiency and focus on
finding higher-quality installation locations.



Interest income from loans

The Company reported interest income from loans amounting to 135 million baht for 2024, an increase of 97 million
baht, or 255%, compared to the same period last year, which was 38 million baht This growth is attributed to the
loan portfalio expansion from members of large organizations.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margi
2024 2023 Increase (decrease)
Million Million Million
Baht * Baht = Baht *
EMS business 349 13% 50| 5% (162) | (32%)
Enterprise solutions business 549 24% 698 32% (149) | (21%)
Smart service business 979 26% 1,046 28% (67) (6%)
Total Gross Profit 1,877 % 2,255 24% (378) (17%:)

EMS business

The gross profit for 2024 amounted to 349 million baht, a decrease of 162 million baht or 32%, compared to the
same period last year when the gross profit was 51 million baht. The gross profit margin for 2024 decreased from
15% to 13%. This decline is consistent with the decrease in revenue from the EMS business.

Enterprise solutions business

The gross profit for 2024 amounted to 549 million baht, a decrease of 149 million baht or 21%, compared to the
same period last year when the gross profit was 698 million baht. The gross profit margin for 2024 decreased from
32% to 24%. This dedine was caused by the Company incurring losses from the Smart Metro Grid project and the
procurement of repair parts and installation equipment for the helicopter's IBF system due to delays in project
delivery.

Smart service business

The gross profit for 2024 amounted to 979 million baht, a decrease of 67 million baht, or 6%, compared to the
same period last year, where the gross profit was 1,046 million baht. The gross profit margin for 2024 decreased
from 28% to 26%. There were no significant changes when compared to the same period last year.

Expenses

2024 2023 Increase (decrease)
Million Baht Million Baht Million Baht %
Selling expenses 139 182 (43) (24%)
Administrative expenses 1,315 1,233 82 T%
Finance expenses 204 189 15 8%
Income tax expenses 157 170 (13) (8%)

Selling expenses

Selling expenses for 2024 amounted to 139 million baht, a decrease of 43 million baht or 24%, compared to the
same period last year, which was 182 million baht. This decrease is attributed to a reduction in advertising,
promotional, and transportation expenses related to the TAQ BIN vending machine business.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses for 2024 amounted to 1,315 million baht, an increase of 82 million baht, or 7%, compared
to the same period last year, which was 1,233 million baht This increase is attributed to various rising expenses,
such as employee-related expenses, depreciation of factory buildings, office buildings, and warehouses leased to
subsidiaries, and losses from foreign exchange rates, among other factors
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Finance expenses

Financial expenses for 2024 amounted to 204 million baht, an increase of 15 million baht, or 8%, compared to the
same period last year, which was 189 million baht This increase is due to the rise in short-term borrowing used for
working capital.

Income tax expenses

Income tax expenses for 2024 amounted to 157 million baht, a decrease of 13 million baht, or 8%, compared to the
same period last year, which was 170 million baht. This decline aligns with the decrease in profits.

Fi ial .
Assets

Unit: Million Baht

31 December 2024 31 December 2023 Increase % Variance
{decrease)

Current assets 6,365 5,432 933 7%

Nen-current assets 5773 5,617 156 3%

Total assets 12,138 11,049 1,089 10%

As of December 31, 2024, total assets amounted to 12,138 million baht, an increase of 1,089 million baht, or 10%,
compared to 11,049 million baht as of December 31, 2023. This increase is primarily due to the rise in loan receivables
and advance payments for purchasing goods for various projects

The quality of assets

Trade account receivables
Unit: Million Baht
Consolidated financial statements
31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Trade account receivables - unrelated parties 940 845
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses (101) (95)
Trade account receivables - net 839 750

As of December 31, 2024, and 2023, the Group recorded an allowance for expected credit losses of 101 million baht
and 95 million baht, respectively. The Group recognizes expected credit losses on trade receivables without waiting
for credit impairment events to occur. The Group will use a simplified approach to assess the expected loss
allowance for trade receivables over the lifetime.

Inventories
Unit: Million Baht
Consolidated financial statements
31 December 2024 3 December 2023
Inventories 2,484 2260
Reduced cost to net realizable value (561) (534)
Inventories - net 1,923 1,726

As of December 31, 2024, and 2023, the Group recorded the reduced cost to net realizable value, amounting to
561 million baht and 534 million baht, respectively. The Group estimates the net realizable value of inventory based
on changes in selling prices or costs directly related to events occurring after the end of the reporting period,
considering inventory movements and the prevailing economic conditions at that time. Management believes the
current allowance for inventory write-downs to net realizable value is sufficient.



Unit: Million Baht

A D;;;Tb" 31 December 2023 {'""'"':] % Variance
Current liabilities 7,815 6,278 1537 24%
MNen-current liabilities INIFS 1,489 (272) (25%)
Total liabilities
8,932 7.767 1,165 15%
Total shareholders’ equity 3,206 3,282 (76) (2%)

® apegs

As of December 31, 2024, total liabilities amounted to 8,932 million baht, an increase of 1,965 million baht, or 15%,
compared to total liabilities of 7,767 million baht as of December 31, 2023, This increase is primarily attributed to
the rise in short-term borrowings used for working capital and customer advances for various projects.

Shareholders’ equit

As of December 31, 2024, shareholders’ equity amounted to 3,206 million baht, a decrease of 76 million baht, or
2%, compared to shareholders’ equity of 3,282 million baht as of December 31, 2023 There were no significant
changes when compared to the same period last year.

T iate of capital struct

The debt-to-equity ratio as of December 31, 2024, was 281, an increase from 24:1 as of December 31, 2023 This
increase is due to the rise in current liabilities.

Liquidit
Cash flows
Unit: Million Baht
2024 2023
Cash flows from (used in) operating activities 364 1,962
Cash flows from (used in) investing activities (518) (1.227)
Cash flows from (used in) financing activities 186 (648)

Cash flows from operating activities for 2024 amounted to 364 million baht, a decrease of 1598 million baht
compared to the same period last year, which was 894 million baht. This decline is due to the decrease in operating
profit and the increase in working capital.

Cash flows used in investing activities for 2024 amounted to 518 million baht, a decrease of 709 million baht
compared to the same period last year, which was 1227 million baht This decline is due to the reduction in
investments for purchasing TAC BIN vending machines and the decrease in construction costs for the new factory
building since mest of the construction was completed in 2023,

Cash flows from financing activities for 2024 amounted to 186 million baht, primarily consisting of cash received
from short-term borrowings, cash paid for long-term loan repayments, and cash paid as dividends to the Company's
shareholders and non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries. In contrast, cash flows used in financing activities
for the year 2023 amounted to 648 million baht, predominantly consisting of cash received from long-term
borrowings, cash paid for short-term and long-term loan repayments, and cash paid as dividends to the Company's
shareholders and non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries.

Liquidity ratio

The current ratio as of December 31, 2024, was 0.8:1, which is not significantly different compared to the current
ratic of 0.9:1 as of December 31, 2023.
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Business Plan for 2025

The group expects its revenue for 2025 to grow by 10-15% compared to the previous year, driven by continuous
revenue recognition from government projects carried over frem the previous year, the expansion of lending
services to new large corporate clients, and the focus on expanding its business network through products
developed by the company under the group’s brand, both domestically and internationally. This growth will also
be supported by efficient and sustainable cost and expense management.

Sustainability Reporting

The company is committed to being a technology-driven organization that achieves sustainable growth while
considering the interests of stakeholders in all dimensions. The United Nations' Sustainable Development Goals
(SDGs) serve as a framework for the company's strategic direction. The company has outlined sustainable
operations and activities to promote and drive the achievement of goals across three dimensions, following the
ESG (Ervironmeantal, Social, and Governance) approach, as follows:

Environmental Sustainability Management

The company recognizes the importance of energy efficiency and sustainability. It is committed to various
measures aimed at improving energy efficiency, reducing environmental impacts, and promoting the use of
renewable energy. This commitment aligns with international environmental policies and the company's sustainable
development goals. The company continues to run internal campaigns to raise employee awareness regarding the
importance of resource conservation and maximizing benefits at every stage, from product design and
development to manufacturing, transportation, sales, and customer usage, which all involve energy consumption,
water use, waste, and pellution. The company is also conscious of managing greenhouse gas emissions across the
entire value chain to maintain ecological balance. The group has implemented solar panel installations on the
rocftops of some of its factories and office buildings, with plans to expand this installation to further reduce
dependence on greenhouse gas-emitting energy sources, Maoreover, the creation of various automated kiosks,
such as Tao Bin and Tao Bin Vending Machines, has helped reduce paper consumption by replacing paper
systems with electronic ones, and also minimizes water use by employing highly efficient beverage machine
cleaning technologies.

Social Sustainability Management

The company strives for growth while sharing responsibility towards society and all stakeholders. It does not
discriminate and provides equal opportunities for all groups, promoting employment for local labor,
underprivileged people, people with disabilities, and vulnerable groups regardless of race, color, religion, age,
gender, gender identity, education level, political views, etc. The company also adheres to human rights principles
across its entire value chain, protecting workers' rights, safety, and health, creating a good working environment,
and continuously managing and developing its workforce. It provides appropriate welfare benefits to enhance the
value and quality of life within communities and society, ensuring sustainable growth. Additionally, the company
participates in varicus societal initiatives, establishing projects that help increase income for local communities and
arganizing volunteer activities to improve the living standards and quality of life for people in those communities.

Economic and Governance Sustainability Management

The company upholds principles of good corporate governance, business ethics, compliance with applicable laws
and regulations, and places great emphasis on anti-corruption efforts, fair competition, and managing sustainability
risks across its entire supply chain. This is done to maintain competitive capability, build business credibility, and
demonstrate the potential for long-term, sustainable returns.
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Branch5 256 Phaholyothin Rd, Samseannai, Phayathai, Bangkok 10400

Branché 73/2 Moo 10 Phutthamonthon Sai 5 Rd. Rai Khing, Sam Phran, Nakhon
Prathom 73210

Website - www forth.coth
Telephone Mo, o Q=22685-8700, 0-2271-2888
Facsirmile No. ¢ 0-2265-6799, 0-2279-4688

egistrar

Securities Registrar : Thailand Securites Depository Company Limited
MNo. 93 Ratchadaphisek Rd., Dindaeng,
Dindaeng, Bangkok 10400

Tel. 0-2002-9000 Fax 0-2009-2999]

1. MrPormanan  Kitjanawanchai

Auditor License 7792 and/ or
Company’s Auditors 2. MrKittiphun  Kiatsomphob Auditor License B80S0 and/ or
3, MsWatoo Kayankannaves Auditor License 5423
EY OFFICE COMPANY LIMITED 193/126-137 Lake Ratchada Complex Building floor 33
Ratchadaphisek Rd., Khlong Toei, Khong Toei, Bangkok 10110
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52. Other Information
- Mone -
53. Legal Depute

On Decernber 31, 2024, the company has no ongoing legal disputes or lawsuits that could negatively
impact the company or require compensation exceeding 5% of the total shareholders' eguity.

5.4. Secondary Market

MNone
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various groups of stakeholders and is the basis. To bring about the success of business operations and strengthen the
organization. to grow sustainably Therefore, the Board of Directors has established a corporate governance policy and
business ethics under the principles of good governance in accordance with the Principles of Good Corporate
Governance for Listed Companies 2012, (CC Principles) of the Stock Exchange of Thailand (SET) and in accordance
with the principles of good corporate governance for listed companies in 20017, ( CG Code) of the Securities
Commission and the stockexchange (SET.) The Board of Directors considers and reviews the corporate governance
policy every year. To ensure that the policies are applicable to  the Company's business context, the Board of
Directors, executives, and employees have strictly followed them.
The principles of good corporate governance cover S categories of principles as follows

Category 1 Rights of Shareholders

Category 2 Equitable Treatrment of Shareholders

Category 3 Roles of Stakeholders

Category 4 Information Disclosure and Transparency

Category 5 Board Responsibilities
In this regard, information and details of corporate governance palicy Business ethicsand various policies of the
company are disclosed on the website.
(www forth.coth) under the headings “Corporate Governance” and “Policies and Important Documents”

6.1.1 Policy and Corporate Governance Practice

Board of Directors as representatives of shareholders It is responsible for supervising the Company's operations in
accordance with laws, announcements, regulations, rules and other laws. related as well as in accordance with the
objectives and articles of association of the Company and to ensure that the management operates under the
corporate governance policy social responsibility To promote confidence of shareholders, the public and all groups
of stakeholders By having the management report on the company's operating results, goals, and both short-term
and long-term plans. To ensure that operations are in line with the goals set. To promote confidence among
shareholders, the public, and stakeholders in general. The company has established and regularly reviews the
charters of the Board of Directors and its subcommittees, company policies, as well as the review of the vision,
rnission, and business strategies on an annual basis.

(Details, elements, scope of authority and duties and responsibilities of the Board of Directors and sub-committess
Appears according to the charter of the board of directors. Subcommittes charter in section 7 . Corporate
governance structure and important information about the committee. sub-committees, executives, employees,
atc)

The Board of Directors plays an important role in corporate governance. The company therefore has policies and
guidelines regarding the board of directors in various matters. In order to conduct business operations with
transparency, fairness and for the benefit of the company, shareholders and all stakeholders. It covers the selection
and determination of compensation for directors and executives, Director development and evaluation of director
performance Including supervision of subsidiaries, associated companies, and others as follows:

1. Board of Directors and Sub-Committees

The Company's Board of Directors consists of directors who have knowledge, ability, skills, and experience and have

expertise that will be beneficial to the company's business operations, such as financial accounting, strategy, legal

matters, management and corporate governance. There are no limitations regarding gender, race, religion or any
other differences. Currently, there are 10 directors in the company and all directors are fully gualified as required by
lawy,

Composition of the Board of Directors

1. The Board of Directors consists of at least 5 mambers of which not less than half {1/ 2] of the total number of
directors must reside in Thailand and has qualifications for being a director according to the Public Limited
Companies Act. and the Articles of Association including not having any prohibited qualifications according to
the SEC's announcement regarding the requirements on the qualifications of executives of listed companies.

2. It consists of not less than 3 independent directors or should have no less than one-third of the entire board of
directors.

3. Shareholders will consider and approve the appointment of the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors is
to elect one director to be the Chairman of the Board of Directors, In the event that the Board deems
appropriate, ane or mare directors shall be elected as Vice Chairperson. The vice chairman has duties in
accordance with the regulations in the business assigned by the chairman.

4. The appaintment of directors of the Company shall be in accordance with the Articles of Association of the
Company and relevant legal requirerments. This must be transparent and clear. Consideration must include
the educational background and professional experience of that person with sufficient details for the benefit
of the Board of Directors and shareholders' decision-rmaking.

5. Be able to devote sufficient time to work as a company director.

When any person is appointed as a director of the company, the company will arrange for preparation for being a

director and submit the directer's handbook and other relevant information to all new directors in order to make

them aware of their roles and duties as the Company's directors and arrange an orientation for the company's
directors to get an overview of the company.
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«  Determining the number of terms of directorship
The company has not yet determined the number of terms of office for directors. But he has held on to his
knowledge and ability to continue serving as a director of the company. To prevent the company from losing the
opporiunity to appoint directors who have abilities and experience related to the company. This is an important
factor for success in corporate governance,
- Holding directorship positions in other listed companies
The Company has a policy to determine the number of companies in which each director can hold positions. It
stipulates that each director can hold positions in not more than 5 listed companies. Of the 10 company directors,
none holds directorship positions in more than 5 other listed companies.

Sub-committees

In order to ensure effective corporate governance The Board of Directors has appointed subcommittees to assist in

corporate governance. which consists of 4 sub-committees Including the Audit Committee Risk Management

Committes Nomination and Remuneration Committes and execuUtive committes

The Audit Committes has at least 3 members who are independent directors. Responsible for inspecting and

helping to supervise the company's operations, Has the scope of authority and duties as assigned by the Board of

Directors, All members have the qualifications as specified in the law on securities and exchange. or by rules,

announcements, rules or regulations of the Office of the Securities and Exchange Commission,

1. The Risk Management Committee has at least 3 members, consisting of directors. Company executives or experts

appointed by the Board of Directors and at least 1 person must be an independent director

2. The Nomination and Rermmuneration Committee has at least 3 members, with half of the members of the

Momination and Rermuneration Committee having to be independent directors. The chairman of the Momination

and Remuneration Committee must be an independent director,

3. The Executive Committee consists of the Company's directors and a number of qualified executives. appointed

by the Board of Directors with the number of executive directars as the Board of Directors deems appropriate,

The Board of Directors may appoint other sub-committees to perform duties as assigned. To relieve the

administrative burden of the Board of Directors or in accordance with the company's policy or to comply with

various legal requirements that may occur in the future.

Independent Directors

Independent directors are directors who are independent from major shareholders or a group of major holders and

hawve the following qualifications:

1. Holding shares not more than 1% of the total number of shares entitled for voting of the Company, parent
company, subsidiary company, associated company, or juristic parsan that may have conflict, including shares
held by related parties.

2. Mot being a director assigned to be responsible for business administration in the normal course of business
and authorized directors signing for the Company, staffs, employees, advisors who receive regular salary or the
person with current control power of the Company, parent company, subsidiary company, associated
company, or juristic person that may have conflict unless such status has been terminated for not lessthan 2
years.

3. Mot being an independent director of the Company in the group, ie. parent company, subsidiary company,
and company in which the parent company / subsidiary holds maore than 50% of shares of a listed company.

4. Mot having a relationship by blood or by being registered as a father, mother, spouse, sibling, and child

including spouses of children with executives, major shareholder, controlling person or a person who will be

nominated as an executive ar a person with control of the Company or subsidiary.

There is no business relationship with the Company, parent company, subsidiary company, associated

company or person who may have conflict in a manner that may hinder independent judgment or the

exgcutive of a person who has a business relationship with the Company, the parent company, a subsidiary
company, an associate company or a juristic person that may have conflict unless such status has been
terminated for not less than 2 years.

& There are no other characteristics that make it impossible to give independeant opinions about the operations
of the Company.

The qualifications of the above independent directorsare equal to the rules relating to the independent committee

of the SEC Office, except Article 3, which is higher than the criteria regarding the qualifications of the independent

committee of the SEC.

w

2. Director Nomination and Executive
« Director Nomination

The Board of Directors has assigned the Nomination and Remuneration Committee to recruit, select and nominate

appropriate persons to serve as Company directors. Sub-committee and top executivesand consider compensation

appropriate to duties and responsibilities The selection criteria and methods are as follows.
Set criteria and policies for recruiting company directors and sub-committees. By considering the
appropriateness of the cormponents, properties The diverse abilities and experiences of the directors are
appropriate and consistent with the Company's business strategy. Including considering recruiting,
selecting and nominating appropriate persons to serve as directors whose terms have expired and/or there
are vacant positions and/or additional appointrments that take into account the necessary skills that are
still lacking in the committee, According to the policy and criteria for selecting directars set by the
company by presenting sufficient details for decision making. To propose to the Board of Directors and/or
propose for approval to the shareholders' meeting, as the case may be.



2. Consider recruiting, selecting, and nominating appropriate persons Lo serve as company directors. Sub-
committee and top executives When it is time to submit the names of directors to the Board of Directors
for consideration. The selection may consider the existing directors to continue in the position. or open for
nominations from shareholders or using outside companies to help recruit or consider people from the
professional directory [Director Pool) or having each director nominate an appropriate person, etc.

3. The election of company directors at the shareholders’ meeting will use voting methods where ane
shareholder has votes equal to one share per onevote. Can be used tovote for individual nominees or Many
people at the same time As the shareholder meeting deems appropriate, such shareholders cannot divide
their votes to any one person, more or less, and the person who receives the highest number of votes in
descending order will be elected as directors in equal numbers. The nurmber of directors that will be there
if there are egual votes, the person who chairs the meeting will have one more casting vote

4, Inthe case where the director position is vacant due to reasons other than the expiration of the director's term
of office. The Nomination and Remuneration Committee will consider selecting individuals who have
gualifications and do not have characteristics prohibited by law. Propase to the Board of Directors to consider
appointing him as a replacement director at the next meeting of the Board of Directors. Unless the term
of the director who vacates office is less than 2 months. The person who becomes the replacement director
will remain in the director position only for the remaining term of the director he or she replaces. The
resclution to appoint the person to be the replacerment director must receive a vote of not less than three-
fourths of the number of the directors. still remaining

+ Board Diversity

The Company places importance on diversity in the structure of the Board of Directors (Board Diversity) in order
to be consistent with international good corporate governance principles. That consists of a variety of skills,
experiences, and expertise that will be beneficial to the company's business operations (Board Skill Matrix) and
ensures that there is at least one non-executive director with relevant experience in the company's business
operations. without limitations or discrimination in terms of gender, race, religion, different beliefs, or any other
differences. Additionally, the company ensures that the Board of Directors conducts an evaluation of the necessary
and appropriate skill diversity required for the board, in alignment with the nature of the business operations.

+ Executive Recruitment

Recruiting a person to hold the position of Chairman of the Executive Committes, wha is the highest level
executive of the company. Nomination and Remuneration Committee will be the primary consideration in
screening and recruiting individuals who have complete and appropriate qualifications, have knowledge, abilities,
skills, and experiences that are beneficial to the Company's operations and understand the Company's business
well, Able to manage work 1o achieve the objectives and goals set by the Board of Directors, and present it to the
Board of Directors for further consideration and approval. The Company has a policy for the top executive to serve
as a director at another company { CEQ] They can hold positions in non-listed companies as appropriate, and may
rnot hold positions in more than 5 listed companies.

s Succession plan

The Momination and Remuneration Committee arranges the succession plan for the top executive position. To
prepare for succession to the position of chief executive in the event that the chief executive retires, resigns or is
unable to perform his duties. So that the management of the company can proceed continuously. Which considers
recruiting and selecting people who have gualifications according to the criteria set by the company and must be
people with vision. Knowledge, ability, experience, and appropriateness to the organization's culture The plan is
reviewed regularly.

3. Board Meeting

The company sets meeting schedules throughout the year in advance and informs all directors of the schedule, So
that directors can allocate time to attend meetings in unison, and establish a policy 1o have a minimum quoram at
thetime the committee votes at the meeting. There must be no less than two-thirds of the total number of directors
present to farm a quorum. The company has established a requirement for at least one meeting per year between
the non-executive directors, without the presence of management.

4, Determination of remuneration for directors and executives

The company determinas the remuneration of directors and senior executives based on the duties and scope of
responsibilities of the directors. Including the performance of the directors and the performance of the company.
in accordance with the remuneration rate in the market or similar industry Directors' remuneration is approved by
the Nomination and Remuneration Committes and presented to the Board of Directars for consideration before
being presented to the shareholder meeting for approval of remuneration. As for compensation for senior
executives It will be approved according to the principles and policies set by the Momination and Remuneration
Committee. The remuneration is at an appropriate level, comparable to those in the same industry. By taking into
account the duties responsibility which is linked to the performance of the company and the performance of each
senior executive. In order to motivate and retain quality personnel. Annual compensation and bonuses for senior
executives will have certain criteria for consideration. By considering the operating results of the company. Overall
economic conditions and individual perfoarmance.
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5. Independence from management of the board

« Separation of the positions of Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chairman of the Executive

Committee,

The Board of Directors plays an important role in corporate governance in the best interest of the Company and
shareholders as a whole. Therefare, in order to achieve balance in operating power The company has separated the
position of chairman of the board of directors and Chairman of the Executive Board Mot to be the same person The
chairman of the company is an independent director according to the meaning of the Stock Exchange. and has no
relationship with the management tearm.

+ Roles, duties and responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Executive Chairman

The Company has separated authority, duties and responsibilities between the Board of Directors and the
Executive Chairman.which is the highest executive of the company clearly stated The board has a role in supervising
management to be in line with goals and guidelines that will bring the greatest benefit to shareholders,

Taking into account the interests of all stakeholders, Do not seek benefits for yourself or anyone, Do not take any
action. It conflicts or cormpetes with the interests of the company and its affiliates. By adhering to good ethics Perform duties
responsibly caution honesty This includes ensuring that business operations meet their objectives. Company
regulations Board resclutions, shareholder meeting resolutions, as well as laws. Rules and regulations of the Stock
Exchange of Thailand and the SEC. As for the Chairman of the Executive Board Serve as the head of the board or
the leader of the company's executive team in management. and supervise the operations of businesses related to
the general administration of the company

* Balance of non-executive directors

Proportion of executive directors to non-executive independent directors It is appropriate in terms of checks
and balances to prevent decision-making power and the authority to act belongs to any one person, and the
number and qualifications of the independent directors who are not executives are appropriate for the business.
The Board of Directors consists of at least 3 (three) independent directors or one-third (one-third) of the total
directors, [whichever is higher) which is consistent with the rules and related announcerments

6. Development of company directars and evaluation of their performance

+ Development of directors and executives

The Board of Directors requires orientation for new directors. To provide directors with knowledge and
understanding of the company's business and related regulations In addition, the board has a policy to encourage
all directors. Senior executives Including the company secretary receiving continuous training on corporate
governance of the company both from internal training and from other external institutions such as the Stock
Exchange of Thailand, the SEC Office, or the Thai Institute of Directors Associationa (10D) etc,

« Orientation of new committes members

Far new directors The company has prepared basic information about the company including the organizational
structure and management. Operational characteristics Main products Company regulations and laws related to
the company, including the regulations of the Office of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the Stock
Exchange of Thailand, to new directors. So that such directors can understand the operations of the company.
Including acknowledging the roles, duties and responsibilities of being a director or independent director,

+ Evaluating the performance of directors' duties

The company organizes an annual evaluation of the performance of directors at least once a year. So that the
directors can consider and review their work, issues, and various obstacles. During the past year together In
evaluating the performance of directors The company will have evaluations in group, individual, and evaluation of
every sub-committee The company secretary will submit the evaluation form to all committee members for
evaluation. After the evaluation is completed, the evaluation form will be returned to the Company Secretary to
compile the evaluation scores and surmmarize the results of the analysis of the Board's performance during the year
and report to the Board of Directors for further consideration. Criteria for evaluating the performance of the
committee as a group, individually, and evaluating every sub-committee will cover the following important points.

(1) Structure and gualifications of the committes

{?) Roles, duties and responsibilities of the committes

(3) Board meeting

(4) Performance of duties of directors

(5) Relationship with management

(B) self-development of directors and development of executives

7. Supervision of operations of subsidiaries and associated companies

The Beard of Directors exercises authority in supernvising subsidiaries and associated companies. Using authority
according to the objective Regulations and resclutions of the company's shareholders' meeting which will be
administered through the Board of Directors' meeting By considering and approving and/or authorizing any
person, as the case may be. for administration, however Management operations must be under the supervision of
the Board of Directors. which must be done with honesty and integrity and maintain the highest interests of the
cormpany and shareholders as important The Board of Directors has assigned the Executive Chairman to select and
appoint individuals to serve as directors of subsidiaries and asscciated companies. The person who is a director of
the subsidiary will also be a director of the company. By considering suitability in various aspects such as
qualifications, skills, and experience of each director. Including the appointment of key executives of subsidiaries
and associated companies. In this regard, the directors andfor executives appointed as such must manage



operations in accordance with the policies assigned by the Board of Directors. By adhering to the principles of good
corporate governance of the business as well as Compliance with the rules regarding connected transactions and
the acquisition or disposal of assets Preparation of accurate and reliable financial information and reports, including
the establishment of an appropriate and sufficiently tight internal control system.

6.1.2 Policies and practices related to shareholders and stakeholders.

The company is commitied to conducting business in accordance with the principles of good corporate
governance. By adhering to ethics Manage work with transparency, equality, and responsibility to stakeholders.
Create long-term business value Promote operational excellence and opposes all forms of corruption Various
rneasures have been implemented to ensure that shareholders and stakeholders are treated equally.

1. Policies and practices regarding shareholders

11 Equitable Treatment of Shareholders

The company supports equal treatment of shareholders. By giving importance to providing equality of basic
rights to shareholders. This includes minarity shareholders and foreign shareholders. The board will not do anything
that causes unfairness to shareholders. Board of Directors Facilitated minority shareholders in proposing agenda items
for shareholders in advance of the meeting. Including the nomination of persons to serve as directors. The board
has clear and reasonable criteria for considering the appropriateness of including the agenda proposed by
shareholders And the Board has a policy not to add agenda itemns to shareholders that are not notified in advance
unnecessarily. This is so that Shareholders have studied various information adequately before making a decision.
Attending shareholder meetings in cases where shareholders are unable to attend the meeting in person
Shareholders have the right to appoint a proxy to a person the shareholder deems appropriate, You can attend the
meeting and vote on your behalf. and the company has nominated at least 1 independent director as an alternative

to shareholders' proxy. In shareholder meetings, the Board of Directors provides shareholders with the right to vote.
in the forrm of one share per one vote and ballots were used in every agenda. for transparency can be checked And
the company has measures in place to prevent the use of inside information for the benefit of oneself or others in a
wrangful way. which causes damage to shareholders as a whaole If it is a shareholder meeting via electranic media
such as e-Meeting, shareholders can vote through the e-Meeting system. Voting through the cormpany system will
be counted on a one-share-one-vole basis as well.

1.2 Promoting the exercise of shareholders' rights.

The company recognizes the importance of the basic rights of shareholders. The Company has laid down principles
for treating both major and minor sharehelders according to their rights fairly and equally according to the
Company's regulations and related laws, without doing anything that violates or diminishes their rights. existing
shareholders, including.

1} The right to receive and examine various company information that is true, correct, complete, and sufficient
in a timely manner and appropriate for decision making.

2) The right to know the rules and procedures for attending meetings and receive sufficient information to
consider each agenda before the meeting in a timely manner. There will also be an opportunity to ask
questions at the meeting. The board will allow shareholders to submit questions in advance of the meeting
date.

3) The right to express cpinions, make suggestions, or propose various matters for the board of directors to
consider in order to manage the company for maximum benefit.

4) Right to express opinions give feedback and vote and participate in decision-making at the shareholder
rmeeting In case of policy change various impaortant matters of the company, such as setting or amending
regulations Mermorandum of Association, capital reduction, capital increase, approval of other special items.

5) Right tovote Rernoving individual company directors and considering directors' rermuneration

B) The right to consider approving the allocation of profits. Dividend payment

7] Right to appeint an auditor. and determine the auditor's remuneration.

8) The right to appoint a proxy to attend the shareholder meeting and vote on behalf of the shareholder.

9) The right to propose additional agenda iterms for the shareholder meeting.

10) The right to propose individuals for appointment as directors of the company.

Regarding the rights in items 8), 9), and 10), the details of the procedures are as follows:
Right to appoint a proxy to attend the shareholder meeting and vote on behalfof the shareholder: In the event that
a shareholder is unable to attend the meeting in person, they may appoint another person or an independent
director nominated by the company as a proxy to attend the meeting and vote on their behalf. The shareholder
rmust submit the proxy form, complete with all required details, along with a copy of their ID card, passport, or other
identification documents as specified, to the company before the shareholder meeting date. The company will send
the proxy form and details along with the meeting invitation, or the form can be downloaded from the company's
website under the Investor Relations section (wwwwinvestor forth.coth).
Right to propose additional agenda items for the shareholder meeting in advance: The cormpany allows
shareholders to propose additional agenda items beyond those included in the Annual General Meeting [AGM)
agenda. The procedure for proposing additional agenda items is as follows:
Submit the proposed agenda along with justifications, facts, and necessary information in the shareholder
meeting agenda proposal form. This form can be downleaded from the company's website
(e forth.coth) or requested from the company:.

2. The company will verify the shareholder status of the proposer according to the sharehelder registry on
the record date. Proposals to include items in the AGM must be related to the company’s operations or
hawve a significant impact on the company. If the Board of Girectors approves the proposed item, it will be
included in the meeting agenda and marked as proposed by the shareholder. If the Board does not
approve the proposal, the company will notify the sharehalder through its website.
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Right to propose individuals for appointment as company directors: Shareholders have the right to propose
individuals for appointment as directors of the company. The company reserves the right to consider only those
individuals who rmeet the following criteria;
1. They must meet the qualifications and not have any prohibitive conditions as per the Public Limited
Company Act, Securities and Exchange Act, and corporate governance regulations.
2. They must have appropriate educational qualifications, work experience, or other attributes as defined by
the carmpany.
3 They must be able to dedicate sufficient time and effort to the company's best interests, attending board
meetings regularly.
4. They may not hold more than five directorships in listed companies.
The Board of Directors will select the most suitable candidates for proposal to the shareholder meeting. However, if
the Board does not select a proposed candidate for shareholder consideration, that person will still be presented to
the meeting for final approval. Documents required for propesing a candidate include (1) the nomination form for a
director position and (2) the nominee's infarmation, along with proof of sharehalding or a confirrmation letter from
a securities firm, signed by the shareholder. The proposal must be sent by registered mail within the company's
specified timeframe.
In addition to these basic rights, at the shareholder meeting, the Board of Directors grants shareholders the right to
vote with one vote per share, using voting cards for transparency and verifiability. For e-Meetings, shareholders can
vote via the e-Meeting system, with votes counted the same way, one vote per share, The company has also
implemented various measures to ensure equal treatment of shareholders and to facilitate shareholders' rights as
outlined in the company's meeting regulations.
In addition to the basic rights above, the Company has also implermented various matters that promote and facilitate
the exercise of shareholders' rights in accordance with the Company's regulations and policies, including
« Arranging a shareholder meeting
The company places importance on the rights and equality of shareholders in attending meetings. The
company has organized an annual general meeting of shareholders. According to the regulations of the Stock
Exchange of Thailand by following the guidelines for organizing shareholder mestings of the Securities and Exchange
Cormmission. (SET) As well as using the Annual General Meeting Checklist manual, which is a project to assess the
quality of holding general shareholder meetings of listed cormpanies, in accordance with the company's regulations.
The company must hold an annual general meeting of shareholders within a period of 4 manths, From the end of the
annual accounting peried at the conference room, 7th floor, office building of Forth Smart Service Public Company
Limited, Mo, 256 Phahon Yothin Road, Samsen Mai Subdistrict, Phaya Thai District, Bangkok
before the meeating day
S0 that shareholders have enough time to study the information, The Company has assigned Thailand
Securities Depository Co, Ltd, asthe Company's share registrar. is the person who sends the meeting invitation letter
Including meeting agenda documents and meeting attendance documents for shareholders at least 7 days in
advance before the shareholder meeting date The document aims to help shareholders have sufficient information
to consider voting on each meeting agenda and facilitate shareholders to fully exercise their rights.

The company facilitates shareholders to attend the meeting and conducts the meeting in a transparent
manner. Including creating an atmosphere for shareholders to ask questions and express their opinions fully. and
hire external legal consultants as inspectors to inspect the results of resolutions and voting results,

After the sharsholder mesting day

The company notifies the resolution of the general meeting of shareholders through the news system of the
Stock Exchange of Thailand within the next business day and send the minutes of the shareholder meeting to the
Stock Exchange of Thailand and relevant agencies within 14 days from the date of the shareholder meeting. as well
as published on the cornpany's website, investor relations page [www.investor forth.coth) so that sharehalders can
check.

1.3 Prevention of insider information use and securities trading

The company is aware of the importance of preventing the use of inside information. By setting a policy
prohibiting the board of directors, executives, staff, employees Bring various information that may affect the price
of the company's securities. The information that has been disclosed will cause the company to be damaged or put
at a disadvantage Confidential and important information, internal information that has not yet been disclosed to
the public, may be disclosed or exploited for the benefit of onesalf or others, whether directly or indirectly Whether
you get a return or not Including not trading the company's securities using inside information which maintains
the security of information in the information system The Company controls andfor prevents outsiders from
accessing the Company'sinformation. and determine the right 1o access information for employees at various levels,
according to authority Responsibility and disclosure to the company's employees as necessary only to the extent
they need to know. and inform employees that it is confidential information and there are limitations on its use.
In thiz regard, the supervision of insider trading The Company prohibits employess and executives from knowing
inside information about the Company's operating results. Buy and sell the company's securities From the date the
infarmation was known until the information has been disclosed to the public. And do not distribute inside
information that should not be disclosed. in order to create prices for securities Especially securities trading during
the 1 manth before the financial statements are released Lo the public, The directors and executives of the company
must report changes in their holdings of the company's securities to the Securities and Exchange Commission. and
acknowledge the penalties under the Securities and Exchange 1992 Including changes in securities ownership by
spouses and minor children. Directors and executives must submit a copy of the said report to the company on the
same day they report it to the SEC, which is required to be notified within 3 business days, Furthermaore, it is required




to notify the company secretary, who is the scle person assigned by the Board, at least one day in advance before
engaging in any securities trading, in accordance with good corporate governance principles,

Over the past year, the company has provided training to directors, executives, and employees on the policy
regarding the use of insider information and securities trading through board meetings, executive sessions, and
internal communication channels.

1.4 Preventing conflicts of interest.

The Board of Directors has established a policy regarding conflicts of interest. Taking into account the highest
interests of the company and prohibit directors and executives from and company employees operate businesses
that compete with the company and should avoid actions that cause conflicts of interest It requires those who are
involved or have an interest in the item being considered to report to the company their relationship or interest in
the iterm and must not participate in the consideration Including having no authority to approve such transactions
or iterns, and if the company considers and finds that it is an important transaction The report will be presented to
the committes for consideration and approval as appropriate,

Owver the past year, the company has provided training to directors, executives, and employees on the policy for
preventing conflicts of interest through board rmeetings, executive sessions, and internal communication channels,
2. Policies and guidelines regarding stakeholders
The company recognizes and recognizes the importance of taking care of the company's stakeholders. To create
continuous good relaticnships in business operations Stakeholders of the company Including shareholders,
employees, customers, competitors, business partners, creditors and other agencies. including related nearby
communities The stakeholderswill be taken care of by the company according to their rights according to relevant
laws. or according to the agreement with the company and the company will not take any action whichviolates the
rights of those stakeholders The company sets policies and guidelines for stakeholders in various groups, and
determine compensation measures in cases where stakeholders are damaged by rightsviolations. There is a process
to promote cooperation between the company and stakeholders in order to create wealth, financial stability, and
sustainability of the cormpany. The details are as follows

« Shareholders
The company considers the highest interests of shareholders. We are committed to operating our business
with sustainable and stable growth. Ready to increase competitiveness and manage risks to add value Lo the
company in the long run
+ Employees
The company considers human resources to be the most valuable asset. have personal rights and have the
right to be protected fromviolating personal rights Including the right to be treated and receive equal opportunities
The company places importance on determining compensation. Welfare care and safety of employees as per the
following details,

Employee compensation
The company has established a policy for employee cornpensation. and consistent with the company's
operating results in both the short and long term. and reflects the knowledge and abilities of employees Based on
performance indicators (Key Performance Indicators: KPIs) It is one tool for managing compensation. Including
other benefits and determine appropriate compensation comparable to other companies in the industry. Toretain
and create incentives for employees to perform their jobs to achieve the company's objectives.
Employee welfare
Accident insurance and medical expenses
Life insurance and health insurance
Provident fund Social Security Fund
Financial aid in the event of the death of an employee, father, mather, wife or child.
Employee uniforms, sports area and employee fitness
Organizing an annual party or annual travel or the annual sports day
Annual health check and influenza vaccination
Special interest loan
Ermployee uniform
. Training both internally and externally
1. Allowance (Inthe case of working outside of the office]
12. Salary adjustment and annual bonus
[} loprnen
The company has a policy to develop the organization into a learning organization. To support business growth
and keep up with changes in current economic and social conditions. The company therefore encourages
employees to develop their knowledge and ability to work. Emphasis is placed on creating a knowledge transfer
process within the organization from personnel with knowledge and expertise. along with learning from outside to
build a knowledge base and best practices (Best Practice] By creating continuous learning from the individual,
departmental, departmental levels by developing learning from practice. and transfer knowledge through teaching
and teamwork Including learning from outside the organization
This includes personal developrment training and general seminars as well as specialized training. To develop
the capabilities of employees even further
+ Customer
The company is committed to creating maximum satisfaction for customers by delivering quality products
and services according to international standards with the IS 9001 (2008) guality system. A It has been certified
by the SGS certification institute and treats customers under fair contracts, agreements and conditions. Including
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giving importance to keeping customer information confidential. In addition, the FORTH SERVICE CALL CEMTER
was establishedto provide services for customers and dealers both before and after salesSuch as information inguiry
and complaint service Consult about service problems, product installation and repair. You can contact us at
Service center FORTH SERVICE CEMTER
Mo, 226/25,26 Phahonyothin Road, Samsen Nai Subdistrict, Phaya Thai District, Bangkok 10400
Tel : 0-2279-7799
Fax 0-2279-7799 axt. 2301
E-mail: cs_service@forth.coth
« Competitors
The company has a palicy of conducting business fairly, Do not distort information Deceive or use any other
methads that are not consistent with the competition, The company operates within the framework of good
competition rules, Do not seek confidential information of competitors through dishonest or inappropriate means,
such as paying bribes to competitors' employees, etc, as well as do not compete by slandering, harassing, or
distorting the facts of competitors,
+ Partners
The company has a policy to provide products and services with standards. and is committed to developing
and maintaining sustainable relationships with trading partners and contractars whao have clear palicies regarding
the quality of products and services Including a reasonable price The company therefore has a process for procuring
fair products and services as follows
= Business partners are selected based on price and quality, and the competition is based on
information received fairly and transparently.
* In business negotiations, directors, executives, and employees of the company must refrain from
receiving money, gifts, assets, or dishonest benefits from partners or contracting parties.
= Make payments to partners and contractors on time, Strictly according to the agreed upon payment
terms.
* Protect confidential information between partners and contracting parties.
= Act with honesty, reliability and be informed of relevant laws, regulations and policies.
* Loan creditors
The company has strictly complied with the terms and conditions of the loan agreement. The loan has been
repaid according to the specified period. and has cooperated with financial institutions in disclosing financial reports
and other information as desired correctly and completely as well as taking care of collateral and cooperate in
solving problems together If there is a case where the contract conditions cannot be complied with
« Government agencies
The company is committed and ready to comply with supervision and punishment according to laws,
regulations and standards of practice of government agencies.
« Stakeholder complaint machanism
il
The Company has established channels to receive complaints from wvarious stakeholder groups.
Complainants can submit their complaints in writing and with sufficient information, Incuding specifying the
complainant's first and last name and convenient contact address to the company secretary. According to the
company's address or email specified below The company secretary will forward the complaint to the board of
directors. Audit Committee or executives to check and make corrections, as the case may be, as follows
7 Inthe case of complaints from shareholders It will be forwarded to the Audit Committee andfor the
Board of Directars. In this case, shareholders may contact the Audit Committee Chairman directly or
at the company address specified.
2) Inthe case of complaints from customers, business partners, and the general public. It will be sent to
the exacutive team to find a solution. Then report to the Board of Directors.
3) In the case of complaints from creditors Complaints will be sent to the management team. Or
executives may consider sending such complaints to the Board of Directors for further consideration.
Stakeholders can contact the Company's Board of Directors and the Audit Committea to file complaints
as follows,
Company Secretary
Forth Corporation Public Company Limited
Mo, 105341 Phahonyothin Road, Fhaya Thai Subdistrict, Phaya Thai District, Bangkok 10400
Talephone: 0-2265-6700 Fax 0-2265-6799
1413 fcir
The complainant's information will be kept confidential. The company will consider welfare and safety as
important. Fact investigators will reveal the source of the information or related persons only as necessary Cases
that may cause distress and damage to the complainant The company will determine protection measures followed
by a process that is appropriate and fair.
21 Anti-corruption
The company conducts business with transparency. and is aware of the importance of combating all forms of
corruption By conducting business in accordance with the law and beneficial to society Support employees to work
with morality and be good citizens. The company has therefore established an anti-corruption palicy. To be a clearer
practice guideline to prevent and combat corruption problems of the cormpany. By creating an organizational
culture that makes everyone aware of the dangers of corruption. Create the right values and increase confidence
among all stakeholders In order 1o effectively combat corruption. The guidelines are as follows. Company directors,
executives, employees and all employees of the company Must comply with the anti-fraud and corruption policy.
You must not be involved, whether directly or indirectly



1. Employees should not be neglectful or negligent. When seeing actions that are considered corruption related
to the company Must notify supervisor or the responsible person knows and cooperate in investigating the facts

2. Employees must be aware of the importance of disseminating knowledge and understanding to others who
must perform duties related to the company. In order for personnel and related persons to act in accordance with
the anti-fraud and corruption policy.

%, The Company is committed o creating, cultivating and maintaining a corporate culture that adheres to
corruption and corruption is unacceptable.

4 The company provides measures for reporting clues or complaints regarding illegal acts. Business ethics or
Behaviors that may indicate corruption by directors, executives, or employees in the organization By organizing
various communication channels. To provide an opportunity for employees and stakeholders to report clues. or
complaints to the company convenient and appropriate The whistleblower or complainant can specify the details
of the matter for which the whistleblower or complaint has been reported, along with the name, address, and
telephone numkber that can be contacted. Or you can choose not to reveal your name if you consider that disclosing
it will cause insecurity/damage. By sending it to the channels for receiving matters as specified by the company as
follows,

e-rmail: Chairman of the Audit Committee sreesangkom@yahoo.com
Company Secretary arin j@forth coth
mail: Chairman of the Board of Directors or Chairman of the Audit Committee

Forth Corporation Public Company Limited
1053/1 Phahonyothin Road, Phaya Thai Subdistrict, Phaya Thai District, Bangkok
10400

website: v forth.co.th

Punishment

Whoever does anything that intentionally fails to comply with the anti-corruption pelicy including behavior
that bullies, intimidates, or discriminates By using unfair metheds against the person who reported the complaint
or clues or the person involved in the complaint or clues according to this policy as a result of the complaint. or
reporting clues to wrongdoing It is considered that that person has committed a disciplinary violation and is
responsible for compensating damages to the company or those affected by such action. Aswell as being liable in
civil and criminal matters or according to any other related laws.

The company has assessed risks related to fraud and implementead processes for auditing, monitoring, and
control to signal its serious commitment to preventing fraud and corruption. Additionally, the company has
communicated its anti-corruption policies and measures, along with relevant laws, regulations, or other guidelines
related to this matter, to directors, executives, and employees to ensure understanding. In the past year, the
company has not encountered any issues or deficiencies related to misconduct or legal cases involving fraud or
corruption,

22, Not infringing on intellectual property or copyright

The company has established policies and guidelines regarding non-infringement of intellectual property or
copyright. By conducting business correctly according to contracts related to intellectual property. Maintaining
trade secrets and respect the intellectual property rights of others. This covers requiring the use of properly licensed
computer programs. [t is prohibited to install and use copyrighted computer programs. It is absolutely not correct
in the company.

2. 5Personal Data Protection (PDPA)

The company recognizes the importance of protecting the personal data of customaers, partnears, contractors,
and all parties invalved in the company’s business operations, both currently and in the future, Therefore, the
cormpany has developed this Personal Data Protection Policy to inform data subjects about the company's
practices regarding the collection, use, disclosure, and the rights of data subjects under the Personal Data
Protection Act B.E. 2562 This policy applies to the collection of data, its purposes, its use, and disclosure, as well
as the rights of the data subjects, including the rights to modify or amend their data. It also includes measures
to ensure the security of personal data. The company has appointed a Data Protection Officer [DPO) to provide
guidance and oversee the operations of perscnal data processors and related parties.

3. Disclosure and transparency
The cormpany realizes the importance of disclosing data and information correctly, completely and in a timely
manner, whether it is operating results. Financial status, financial statements, annual report (Form 56-1 One Report)
and other information as well as information that must be disclosed on a periodic basis and important information
that affects the price of the Company's securities according to the regulations of the Stock Exchange of Thailand
and the Office of the Securities and Exchange Commission {SET) for shareholders  Stakeholders and the general
public can receive the company's information egually. The company discloses information through various
channels. Including the website of the Stock Exchange of Thailand office (SET)
and company website (www forth.coth under the topic "Investor Relations"). The information disclosed on the
website will be updated to be current.

« Disclosing information

The Campany has established a central department of the Company, namely the Investor Relations Department
(Imvestar Relations Department) To serve as a channel for disclosing and clarifying company information. The
Investor Relations Department is responsible for preparing activity plans and dissemination of company information
through the investor relations website. In order to promote the image and credibility of the company’s operations.
Investor Relations is responsible for communicating and answering questions from securities analysts. Institutional
investors, investors, shareholders and the general public and to ensure that the operations of the Investor Relations
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Department are correct, complete, transparent, and consistent with the law. Company requirements and
regulations and according to the Stock Exchange Investor Relations will regularly report performance results and
comments from shareholders, investors, and securities analysts directly to senior management.

The Company has established a code of ethics for investor relations to adhere to as follows,
westor Belations Ethics
Perform duties with honesty and integrity.

Disclose necassary information completely and fairly to all groups of stakeholders equally.
Provide an opportunity for all relevant groups of people to access and inguire abaout inforrmation.
Perform duties based on the interests of shareholders and stakeholders.

Maintain company secrets and do not use inside information for personal gain.

The company has set a period of no communication with analysts and investors ( Silent Period) In providing
information about the company's operating results It covers news and financial disclosures to the public by both
executives and investor relations staff 14 days before the guarterly and annual earnings announcement to avoid
giving out information in an uninformed manner, Dharma which may lead to an impact on the price of the
company's securities.

(LIRSS

6.2 Code of Business Conduct

The Company's Code of Business Conduct has been prepared for the Board of Directors, executives, and all
employees at all levels in all departments. used as a guideline for work to operate in the same direction under the
framework of ethics, marality, and honesty for order eguality This is to build a foundation and maintain the image
of the company. To be an organization with sustainable growth which covers various subjects that the company
pays attention It consists of the following main topics:

1. Respect for laws and human rights principles

2. Supporting the political sector

3, Conflicts of Interest and Conflicts of Interest

4. Confidentiality of data storage and use of inside information

5. Treatment of customers and Consumers

& Treatment of competitors

7. Treatment of Sharehalders

8. Purchasing, Procurement and Treatment of Suppliers

9. Responsibility to the community and society as a whole

10. Treatment of Directors management and staff

1. Internal Control and Internal Audit

12, Receiving, giving gifts property ar any other benefit

13 SAFETY, HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENT

14. non-infringerment of intellectual property or copyright and the use of information technology systems

You can study the business ethics at the company's website at
httpeyfinvestor forth.cothipolicies_and_important_documents!

6.5 Key changes and developments in policies, practices, and
corporate governance systems over the past year.

6.5.] Important changes and developments in corporate governance
The Board of Directors recognizes the changes in the economic and social landscapes and takes into account the
interests of all stakeholders, as well as overseeing the company's growth alongside sustainable business operations.
Therefare, the Board places great importance on defining and reviewing the vision, mission, strategies, charters,
policies, governance practices, and other relevant matters.
In the fiscal year 2024, the Board approved revisions to the charters, policies, and wvarious documents to align with
the business strategies and adhere to the principles of good corporate governance. The following revised charters
and peolicies can be summarized as follows:

1. Code of Business Conduct

2. Corporate Governance Policy

3 Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy

4. Insider Information and Securities Trading Policy

Additionally, the company has considered the appointment of a director responsible for corporate

governance and sustainability to oversee the developrment of sustainable practices (ESG) across all dimensions,
including environmenital, social, and governance aspects. The company has also undertaken efforts to create a
succession plan for top-level executive positions.

6.53.2 Unaccomplished Principles of Good Corporate Governance for Listed
Companies 2017

In 2023, the Board of Directors considered and reviewed the implementation of the Principles of Good Corporate
Gowvernance for Listed Companies 2017 (CC Code) to the business context of the Company and recorded
unaccomplished principles and reasons as part of the Board of Directors’ resolution. The Company's unaccomplished
principles and reasons are as follows:



The Board of Directors should clearly state the term of the A Board of Directors, namely, Mr. Sanit Vorapanya, 15 an
independent directar in the corporate governance policy far na independent directar for a period of mare than 9 years. Office
more than 9@ years without exception, of the SEC. However, the Board of Directors has considered

that kAr. Sarut U'orapaﬁya has gualifications in accordance
with the gualifications of the independent committee of the
SEC

The Board of Directors should evaluate the annual performance Because the top executive (CEQ) of the erganization isin the
of the CEOD of the organization. board of directors and the Company arranges for an

evaluation of the Board of Directors on a group basis

The board of directors should consider appointing a corporate The company isin the process of establishing a sustainability
sustainability committes wirking group that will be able 1o begin operations next
year.

6.3.5 Other Practices Following the Principles of Good Corporate

Governance in Support of the Assessment.

The company has been assessed according to the Corporate Governance Report of Listed Companies Year 2024
(Corporate Covernance Report: COR) by the Thai Institute of Directors (I0OD). The evaluation results showed that the
company had a COR score of very good or 4. Dow and the company received the ACGM Checklist, with a score of 95

percent.

In addition to the significant developrments in corporate governance disclosed in Section 8.3, the company has also
adhered to the principles of good corporate governance in other areas as follows:

1.

Promoting Shareholder Rights and Ensuring Equal Treatment of Shareholders

- Shareholders' Meeting of the Company

The company held one shareholders' meeting, the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders, on April 26, 2024,
at 200 PM, at the meeting room on the 7th floor of Fort Smart Service Public Company Limited, 256
Phaholyothin Road, Samsen Nai, Phayathai, Bangkok. All directors attended the meeting.

Before the shareholders' meeting, in order to provide sufficient time for shareholders to review the
information, the company assigned the Thailand Securities Depositary Co, Ltd, as the company's registrar, to
send out invitations and meeting documents at least 7 days before the meeting and at least 14 days before the
meeting if there were special agenda iterms. These documents aimed to provide shareholders with sufficient
information for voting on each agenda iterm and to facilitate the exercise of their rights, as follows:

The facts, reasons, and opinions from the Board of Directors for each agenda item.

Important information, such as individual director biographies and the definition of independent directors
for considering the election of directors who are retiring by rotation, and details of directors’ and
subcommittee members' remuneration for approval,

Meeting procedures and proxy voting, with the aption for shareholders to grant proxies to independent
directors. The proxy forms allow shareholders to specify their voting preferences.

The company emphasized respect for shareholder rights, ensuring that no additional agenda items were
added or significant information changed unexpectedly during the meeting.

Invitations and meeting documents were published on the company's website (Wwww.lforth.coth) in
adwvance, and the company notified the Stock Exchange of Thailand about the publication to allow
shareholders sufficient time to review the information.

On the Day of the Shareholders’ Meeting
The company ensured transparency and a convenient process for shareholders to attend the mesting and
engage actively. The following practices were adopted:

The company invited directors, senior executives, and auditors 1o attend the meeting and address
shareholder questions. In 2024, all 10 directors attended the meeting (100% of the total directors).

The meeting was conducted according to the agenda that had been pre-announced in the invitation.

Equal opportunity was given for shareholders to ask questions and express opinions an each agenda item.
The Chairman addressed all inquiries, and the meeting was fully docurmented.

The Chairman allocated adequate time and conducted the meeting in a transparent and appropriate
manner, with voting and resolutions for each agenda item.

WVating was done using ballots for each agenda itermn to ensure transparency and verifiability. Each share
carried one vote, and the majority vote was the decision for regular agenda items. In case of a tie, the
Chairman had a casting vote in addition to their vote as a shareholder. For special agenda items, voting
followed the company's regulations or relevant laws.
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*  Shareholders with special interests in any agenda item were prohibited from voting on that specific item.

& Anexternal legal advisor was hired as an Inspector to monitor the voting results and resolutions.

After the Shareholders' Meeting

In 2024, the company announced the resolutions from the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders via the
Stock Exchange of Thailand on the next business day. The resolutions included the voting results for each
agenda itemn, a list of directors and executives who attended the meeting, and detailed results of wotes for or
against each agenda itern, along with any key issues raised by shareholders and the company's responses.
These were provided 1o the Stock Exchange of Thailand and relevant authorities within 14 days from the
meeting date, and were published on the company's investor relations website (wwwinvestorforth.coth) to
allow shareholders to verify the information.

2. Disclosure of Information and Transparency
The company acknowledges the importance of providing accurate, complete, transparent, and timely
information, both financial and non-financial. To support decision-making for shareholders and investors,
the company discloses information through various channels, such as the Stock Exchange of Thailand,
the Securities and Exchange Commission, press releases, and the company’s website

https/fiwwwiinvestorforth.coth.

Imvestor Meetings and Events
The company organized two live-streamead investor meetings as part of the SET Opportunity Day with the
Stock Exchange of Thailand and 16 company and factory visits (Company Visit and Site Visit).



7. Corporate Governance Structure and
Information of Board of Directors,

Sub-Committees, Management, Employees,
and Others

7.1 Corporate Governance Structure Diagram

Board of Directors
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72 Board of Directors
7.2.1 The Composition of the Board of Directors

The company's board of directors consists of a total of 10 members, divided as follows:

*  Smale directors, accounting for 50% of the total board members,
¢  5Sfermale directors, accounting for 50% of the total board members.

The breakdown of the directors is as follows:

¢ 4 independent directors, accounting for 40% of the total board members,
*  Gexecutive directors, accounting for 0% of the total board members,
e 4 non-executive directors, accounting for £0% of the total board members.

b & 28
male female
% (%ﬂ directors % (%j directors 40%
% 50% % 50% executive directors

—

7.2.2 The Board of Directors and the Authorized Director

The Board of Directors consists of 10 members as of December 31, 2024.

1. Mr. Sanit Vorapunya Chairman of the Board of Directors Independent Director Jul 8, 2005
2 Mr. Sakda Sreesangkaom Dhrector/ Independent Director 24 Apr, 2023
Chairman of Audit Committes/

Chairman of Nomination and Remunaration
Committee

3 Mrs. Vilasinee Puddhikarant Director/ Independent Director 23 Apr, 2018
Audit Committee/
Momination and Remurnsration Cormrmittes

4. Mrs. Porntip Lerttanongsak Diirector f Independent Director 23 Apr, 2018
Audit Committese/
Chairman of the Risk Management Committes

5 Mr. Pongechai Amatanon Director/ Director Jul 8, 2005

Risk Management Committes)/ Chairman of

Executive Camrmittas
6. Mr. Boonya Tuntipanichapun Diirector/ Director Jul 8, 2005
Risk Management Committes/
Executive Committee
7. Ms Pichamon Amatanon Directorf Director Mo 12 2021
Risk Management Committes/
Momination and Rermuneration Committes/
Exgcutive Committee
8 Mr. Kaelic Amatanon Dhrector Director Jul 8, 2005
2 Mrs. Matinee Wandeepirom Director/ Cirector Jul 8, 2003

Momination and Remuneration Committes



10. Ms. Moparat Siripongpreeda Director Cirector 23 Apr, 2018

Authorized Director for the Cormpany
Authorized directors consist of Mr. Pongchai Amatanen, signed with Mr. Kaelic Amatanon or Mrs. Matines Wandeepirom
Ms. Pichamon Amatancon, totaling 2 persons and the Company’s seal.

Qualifications of Company Directars

All cormpany directors are fully gualified according to the Public Limited Cornpanies Act B.E. 2535 (including
amendments) or other related laws and do not have untrustworthy characteristics according to the regulations of
the Office of the Securities and Exchange Commission (a) Securities and Exchange Commission (SET) and the
Stock Exchange of Thailand Including the regulations of the company

7.2.3 Roles and Responsibilities of the Board of Directors
Scope of duties and responsibilities of the Board of Directors

1. The Beard of Directors must perform duties in accordance with the laws, the Company’s cibjectives, and
regulations as well as the resolution of the shareholders' meeting with honesty and carefulness to protect the
interests of the company.

2. Arrange for an annual general meeting of shareholders within & months from the end of the accounting
period of the Company.

3. Arrange for a Board meeting at least once in 3 months' time.

4. Arrange for the Company balance sheet and profit and loss statement at the end of the accounting pericd
which i1s audited by the auditor and presented Lo the shareholders' meeting for consideration and approval.

5  The director may appaint any other person to operate the business of the Company under the control of the
director or may authorize such person to have the authority as the director deems appropriate and the Board of
Directors may cancel, revoke, change or amend such authority as deemed appropriate. In this regard, the
authorization must not have the characteristics of giving power to the attorney to consider and approve items
that may have conflicts, have interests, or have conflicts of interest with the company except for approval of items
that are in accordance with the policies and criteria approved by the Board of Directors.

6. Determine policies and directions of the Company's operations including effectively and efficiently supervising

the management to comply with the policy and strategies defined.

Determine the vision, mission, policies, and business strategies of the Company and review them every year

Consider approving the Company's investment and annual budget.

Supervise the Company's operation 1o comply with the Securities Exchange Act including the regulations and

requirement of the Securities and Exchange Commission i.e, connected transactions or acquisition or disposal

of assets according to the regulations of the Stock Exchange of Thailand and the laws related to the business
of the Company.

10. Consider the management structure, appeint the Board of Executive Directors, Chief Executive Officer, and other
sub-committees, as well as evaluate the performance of Chief Executive Officer in order to follow up the progress
of achieverment of the Company's chjectives.

1, Directors must inform the Company directly and indirectly of any conflicts of interest, such as holding shares of
the company or affiliated companies in increasing or decreasing numbers, etc.,

However, the director must not conduct business or become a partner or to be a director in other juristic persons

that operate the same business and compete with the business of the Company, whether for their own benefit or

for others unless he has informed the shareholders' meeting prior to the appaintment,

© © =

Scope of approval authority of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors has the scope of authority to approve various matters as summarized below:
«  Consider administrative worle

« Consider approving of the business plan and business strategy.

= Consider and approve the annual budget.

« Consider and approve vision and mission.

« Consider approving various matters in the management of decision making.

« Consider operational tasks.

= Consider and approve various policies.

« Consider and approve the application for permission from the government agency.

« Consider and approve various matters as specified by the Public Limited Companies Act.

Role of the Chairman

Role of the Chairman covers the duties mentioned above and other mentionad below:
* Acting as Chairman of the Beoard of Directors Meeting.

« Casting vote in the event that the Board of Directors' meeting has 2 equal votes.

« Calling the Board of Directors meeting.

« Acting as the chairman of the shareholders' mesting.
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73 Sub-Committees

7.3.1 Information of Sub-Committees

The Board of Directars has appointed subcommittees to assist in closely overseeing the Company's business
operations in each area and Propose opinions to the Board of Directors The subcommittee consists of 1. Audit
Committee, 2. Risk Management Committee, 3. Nomination and Remuneration Committes, and 4.Executive
Committee. With authority, duties and roles and responsibilities as follows:

1. Audit Committee

An office term of Audit Committee is same as the Board of Directors. The Company has determined the

qualifications of the Audit Committee as fallows:

1. Being an independent director,

2. Not being a director assigned by the Board of Directors to make decisions on the operation of the Company,
the parent company, subsidiary company, associated company, same-level subsidiary or juristic person that
may hawve conflict of interest.

3. Not being a director of the parent company, subsidiary company and subsidiary in the same order.

4. There are at least 1 mamber of the Audit Committee with sufficient knowledge and experience to review the
reliability of financial staterments.

The Audit Cormmittee has provided or called the mesting as it deems appropriate at least 1 time per quarter

[4 times per year] with clear agenda for the meeting in advance and submit meeting documents to the Audit

Committee and attendees in advance in order for the Audit Committee to have time to consider various matters

or requesting additional information for consideration. The meeting agenda will cover various rmatters as required

by law and / or regulatory agencies, anncuncements and as assigned by the Board of Directors,

Seope of duties and responsibilities of Audit Committes

1. Review to ensure that the Company has accurate and adequate financial reports,

2. Review the internal control systern and internal audit system that are appropriate and effective and consider
the independence of the internal audit unit as well as approve the appointment, transfer, terminate the
ermployment of the head of the internal audit department or any other agency responsible for internal audit.

3. Review the Company’s compliance with the law on securities and exchange, regulations of the Stock
Exchange of Thailand and laws related to the business of the cormpany.

4. Consider, select, propose to appeoint and terminate employment of the person who is independent to act as
the auditor of the company including offering compensation for such persons to the Board of Directors in
order to provide an opinion to the shareholders' meeting. However, there shall be meetings held with the
auditor without the management attending the meeting at least 1time per year.

5. Consider connected transactions or transactions that may have conflicts of interest to be in accordance with
the laws and regulations of the Stock Exchange of Thailand and the Office of the SEC in order to ensure that
such transactions are reasonable and highly beneficial to the Company.

6. Prepare the report of the Audit Committee to be disclosed in the Company's annual report which must be
signed by the Chairman of the Audit Committee and contain at least the following information:

(1)  pinions on the accuracy, completaness, and reliability of the Company's financial report,

{2)  Opinions on the adequacy of the Company's internal contral systern,

(3 Opinions on the compliance with the law on securities and exchange, the Exchange's regulations, or the
laws relating to the Company's business,

(4]  Opinions on the appropriateness of an auditor,

(5] Opinicns on the transactions that may lead to conflicts of interests,

[B)  The number of the audit committee meetings, and the attendance of such meetings by each committee
mermber,

[7] Opinion or overview comment received by the audit committee from its performance of duties in
accordance with the charter,

[8) Other transactions which, according to the audit committee's opinion, should be known by the
shareholders and general investors, subject to the scope of duties and responsibilities assigned by the
Company's board of directors.

7. Perform any other tasks as assigned by the Board of Directors with the approval of the Audit Committee.

8. In performing the duties of the Audit Committee, if there are any doubts found or suspected of having the
following transactions ar actions which may have a significant impact on the financial position and operating
results of the Company, the Audit Committee shall report to the Board of Directors of the Company for
rectification within the time that the Audit Committee deems appropriate.

[ Transactions that may cause conflicts of interest.

[2) Corruption or irregularities or significant defects in the internal control system.

[3) Wiolation of the law on securities and exchange, requlations of the Stock Exchange of Thailand or laws
related to the business of the Company.

2. Risk Management Committee

An office term of Risk Management Commitlee is same as the Board of Directors. The Company has determined

the qualifications of the Risk Management Committee as follows:

1. Being the executive director of the company and/or experts and was appointed by the Board of Directors.

2. The committee consists of at least 2 directors with at least 1 independent director.

3. The Risk Management Committee shall call the meeting when seen as appropriate (at least 1 time a year) and
has power to call for an additional meeting as necessary.



Scope duties and responsibilities of the Risk Management Committee

1.

w

4 o

B.

3

Define the risk management policy and set the overall risk management framework of the Company which
covers various types of risks especially the strategic risk, operational risk, financial and accounting risk,
compliance risk and information system risk, etc.

Lay down such strategies in line with the risk management policies by assessing, monitoring and
controlling the Company’s overall risks to stay at an acceptable level,

Support and encourage cooperation in the Company's overall risk management; and review the sufficiency
of the risk management policy and system, as well as the effectiveness of the system and compliance with
the policy.

Provide an assessment and analysis of damage that may occur systematically and continuously in both
normal and crisis situations to ensure that risk surveys cover all processes of business operations.

Support and develop risk management continuously throughout the organization and comply with
international standards,

Regularly report to the Board of Directors on what needs to be improved to comply with the policies and
stratagies,

The Risk Management Committee can hire external consultants to seek advice at the Company's expense
which must be approved by the Board of Directors.

Perform other duties as assigned by the Board of Directors.

Nomination and Remuneration Committee

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee is egual to the term of office of a director of the Company.
The Company has determined the gqualifications of the Nomination and Remuneration Committes as follows:

1.

2

3.

Being the executive director of the Company and / or experts and was appointed by the Board of Directors.
The Committee must consist of at least 3 directors, with independent directors not less than half of the whole
cammittee,

The Chairman of the Noemination and Remuneration Committee should be an independent director to be able
ta perform duties and express opinions independeantly.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee shall provide or call the meeting as it deems appropriate at least
2time a year and has power to call for additional meetings as necessary as well as perform duties as assigned by
the Board of Directors,

Scope of duties and responsibilities of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee

Mominating

1.

Deterrmine criteria and policies for recruiting the Company's directors and sub-cornmittees by considering the
appropriateness of the nurnber, structure and compaosition of the board, determine the gualifications of directors
to propose to the Board of Directors and / or propose to the shareholders' meeting, as the case may be.

Recruit, select and propose persons 1o be directors of the Company, Sub-cormmittes, top management and
cormpany secretary present to the Board of Directors Recruit, select and propose persons to be directors of the
Company, Sub-committes, top management and cormpany secretary present to the Board of Directors mesting
and/or shareholders to consider and approve in case of vacancy due to completion of the term and in other cases.
Perform any other duties related to the determination of remuneration as assigned by the Board of Directors.

Remuneration

Propose a remuneration pelicy, guidelines for payment remuneration and other benefits for directors in the
Board of Directors, Sub-committee and senior management to be appropriate with the responsibilities in
accordance with the Company's performance and market conditions are always.

Cetermine the necessary and appropriate remuneration, both monetary and non-monetary of the Board of
Cirectors on an individually each year by considering the appropriateness of obligations, responsibility,
performance and comparison with companies in similar businesses and benefits expected from the directors
to propose to the Board of Directors for approval and present to the shareholders’ meeting for approval.
Report an policies, principles / reasons for determining remuneration for directors and executives according to
the regulations of the Stock Exchange of Thailand by disclozing in the annual information disclosure form
[56-1) and the annual report,

Perform any ather duties related to the determination of remuneration as assigned by the Board of Directors

4, Executive Committee

Scope of duties and responsibilities of Executive Committee
To operate and manage the business of the Company in accordance with the objectives, regulations, policies,
rules, requirerments, orders and resolutions of the board of directors and/or the shareholders' meeting
resolution in all respects,
To determine policies, business plans, directions, strategies, budgets and the main management structure
and various administrative powers of the Company in business operations including monitoring and
following up the Company's performance to achieve the goal,
Consider the annual budget allocation as proposed by the management before proposing to the Board of
Directors for approval including considering and approving changes to the annual budget. If thereis no
Board of Directors meeting, it has to be presented to the Board of Directors for acknowledgment at the next
meeting.
Cansider and approve the withdrawal of money to conduct business as usual including approving important
investment expenditures as specified in the annual budget as assigned by the Board of Directors or as the
Board of Directors had previously approved in principle.
To be a management advisor on matters relating to financial policy, marketing, personnel management, and
other operations.
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Define organizational structure, arganizational management power including the appointment, hiring,
transfer, determination of wages, compensation, bonus, executive level employees and termination of
employing.

To be able to authorize one or more directors or any other person to perforrm any act which is under the
control of the Executive Commitlee or may authorize such person with power as the Executive Caommittee
deems appropriate and within the time that the Executive Committee deems appropriate which the Board of
Directors may cancel, withdraw, change or amend the authorized person or that power as appropriate.

8. Take other actions as assigned by the Board of Directors from time to time.

However, the authority of the Executive Committee does not include approval of any items that may hawve conflicts or
any iterns that the Executive Committee or a connected person to the Executive Committee have an interest or
benefits or any other manner that has a conflict with the company or subsidiary according to the rules of the Stock
Exchange of Thailand. The approval of such transactions must be submitted to the Board of Directors and f or the
shareholders' meeting for consideration and approval as specified by the Company's regulations or related laws,

~]

732 Name and Position of Sub-Committees

1. Audit Committee

As at Decernber 31, 2024 the Audit Committee consists of 3 members as follows:

However, the third audit committee has sufficient knowledge and experience to be able to review the reliability of
the financial statements

1. Mr, Sakda Sreesangkom Chairman of the Audit Committes
2 Mrs. Vilasinee Puddhikarant Audit Committes
3 Mrs. Parnthip Lerttanongsak Audit Committes

2. Risk Management Committee
As at 31 December 2024, the Risk Management Committee consists of 5 memibers as follows:

1. Mrs. Forntip Lerttanongsak Chairman of the Risk Management Committee
2 Mr. Pongchai Amatanon Risk Management Committee
3. Mr. Boonya Tuntipanichapun Risk Management Committee
4. Ms. Pichamon Amatanon Risk Management Committes

3. Momination and Remuneration Committee
As at Il December 2024, the Nomination and Rermuneration Committee consists of 4 members as follows:

1. WMr Sakda Sreesanghkom Chairman of the Namination and Raemuneration Cammittee
2 Mrs Vilasinee Puddhikarant Nomination and Renmuneration Committes

3 Mrs Matines Wandeepirom Momination and Remuneration Committos

4. Ms. Pichamon Amatanon Risk Management Committee

4, Executive Committee
As at 31 Decemmber 2024, Executive Committee consists of 3 members as follows:

1. Mr. Pongchai Amatanon Chairman of Executve Committes
2 Mr. Boonya Tuntipanichapun Executive Committes
3 Ms. Pichamon Amatanon Executive Committesa



7.4 Management
7.41 Name and Position of Executives

As of 31 December 2024, the Executive consists of 5 members as follows:

Mr. Pongchal Amatanon ~hief Executive Officer

2 Mr. Pattanan Amatancn Chief Business Development Officer

3. Ms. Pichamon Amatanon Chief Operation Officer

4, Mr. Arin Jamnaree Accounting Director

5 Ms. Pratchaya Somyapukdes Finance Director

7.4.2 Policy of Remuneration to Executives

Guidelines for determining the remuneration of directors and senior management.

Directors' rermuneration is determined by the duties and scope of responsibility of the directors. including the
performance of the directers and the performance of the company in accordance with the rate of compensation
in the market or industry Directors' remuneration is approved by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee
and presented to the Board of Directors. to consider before proposing to the shareholders' meeting to approve the
rernuneration of top executives in accordance with the principles and policies set by the Momination and
Rermuneration Cormnmittes The compensation is at an appropriate level comparable to that of the same industry
taking into account the obligations and responsibilities which is linked to the performance of the company and
the performance of each senior management to be able to motivate and retain quality personnel The annual
compensation and bonuseas for senior management have certain criteria to be considered, by considering the
Company's operating results Overall economic conditions and individual performance.

7.4.3 Executive Remuneration

The executive compensation of the Fort Group of Companies can be summarized as follows.

+  Monetary Remuneraticn 2 T0B5 o723
Exec Eermuneraton 12 6 12
(Million Baht)
MNumiber of Executive Director
{Persons)

Salary, Social Security
Fund, Provident Fund,

Salary, Social Security
Fund, Provident Fund,

Salary, Social Security
Fund, Provident Fund,

Fringe Benefit

Bonus, gas and car
maintenance

Bonus, gas and car
rmaintenance

Bonus, gas and car
maintenance

. Orchier Remuneration
Other welfares

Executive transportation
and mobile phone

Executive tr;"upc'ulior

and mobile phone

Executive transportation
and mabile phone

7.5 Employees

As of 2023, Forth and its subsidiaries company's total nurmber of employees is 2864 people, compos
and 1516 males. The total number of employees
provident fund Social Security Fund ace

Number of emmployees and compensation
Number of ermiployees, excluding committee and executive managerment, is divided by business group

compensation is 103151 million baht, inc
sident insurance, life and health insurance, etc,

uding

d of 1348 females
salary, annual bonus,

1. EMS Business Group

2. Enterprize Solutions Business CGroup

3. Smart Services Business Group

44957
699 34012
759 24182

1,645 50958
714 30915
24223

1,645 50958
714 30415
843 24223

3,202 1,080.96
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76 Other Information

7.6.1 Other Key Positions

Corporate Secretary

The Board of Directors Meeting No. 3/2017 on August 11, 2017, resolved to approve the appointment of

Mr. Arin Jamnaree, Director of VP of Finance and Accounting. to hold the position of company secretary According to
the Nomination Committee meeting and set the compensation offered.

- Details appear in Attachrment 1 Details of Directors, Executives, Controlling Person, Person in charge of Finance
and Accounting, Head of Controller and Company Secretary -

Accounting and Finance Supervision

Mr, Arin Jarmmnares, VP of Finance and Accounting, is a person who has complete qualifications and is suitable for
halding the position of the highest responsible person in the accounting and finance department. Itis alsoa
person who is an accountant who has qualifications and conditions of being an accountant in accordance with the
rules prescribed in the announcerment of the Department of Business Development.

Head of Internal Audit

The Audit Committes Meeting No. 22019, on May 13, 2019, appointed Mr. Kanop Sae-Tang as the Internal Audit
Manager. Acting as Head of Internal Audit Department It is responsible for evaluating the efficiency and sufficiency of
the internal control systern and auditing the booking operations throughout the crganization. including affiliated
companies.

Details appear in Attachment 3 Details of Head of Internal Audit -

7.6.2 Head of Investor Relations

The company has established a central department, namely the Investor Relations Department, to serve as a channel
for disclosing and clarifying the company's information. The responsibility for overseeing the Investor Relations
Department has been assigned to Mrs. Prachaya Somyaphakdee, the Director of the Finance Department. Interested
parties and relevant individuals can contact the Investor Relations Department for information, as detailed below Ms,
Kanthanat Chumworrathayi - Investor Relations

1053/1 Phaholyothin Road, Phayathai,

Phayathai District, Bangkok 10400

Phone: 0-2265-6700, Extension 1318

Fax: 0-2265-6799

Website: [http:/fwwecinvestor.forth.co thl(http:/fwww.investor forth.coth)

Email: investor@forth.co.th

7.6.3 Auditor's Remuneration

Audit fee
The Company and its subsidiaries paid audit fees for 2025 to EY Office Limited amounting to Baht 11,650,000

Audit fee of the Company 2,000,000

Audit fee of subsidiaries and associates 9650,000

1,650,000

Mon-audit fee
- Mone -



8. Corporate Governance Report
8.1Summary of the Board of Directors Performance

The Beard of Directors has determined and reviewed to approve the Company’s vision, mission, strategy, goal,
business plan, and budget, as well as supervise the Management to efficiently implement according to the
determined business plan and budget by taking into account the interests of all parties of stakeholders, not
seeking interests for themselves and any person, not taking any actions that conflict or compete the interests of
the Company and affiliated companies by adhering the good ethics for duty performance with integrity and
overseeing the entity operation according to the objectives, Articles of Association of the Company as well as laws,
rules, and regulations of the SET and the SEC. The Board of Directors has rmanaged the Company to have an
effective internal control and internal audit systerns, and risk management measures, and monitor the executions
in such matters by the Audit Committee, and regularly report to the Board of Directors’ Meating.

Accountable

Transparent

Responsive

i
Equitable

. . nd Inclusive
cffective” and :

efficient

The Beoard of Directors has reviewed the policies and practices related to corporate governance and other
relevant areas to enhance the company's governance standards in line with changes in the economic, social, and
ervironmental landscape, aswell as the company's business expansion for sustainable growth, The key
achievernents in 2024 are as follows:

e Reviewed and approved the vision, mission, business ethics, the Board of Directors' charter, the sub-
committees’ charters, the corporate governance policy, and other related policies. The focus was on
improving the effectiveness of governance, risk management, and enhancing competitiveness to align
with the goals and business strategies of the Fort Group, in accordance with good corporate governance
principles, ensuring sustainable growth. The policies were communicated to the company’s employees
and relevant stakeholders to ensure efficient and effective management.

s+ Set the meeting schedule inadvance each year, with the Company Secretary notifying the meeting dates
in the fourth quarter of the preceding year, to allow directors to allocate their time and attend meetings
Invitations and supporting documents were sent at least 7 days in advance to give the directors enough
time to review the materials before the meetings, except in urgent cases. In 2024, the company held 7
Board of Directors meetings and organized 1 meaeting for non-executive directors without management
participation to discuss the company's corporate governance and sustainability (ESG) plans. The results of
the meeting were reported to the Board of Directors for acknowledgment

811 Momination, development, and assessment of the Board of Directors’ duty performance

The Beoard of Directors plays a crucial role in setting the strategy, business operations, and governance to ensure
ranagement follows good corporate governance principles for sustainable growth. The policies and practices
regarding the selection, developrment, and evaluation of the Board's performance are outlined in section 611
“Policies and Practices Regarding the Board of Directors,”
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Criteria for Selecting Independent Directors
An independent director refers to a director who is independent from major shareholders or a group of major
shareholders and meets the following qualifications:

1. Shareholding Limitation: The individual holds no more than 1% of the total shares with voting rights in the
company, its parent company, subsidiaries, affiliates, or any other legal entity that might have conflicts of
interest, including shares held by related parties,

2. Non-Executive Role: The individual is not a director assigned to manage the day-to-day operations of the
business and is not authorized to sign binding agreements for the company, its employees, contractors,
salaried consultants, or any individual with current controlling power in the company, its parent
company, subsidiaries, affiliates, or any conflicting entities, unless at least 2 years have passed since
ceasing to hold such roles.

3. Nen-Independent Role in Group Companies: The individual is not an independent director of companies
within the group, including the parent company, subsidiaries, and companies in which the parent or
subsidiary holds more than 50% of the shares, and which are registered companies.

4. No Familial or Spousal Relationship: The individual does not have blood relations or registered
relationships (such as parent, spouse, sibling, or children, including the spouse of a child) with executives,
major shareholders, centrolling persons, or individuals nominated as executivas or controlling parsons of
the company or its subsidiaries,

5 No Business Relationships with Conflicting Entities: The individual does not have business relaticnships
with the company, its parent company, subsidiaries, affiliates, or any person who may have conflicts of
interest, in away that could impair the independent judgment, unless at least 2 years have passed since
ceasing such relationships.

& No Other Conflicts of Interest: The individual does not have any characteristics that would prevent them
from offering independent opinicns on the company's operations.

These qualifications for independent directors are aligned with the criteria set by the Securities and Exchange
Commission [SEC), except for itern 3, which is stricter than the SEC's guidelines for the independence of the Board
of Directors.

8111 Nomination and appointment of the directors
The Board of Directors has assigned the Nomination and Remuneration Cornmittese to evaluate the qualifications
of individuals for director positions. This evaluation is based on the qualifications and prohibitions outlined in the
Public Limited Companies Act, the Securities and Exchange Act, announcements from the Securities and
Exchange Commission, as well as any relevant regulations, rules, and the company's criteria for independent
directors. In addition, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee will consider selecting independent
directors from qualified individuals with the necessary attributes, knowledge, expertise, and experience as per the
Board Skill Matrix, ensuring alignment with the cormpany’s business direction and strategy. The committee then
presents the recommendations to the Board of Directors and/or shareholders for approval,
Director Momination Process for 2024 In 2024, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, consisting of two
independent directors out of the total four members, was responsible Tor selecting and reviewing individuals wheo
meet the gqualifications outlined in the company's regulations. The cormmittee also proposed qualified candidates
to ensure & professional and diverse Board, taking into account the Board's structure, size, and compaosition, in
alignment with the company's business strategy. The committee recommended reappointing existing directors
whose terms had expired for anather term, with the number of reappointments matching the number of expiring
terms, and submitted the proposal to the Board of Directors for consideration. The list of proposed directors was
then presented to the shareholders for election in accordance with the company's election procedures.
Additionally, the Momination and Remuneration Committee provided shareholders with the opportunity to
propose qualified candidates for the director position. For the director elections, the company allowed
sharehaolders to vote for each individual candidate using a non-cumulative voting system, where shareholders cast
votes for each nominated director one at a time based on the total votes they possess.
Diversity of the Board skills

The Company has prepared a Board Skills Matrix for the Board of Directors and will annually
review together with consideration of assessment on the Board of Directors' duty performance for
maximum benefits on the preparation of the criteria for nomination of new directors and
development of current directors. The details for the Board skills are as follows:

In the vear 2024, the Board of Directors reviewed the company's Board Skill Matrix to assess the skills,
knowledge, and experience of the current board members. This tool also served as a guide for
determining the approach to selecting new board members that aligns with the company's
strategies. The findings can be summarized as follows:



Leadership

Experience in a senior management position in a listed
company, large or complex crganization or governmaent
body.

Corporate governance

Experience in and commitment 1o the highest standards
of corporate governance and includes experience as a
director or senior executive in a listed company, large
arganization, or government body.

Financial acumen

Understanding of financial statements and reporting, key
drivers of financial performance, corporate finance, and
internal financial controls.

Do
Do
Do
Do
Do
Do
Do
Do
Do
Do

Do
Do
Do
Do
Do
Do
Do
Do
Do
Do

Do
No
Do
Do
Do
Do
No
Do
Do
Do

Risk management

Experience in identification,  monitonng and
management of matarial financial and non-financial risks
and understanding, implementation and aversight of risk
managerment frameworks and contrals,

Digital, data and technology

Experience and expertise in  identifying, assessing,
implementing, and leveraging digital technologies and
other innovations, understanding the use of data and
analytics, and respending to digital disruption.

Do
Do
Do
Do
Do
Do
Do
Do
Do
Do

Do
Do
Do
Do
Do
Do
Do
Do
Do
Do

People and culture

Experignce in overseeing workplace culture, people
management, development, and succession planning,
setting  remuneration  frameworks and  promoting
diversity and inclusion.

Strateqgy

Experience in corporate planning, including identifying
and analyzing strategic opportunities and  threats
developing, implementing, and  delivering  strategic
cbjectves and monitoring performance against strategic
objectives.

Industrial, resources and infrastructure

Senior executive or non-executive director experience and
expertise in the industrial, resources or infrastructure
sectors, including project construction.

Do
Do
Do
Do
Do
Do
Do
Do
Do
Do

Do
Do
Do
Do
o
Do
Do
Do
Do
No

Do
Do
Do
Do
Do
Do
Do
Do
Do
Do

Regulatory and public policy

Experience in the management and oversight of
compliance with legal and regulatory reguirements
andfor experience in the developrment, implementation,
and review of regulatory and public policy, including
professional experience warking or interacting with
government and regulators,

Corporate sustainability and community engagement
Understanding and experience in sustainability best
practices to manage the impact of business operations cn
the emvironment and community and the potential
impact of climate change on business operations, and
expertise in community and stakeholder relations.

Do
No
Do
Do
Do
Do
No
Do
Do
Do

Do
Do
Do
Do
Do
Do
Do
Do
Do
Do

International experience

Experience in  international business, trade andfor
Investment at a senior executive level and exposure 1o
global markets and & range of different political,
regulatory, and business environments.

Qo 0
oo

Do
Do
Do
Do
Do
Do
Do
Do

£211.2 Executive Recruitment

In the process of selecting the highest-level executives, the Board of Directors is responsible for appointing the
Chief Executive Officer ([CEQ) based on the recommendations of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee.
The committee evaluates candidates who possess the necessary knowledge, skills, experience, and understanding
of the business, as well as the gualifications that will contribute to the company's operations, The selected
individual must be capable of achieving the cbjectives set by the Board of Directors,

Additionally, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee is tasked with overseeing the development of a
succession plan for the company's top executive positions, This plan is presented to the Board of Directors to
ensure continuity in aperations, allowing for smooth transitions without any interruption in management.

81.1.3 Development of Directors and Executives,

The Board of Directors encourages ongoing education and training to deepen directors'
understanding of the Company's business and relevant regulations, Moreover, the Board of Directors
also establishes a policy for encouraging every director, top executive, and company secretary to
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continuously attend the training of the Company's corporate governance from organizing in-house
training and training from other external institutions. In 2023, the directors and executives attended

the training and seminars in various courses that are useful for duty performance as follows:

Mrs, Porntip Lerttancngsak
Director
Audit Committes

Chairman of the Risk Management Committes

M. Sakda Sreesangkom
Director

Chairrman of Audit Committee
Chairman of Nomination and
Remuneration Committee
mrs, Vilasinee Puddhikarant
Director

Audit Committee

Mormination and Rermuneration
Committee

Ms, Phichamonchu Amatanon

« Participated in a seminar on the topic "Building
Immunity for Listed Companies with 3 Lines of Defense"

«  Altended the seminar for the Audit Committee on the
topic "Annual Audit Committee Seminar 2024"

+ Attended the seminar on "The Role and Duties of AC, 1A,
and CFO in Enhancing Corporate Covernance”

=  Participated in a seminar on issues and case studies
related to accounting and auditing of PO companies and
listed companies

« Completed training on the Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants

« Served as a speaker for the training course "Improving
Technical knowledge in Final Audit Procedures for 2023
and "Enhancing the Quality of the 2024 Annual Audit” for
AST Master Co, Ltd.

« Aftended the training on "Hot Issues for Directors" with
the topic "Empowering Boards: Enhancing Gowvernance,
Standards, and Financial Insights

- Artended the training on "Hot Issues for Directors” with
the topic "Empowering Boards: Enhancing Covernance,
Standards, and Financial Insights"

=  Participated in the seminar on the topic "Building
Immunity for Listed Companies with 3 Lines of Defense”

Entreprensurial Finance Course, Class 36

Director
Risk Managerment Committes
Nomination and Remuneration
Committee
Executive Committee
Chief Operation Officer
M, Arin Jamnaree ¢ Reviewed the accounting standards relevant to ACT for the
VP. of Finance and Accounting year 2024
+ Attended the seminar on the topic: "The Role and Duties of AC,
1A, and CFO in Enbhancing Corporate Governance'
+« Participated in the seminar on the topic "ESG Bond: Issuance
of Debt Instrurnents for Sustainatbility”
« Completed training on "Dividend Distribution®
* Attended the training "Prohibited Expenses: A Thorn in the
Side of Entreprensurs”
+ Completed training on "Cybersecurity & Risk Management for
CFOs"

81.).4 The Board’s Self-Evaluation
Directors Evaluation
The Beoard of Directors approved the Self-Assessment Form for Performance for 2024 The performance
evaluation of the Board of Directors is divided into three categories: 1).The self-assessment form for the Board of
Directors. 2) The self-assessment form for each sub-committee, 3) The self-assessment form for individual
rmembers of the Board and sub-committees. The criteria for evaluating the performance of the Board, both at the
committes level and individual level, cover the following key areas:
Collective Performance Evaluation
The collective performance evaluation consists of & topics:
Structure and Qualifications
Roles, Duties and Responsibilities
Meetings
Performing Duties
Relationship with the Executives
Self-Developrment and Executive Development,
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The Board of Directors’ Performance Evaluation

1. The Momination and Remuneration Committee considers evaluation forms and submits them to the Board of
Directors for approval.

2. The Beard of Directors conducts a collective self-evaluation at least once a year.

3. The Corporate Secretary collects evaluation forrms from directors, prepares a summary of results to be
proposed to the Board of Directors for consideration, and undergoes improvernents according to the Board of
Directors’ opinions (if any)

The results of the Beard of Directors’ individual perforrnance evaluation for the year 2024 got an excellent score

Sub-committees Performance Evaluation

The process for sub-committee's performance evaluation are as follows:

1. Each sub-committee prepares an evaluation form, of which the content covers meetings, and performance of
duties, The Normination and Rermuneration Committes then submits it to the Board of Directors for approval,

2. The Board of Directors conducts the evaluation at the committee and individual levels once a year.

3. The Secretary of each sub-committee collects evaluation forms from directors and prepares a summary of
results to be proposed to each sub-committee and then to the Board of Directors for consideration.

In the vear 2024, the company secretary reportad the surmmary of the performance evaluation of each committes

and individual directors on January 17, 2025,

List of Board Members Evaluation Format Grf;‘éi:%%zre Full CradefScore

Board of Directors Committee-level Evaluation

Individual Evaluation [Self-

Assessment)

Cross-Individual Evaluation [Peer

Assessment) - -
Audit Committee Committee-level Evaluation 4 4

Cross-Individual  Evaluation  (Peer

Assessment)
Momination and Cormmittee-level Evaluation 4 4
Remuneration Committee | Cross-Individual  Evaluation  (Peer

Assessment) - -
Risk Management Committee-level Evaluation & &
Committes Cross-Individual  Evaluation  [Peer

Assessment)

1.Results of Individual Performance Evaluation

The performance evaluation results of the Board of Directors for the year 2024 received an "Excellent” score.

2. Perfarmance of Sub-committees [Committee-level Evaluation)

The performance evaluation results of the sub-committess, including the Audit Committes, the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee, and the Risk Management Committee for the year 2024, received an "Excellent" score,
3. Individual Performance of the Committee Members

The results of the individual performance evaluation for the year 2024 received an "Excellent” scare.

2114 Performance Evaluation of the CEO and Executives

The company evaluates performance using Key Performance Indicators [(KPIs), which include the company's
overall performance, industry best practices from similar-sized companies, as well as alignment with the
responsibilities of the role, executive development, and the overall economic conditions.

812 Meeting Attendance and Remuneration of the Directors
8121 Summary of Board Meeting Attendance
In 2024, the Board of Directors was held for 7 meetings and 1 annual general meeting of shareholders.

Mr. Sanit Vorapunya Chairman of BOD ri n
Mr. Sakda Sreesangkom™ Diirector
Chairrman of the Audit Committes 7 1/ -

Chairman of Neminaticn and Rermuneration Committee

Mrs Wilasinee Puddhikarant Diirector
Audit Committes i 1

Momination and Remuneration Committee
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Mrs. Porntip Lerttanongsak Director

Audit Committese W7 141

Chairman of Risk Management Committee
Ms. Mopparat Siripongpreeda Director 7T 11

Mr. Pongehal Amatanon Director . i
) ) THT 11
Risk Management Committes
Ms. Phichamonchu Amatanon Diirector
Risk Management Committee 7 11

Nomination and Remuneration Committiese

Mr. Kaelic Amatanon Director 77 11
Mrs. Matinee Wandeepirom Chrector 4 N

Nomination and Remuneration Committes

Mr. Boonya Tuntipanichapun Director
i . i 11
Risk Management Comimitles

Rernuneration of Board of Directors and Sub-cormmittees

Criteria for Payment of Remuneration to Directors

The comparny's Board of Directors has appointed the Nomination and Compensation Committee to select
qualified individuals for the positions of director, subcommitiee members, and senior executives of the company.
The committee is also responsible for reviewing the compensation structure and criteria for directors and
subcommittees, which include the Audit Committes, Risk Management Committes, and the Momination and
Compensation Committee. In determining the compensation for directors and senior executives, factors such as
their duties, responsibilities, individual performance, and the overall perfermance of the company are considered,
ansuring alignment with market or industry standards.

The company has set the directors’ compensation in the form of meeting fees for 2ach meeting and an annual
bonus for non-executive directors. This compensation structure is presented to the Board of Directors and then
proposed to the shareholders for approval.

Rermuneration of the Directors. Directors remuneration approved by the 2024 Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders held on April 26, 2024

| Meeting allowance per meeting

Board of Directors
Chairman of the Board of Directors 33,000
Meamber of the Board of Directars 22,000
Audit Commities
Chairman of the Audit Committee 49,800
Member of the Audit Cammittee 46,200

Risk Management Committes

Chairrman of Risk Management Committee 15,000
Member of the Risk Management Committes 10,000
Nomination and Rermuneration Committee

Charrman of Mommmation and Remuneration 15000

Member of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee 10,000



2 Annual gratuity the amount of gratuity is not maore than Baht 1.5 million and shall be allocated to only the
non-executive directors.

Other remuneration - No additional compensation or benefits are provided to the comparny’s directars beyond
what is mentioned above-

Manetary remuneration The Company has paid remuneration to various committees in 2023 - 2024 as the following:

Mr, Sanit Veorapunya 606,000 639,000

Mr. Pongehai Amatanon 154,000 176,000 20,000 20,000
Mr. Boonya Tuntipanichapun 154,000 176,000 - - - - 20,000 20,000
Ms. Matinee Wandeeplrom 154,000 176,000 = = 20,000 30,000

Mr, Kaelic Amatanon 154,000 176,000 - - - - - -
s, Nopharat Siripongpreeda 154,000 176,000 247 500 18500 30,000 15,000

Mr. Sakda Sreesangkom 229,000 10,000 231,000 184,800 - - 30,000 30,000
Ms. Vilasinee Phuddikarant 529,000 551,000 - - 20,000 30,000 20,000 20,000
s, Pomthip Lerttanongsak 529,000 551,000 708 500 567,600 90,000 120000 90,000 a0 000
Ms. Phichamon Amatanon 154,000 176,000 - - - - - -

2,907,000 709,500 567,600 90,000

Jther compensation -MNone

summary Comparison of Directors' Monetary Compensation for 2022-2024:

2024 2023 2022
Remuneration Nurnber Arnount of Nurnber Armount of MNurmiber Armount of
of rhoney of Money of mal=latsl
pErsons persons persons

Meeting attendance fee
per session and Annual 0 INT 000 10 2907000 10 3,882,600
rermuneration

Other benefits None Mone MNone

8.1.3 Supervision of Subsidiaries, Associated, and Joint-Venture Companies
The Board of Directors uses its authority to oversee and manage the Company's subsidiaries and associates
according to the Company's objectives and Articles of Association, as well as in compliance to any resolutions
passed at shareholders’ meeting. The management and oversight is performed through the appointment of the
Board of Directors, or by authorizing any other persons if necessary, to perform the business operations in
compliance with the directions set by the Board of Directors to ensure good corporate governance and maximum
benefits for the Company and its shareholders.

The Cornpany’s Board of Directors will assign Chief Executive Officer to select and appoint eligible persons for the
member of the Board of Directors of the subsidiaries and associates. Those persons are to be the member of the
Company's Beoard of Directors. Selection criteria of the director position and management position included
qualification, skill and working experiences. The nominated persons shall operate and/or oversee the activities of
the subsidiaries and associates in accordance with the Company's policies and good corporate governance.
Furthermore, they have to comply with regulations regarding connacted transactions and the acquisition and
disposals of assets, preparing correct and reliable financial information and financial statements, and maintaining
sufficient and adequate internal control systems.

In the past year, the company has been monitoring to ensure compliance with good corporate governance
practices. The results of the maonitoring indicate that the company has fully adhered to the guidelines for good
corparate governance
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814 Monitoring the Implementation in Compliance of Corporate Governance

Policy and Guidelines

1. Monitoring of Conflicts of Interest

The Board of Directors has set a policy on conflict of interest by taking into account the maximum benefit of the
Company. Directors, executives, and employees are prohibited from engaging in any business that competes with
the Company and they have to avoid acts that create conflicts of interest. The persons who are involved or have
interest in the transaction must report to the Company about their relationship or interest in the transaction and
do not participate in the decision making as well as do not have authority to approve such transaction. If the
Company considers it to be an important transaction, the persons need to report to the Board for consideration
and approval as appropriate,

In the past year, the company provided training to directors, executives, and employees regarding the policy on
preventing conflicts of interest through board meetings, executive sessions, and communication channels for
employees, such as the company's news board.

2.  Control and Prevention of the Use of Inside Information
Forth Corporation Public Company Limited realizes the impertance of preventing the use of inside information.
The Company has formulated a policy forbidding the Board of Directors, executives, officers, and employees from
bringing information that may affect the Company's stock price, information that is disclosed and causes damage
or disadvantage to the Company, information that is confidential and important, inside information that has not
been released to the public, to disclese or seek benefits for oneself ar others whether directly or indirectly ar they
receive a return ar not, including not trading in the Company's securities using inside information, The Company
has set guidelines to prevent the use of inside information as follows:

Preventive Cuidelines for the Use of Inside Information

1. Educate directors and executives about their duty in reporting securities holdings and acquisition or disposition
of securities of ong's own, spouses and minor children to the Office of the Securities and Exchange Commission
and penalties under the Securities and Exchange Act, B.E. 2535 (1992) (including any amendments).

2. Assign directors and executives of the Company, including spouses and minor children to prepare and disclose a
report on securities holding and changes in the Company’s securities holdings to the Office of the Securities and
Exchange Commission and send a copy of this report to the Company on the same day the report is submitted to
the Office of the Securities and Exchange Commission, which must be within 3 business days.

3. Itis forbidden for directors, executives, officers, and employees knowing inside information about the Company's
performance and material inside information that affects or may affect the change in the securities price to trade
the Company's securities during a period of one month before the disclosure of the financial statements or inside
information to the public and the notification of that information to the Stock Exchange of Thailand.

4, Directors, executives, officers, and employees are prohibited from using the Company’s inside information that
has an impact or may affect the change in the price of the Company's securities, which have not been disclosed
to the public but they have known, for buying, selling, offering for purchase, offering for sale, or inducing other
persons to buy, sell, offer for purchase or sale of shares or other securities (if any], either directly or indirectly that
may cause damage to the Company, whether for one’s benefit or others, or revealing such facts for others to do
o, regardless of whether they receive benefits or not.

5. Directors, executives, officers, and employees are prohibited from disclosing internal informnation, confidentiality
of the Company and the confidential information of the Company's partners that they have known from their
duties to third parties although such disclosure will not cause damage to the Company and its partners. Such
information must be used for the benefit of the Company's business operations only. It is prohibited for the
directors, executives, officers, and employees of the Company to use secrets or inside information of the Company
to seak benefits for themselves or others whether directly or indirectly and whether they receive any benefits ar
not.

Policy Vielations and Penalties

Any act that violates the said rules will be considered a disciplinary offense in accordance with the work

regulations. The violating persons are considered the appropriate punishment from verbal admonition, written

warnings, probation, and termination of employment and employrment status.

In 2024, no directors, executives, or relevant emplaoyees were found to have engaged in securities trading during

the period when the company had imposed a trading suspension. Upon review, it was confirmed that the

company's policy was fully complied with. Furthermore, the company provided training to directors, executives,
and employees regarding the policy on the use of inside information and securities trading through board
meetings, executive sessions, and internal communication channels within the company.

3. Anti-Corruption

The Board of Directors recognizes that conducting business with integrity, an ideclogy of anti-corruption of all
forms is a basis that would lead to the success of the business and strengthen the organization for sustainable
growth. Therefore, to express the unwavering of the business practices on unaffiliated with fraud and corruption,
in the Board of Directors’ Meeting No. 7/2 019 | there was a review of the anti-corruption policy by defining
responsibilities, practices and requirements for more appropriate action. The Company has considered "Anti-
corrupt policy” and made in manual as well as clarified the understanding and communication of their standard
practice to directors, managerment, and employees of the Company and its subsidiaries to be clear guidelines. In
addition, for anti-corruption to be conducted in accordance with the change of the business, regulatory and legal
requiremeants, the Board of Directors will monitor and review the policy by delegated to the Company’s Secretary
to report the results of monitoring and appropriate evaluation of the policy at least annually.

Aanti-corruption Definition

Corruption means any types of bribery, an offering, giving, promising or agreeing to give, demanding or accepting

money, assets, or other inappropriate benefits from the government officers, government sectors, private sectors,



or responsible person either in direct or indirect action so that such person could proceed or disregard hisfher

function in order to acquire, retain the business, recommend specific company to the entity, or achieve any

improper benefits in business transaction. Exception shall be applied in case of laws, regulation, statement,
standard, custom, or business traditions enable to do so.

Anti-corruption Policy

Directors, management, and employees are prohibited from aparating or accepting every type of corruption both

in direct or indirect manner that constitutes corruption for the benefit of themselves, their family members,

friends, or acquaintances whether they are in the position of being the recipient, the provider or the proponent.

The policy covers every business and related department in every country.

Duties and Responsibilities

1. The Beard of Directors has duties and responsibilities to establish a policy, conduct menitering, and provide a
system for supperting efficient anti-corruption efforts, in order to ensure that all persens are aware of, and
recognize the importance of anti-corruption, as well as to foster anti-corruption values as part of the
organization's culture,

2. The Audit Committee has duties and responsibilities to review the financial and accounting reporting system,
internal contral systermn, internal audit systermn, and risk management systemn, to ensure that they comply with
international standards and are expedient, appropriate, up-to-date and effective. The Audit Committee also
has duties to serve as an agent for whistleblowing on corrupted action or behavior related to the personnel of
the organization, conduct an investigation and fact finding over the reportad case, and present the case to the
Board of Directors to jointly determine the appropriate disciplinary action and rernediation plan.

3. Chief Executive Officer and management have duties and responsibilities to manage the implementation of
anti-corruption action plan and impartially communicate the plan to the employees and their related persons,
review the appropriateness of the systems, procedures, and measures of each function to match the changing
business ervironment, rules, regulations and relevant legislation. They also have the duty to assist the Audit
Committee in investigating the facts as notified or the work assigned by the Audit Committee regarding the
investigation of fraudulence and corruption. They can delegate tasks to the management team who can help
identify the facts.

4. Internal Audit Department has duties and responsibilities to audit and review the business operations whether
they are accurate and complied with policy, guidelines, approval authority, implerment requirements, laws, and
stipulations of the regulatory autheorities, in order to assure that the internal controls are sufficient and suitable
for probable risk in corruption. The internal auditor is to report the findings to the Audit Committae.

Practice Guidelines

1. Directors, management, and employees at all levels must comply with the anti-corruption policy by avoiding
being involved with any course of corruption in direct or indirect manner.

2. Employees shall not be negligent in any corruption conditions involved directly with the Company. All
employees must notify such act to supervisors or responsible person, including collaborate with investigation,

% Employees must be aware of the impeortance of dissemination, knowledge sharing and communication with
other relevant person(s) who irnvolve or affect the Company so that those parties shall conform effectively to
the anti-corruption policy.

4. The Company is committed to cultivating and maintaining a corporate culture that adheres to corruprion is
unacceptable.

Implementation Requirements

1. The anti-corruption policy covers the Human Resource Management process starting from recruitment,
promaotion, training, evaluation, and benefits provided to staff. Ewery supervisor at every level must
communicate with staff in order to apply in business transaction under their responsibility and to monitor
such implementation to be the most effective,

2. Forthe purpose of clarity in dealing with matters that are exposed to a high risk of corruption, the Company's
directors, management members, and emplovees at all levels must be careful when dealing with the
following:

21.  Gifts, Hospitality and Expenses Giving or accepting gifts, entertainment and hospitality activities must not
be intended to induce or refrain from any wrengdoing, nor should it be illegal or customary.

22, Charitable contributions or sponsorships Giving or receiving charitable contributions or sponsorships
must be transparent and lawful. The Company must ensure that no charitable contribution or
sponsorship is used as a subterfuge for bribery.

23. Business relationships and government procurement All dealings and interactions with the public sector
must be transparent and honest and must comply with applicable laws.

Risk assessment and internal control

. To require management to assess the risk of possible corruption related to the Company's business
operations by specifying high-risk events and assess the risk level, both the chance of cccurrence and the
impact on an annual basis.

2. Arrange for an inspection process to assess the internal control system that covers important work systems
such as procurerment, contract preparation, budgeting and control including the accounting system,
paying/accepting payrments etc. and providing suggestions on appropriate solutions.

3. Establish an annual internal audit plan and present the audit report to the audit committes and the Board of
Directors respectively.

4. Monitoring the evaluation of the implementation of the risk management plan as well as reviewing risks in
order to be able to make preventive plans in a timely and consistent manner.

This is to make employees aware of the potential risks of corruption related to the company's business operations.

The company has therefore publicized the said policies and practices. In order for company personnel and related

parties to comply with the anti-fraud and corruption policy. Including creating knowledge and understanding

with other people who must perform duties related to the company. Nowadays, technology has developed
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continuously and has become an important part of everyone's daily life. Including in the circle of work
The company has therefore brought in technology to help communicate for conwenience and speed
in transmitting information, such as informing news online through application line or Google drive, etc.

The company evaluates risks related to fraud and has implemented processes for auditing, monitoring, and
controlling these risks. This serves as a signal for actively monitaring fraud and corruption issues within the
company. The company also communicates its anti-corruption policies and measures, including relevant laws or
regulations, to directors, executives, and employees to ensure a clear understanding.

In 2024, the company did not encounter any issues or flaws related to illegal activities or legal actions concerning
fraud or corruption in connection with its business operations.

4 \Whistleblowing
Measures and channels for reparting clues or complaints
The Company has established measures to report clues or complaints about illegal acts, business ethics or behavior
that may indicate corruption of directors, executives, or employees in the organization by organizing wvarious
communication channals to provide opportunities for employees and stakeholders to report clues or complainants
to the Company properly and conveniently. The whistleblowers must specify the details of the clues or complaint,
including name, address, telephone nurmber that can be contacted and send to channels provided as specified by
the Carnpany.
1. Channels for reporting clues or complaints about corruption. The Company has established channels for
reporting clues or receiving complaints as follows.
» Post
Send it to the Chairman of the Board of Directors or the Chairman of the Audit Committee,
Farth Caorporation Public Company Limited 1053/1 Phahon Yoethin Read, Phayathai Subdistrict, Phayathai
District, Banghkok 10400
+  E-mail:
Chairman of the Audit Committee: sreesangkomi@yahoo.com

Company Secretary: arinj@forth.coth
« Company's website: www forth.coth
e Box for receiving suggestionsfcomments/complaints within the company,

2. Protection and confidentiality measures.

In order to protect the rights of the complainants and informants in good faith, the company will conceal names,

address or any information that can identify the complainant or informant and keep the information of the

complainants and informants confidential which is limited to those responsible for conducting investigations of
cormplaints that can access information.

In case of a complaint regarding the corruption of the executive Senior management, the Audit Committee will

protect the whistleblower or the complainant, the witness and the person who provided the information in the

investigation for not to suffer from any danger, or unrightesusness arising from whistle blowing, complaint,
witnessing or giving information.

Those responsible for performing duties relating to complaints, are responsible for keeping data, complaints and

evidence of the complainants and informants confidential and not to share the information with other people who

do not have any responsibilities unless the disclosure of duties required by law.

Policy violations and penalties

1. Ifthe accused acts of actual corruption, the offender (directors, executives, employees) will be disciplined, and
the offender may be subject to legal punishment.

2. Direct supernvisors who ignore wrongdoing or acknowledge that there was a wrongdoing but do not proceed
with the rmanagement in accordance with this policy, supervisars are subject to disciplinary action and may be
suloject to legal punishment.

3. Mot being aware of this policy and / or related laws will not be used as an excuse for non-compliance,

4 Directors, executives, or related parties disclose the information of the whistleblower and the documents and
evidence or not kept secret, that person will be disciplined unless it is disclosed as required by law.

5 Miolation or non-compliance with this policy whether by the directors, any executive, or staff member, they will
be investigated in accordance with the disciplinary process of the company.

The company may also be prosecuted, both civil and criminal, if it is found to be an intentional viclation or failure

to comply.

In 2024, the Company did not receive any report of complaints about the Company.

8.2 Summary of the Audit Committee Performance
8.2.1 Number of Meeting Attendance

Audit Committee
In 2024, the committes met 5 times as following:

Mr. Sakda Sreesangkom Chairman of the Audit Committes 55
Ms. Vilasinee Phuddikarant Audit Committes 55
Ms, Parrthip Lerttanongsak Audit Committes 55



822 Explanation of Performance Results of the Audit Committee

The Audit Committee of the Company has the main duties and responsibilities to support the Board of Directors

in overseeing the matters relating to the preparation and disclosure of information in financial reports, the

effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems, the compliance with relevant laws, rules, and
regulations, the monitoring of qualifications, expertise and adequacy of working team and independence of both
internal auditor and external auditor of the Company as well as the evaluation on the effectiveness of performance
of internal auditor. The Audit Committee reports its performance as well as recommendations to the Board of

Directors whenever the Audit Committee has any gueries or opinions that there should be improvements regards

to internal control, financial reports or other matters found. The Audit Committee will promptly report any queries

or recommendations in various matters to the Board of Directors, The Audit Committee's performance of duties
can be concluded as follows:

1. Toreview to ensure that the company has accurate and sufficient financial reports,

2. To review to ensure that the Company has an internal contral system and an internal audit system that are
suitable and effective and consider the independence of the internal audit unit as well as to approve the
consideration, appointment, transfer, and dismissal of the head of the internal audit unit or any other unit
responsible for internal audits.

3. Toreview the Company's compliance with the Securities and Exchange Act, regulations of the Stock Exchange
of Thailand and laws related to the company’s business,

4. To consider, select, and propose to appoint an independent person to act as the Company's auditor and
propose the remuneration of such persons including attending the meeting with the auditor without the
management attending the mesating at least once a year.

5. To consider connected transactions or itermns that may have conflicts of interest to comply with the law and
regulations of the Stock Exchange of Thailand. This is to ensure that such transactions are reasonable and for
the best benefit of the Company,

&6 To prepare a report of the Audit Committee to be disclosed in the Company's annual report. Such report must
be signed by the Chairman of the Audit Committes and must contain at least the following information:

(a) an opinion on the correctness, completeness, and credibility of the Company’s financial reports;
(b) an opinion on the adequacy of the Company's internal control systermn

(c) opinions on compliance with the law on securities and exchange

(d] an opinion on the suitability of the auditor

(e) Opinions on transactions that may have conflicts of interest

(f] Number of Audit Committes Meetings and the attendance of each audit committee

(g) opinions or overall observations received by the Audit Committee in the performance of its duties in
accordance with the Charter;
(h)] Cther iterns that shareholders and general investors should be aware of under the scope of duties and
responsibilities assigned by the Board of Directors
7. In performing the duties of the Audit Committee, if it is found or suspected of any of the following items or
actions which may have a significant impact on the financial position and operating results of the Company,
the Audit Committee shall report to the Board of Directors for improvernent within the time the Audit
Committee deems appropriate,
(a) Conflict of Interest transaction.
(b) Corruption or irregularity or significant defect in the internal control systerm.
(c) Violation of the law on securities and exchange Regulations of the Stock Exchange of Thailand or laws related to
the company’s business,
If the companys board of directors or executives is not taking action to make improvernents within the
specified time, any member of the Audit Committee may report such transactions or actions to the Securities
and Exchange Commission. or the Stock Exchange of Thailand.
8. Tosupport and monitor the Company to have an efficient risk management system.
9. To update and amend the Audit Cormmittes Charter and present it to the Board of Directors for approval.
In addition, the Audit Committee has completely and independently performed its duties in accordance with the
charter assigned by the Board of Directors to ensure that the Company has efficient and adequate corporate
governance, including the cperations of the company is for the best interests of the shareholders as a whole, fairly
and equally without conflicts of interest and has a sufficient and appropriate internal control systemn,

- Details appear in Attachment & Report of the Audit Committee
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8.3 Summary of other Sub-committee Performance

8.5.1 Number of meeting attendances of sub-committees

Risk Management Committee

In 2024, the risk management committee met 2 times, below are the meeting attendance records,

Mrs, Porntip Lerttancngsak

Mr. Pongchai Amatanon

s, Phichamoanchu Amatanon

Mr. Boonya Tuntipanichapun

Chairman of Risk Management Commitiees 22
Risk Management Committee 22
Risk Management Committes 22
Risk Management Committee 22

Momination and Remuneration Committee
In 2024, the Nomination and Remuneration committee met 2 times, below are the mesting attendance records.

Mr. Sakda Sreesangkom

Ms. Phichamonchu Amatanon

Mrs. Matines Wandeepiram

Mrs, Wilasinee Puddhikarant

Chairman of Nomination and Remuneration Committes 22
Momination and Remuneration Committee 22
Nemination and Remuneration Committes 212
Nomination and Remuneration Committee 22

8.3.2 Report on performance of Risk Management Committee

- Details appear in Attachment & Report of the Risk Management Committee -

8.3.3 Report of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee

- Details appear in Attachment & Report of the Nomination and Remuneration Committes -



9. Internal Control and Connected Transactions

9.1. Internal Control
9.1.1. Adequacy and appropriateness of the Company's internal control

system
The Board of Directors realizes the importance of having a good, effective, adequate, and appropriate internal
control system for operations according to the principles of good corporate governance. The Audit Committes is
therefore assigned to review the internal control systemn. The Internal Audit Department, which is independent
and directly reported to the Audit Committee, shall continually review the performance of various departments
based on professional internal audit standards. It shall then report the results to the Audit Committee to review
and assess the effectiveness and adequacy for achieverment of objectives and goals in business operations. This
shall lzad to the minimization of potential losses, including accurate and reliakle financial reports with cormplete
and adequate disclosure of information during a reasonable period. The Company's internal control system has
been developed and continuously improved in accordance with the guidelines of the Securities and Exchange
Commission, as reference from the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COS0),
which consists of five components as follows:
1. Control Environment
The Company is committed to good and effective internal control of culture and environment in all departments.
The executives and employees shall perfarm their roles, duties, and responsibilities in the internal control with
honesty, fairness, and transparence, They shall also treat all stakehelders with honesty according to the principles
in the Cade of Conduct and Corporate Covernance Policy, The Company communicates its expectations based on
those principles to the executives and employees to practice, follow, and evaluate through the internal audit
process and performance appraisal based on their comman goals as well as short-term and long-term business
plans, including the Corporate Key Performance Indicator (Corporate KPI) to assess the performance of varicus
departments. The Company's Board of Directors have appeinted sub-committees to assist and support the duties
of the Board of Directors, namely Executive Committee, Nomination and Remuneration Committee, Audit
Committee, and Risk Management Committee, with clearly defined charters of the roles and duties for all
committees.
The Company clearly defines the roles and duties of the Board of Directors separately from the Management in
terms of operations. There i1s an organizational structure to support business operations for the achieverment of
objectives by considering the suitability of various factors and the division of duties in order to ensure the audit
according to the principles of goad internal control, chain of command in the organizational structure, as well as
duties and responsibilities in the job description. The Company also establishes the schedule of authority 1o
officially determine the approval autharity for transactions.
The Company has a policy for human resource management in order to recruit qualified personnel with
knowledge and competence according to the demands, including continuous personnel promotion and
development for their potential performance.
2. Risk Assessment
The Company establishes a risk management policy as part of good corporate governance, including other
specified policies in accordance with the risk management framework and trainings on risk management to the
executives and employees, so they can integrate it as an important part of the Company's business operations in
all departments. The Company's risk management process is based on a good risk management framework. It
consists of risk identification and risk assessment with both internal and external factors that may affect the
achieverment of goals, such as strategic financial risks, investment, legal and regulatory compliance, etc.
Additionally, there is an assessment on the likelihood and level of potential impacts, which the Company
prescribes to all exscutives and employees to be responsible for risk management, while having a risk
management unit to oversee the compliance with regulations as well as coordinate, advise, and follow up on risk
management of various departrments with regular progress reports to the Risk Management Cormmittee for the
analysis and consideration of adequate and appropriate measures to avoid or reduce potential impacts on the
Company.
3. Control Activities
The Company sets operational controls in manuals and procedures of working processes, such as the level and
limit of approval authority, division of approval responsibilities, records of accounting entries and information, as
well as the maintenance of clear assets for verification and balance with both preventive control measures and
detection of any abnormalities. The Company also develops security control measures through the security policy
of information technology systems, including audit operations by the IT Audit Department to improve the internal
control of the information system.
The Companry has a policy to prevent conflict of interests which is part of good corporate governance policy by
prehibiting directors, executives, and employees from seeking personal benefits. In addition, there is another
policy of making connected transactions as a guideline in case that the Company has transactions with persons
who may have conflicts of interest or connected individuals. The consideration of connected transactions shall be
reported to the Audit Committee's meeting. Also, the Company has an internal control unit of which the
personnel are equipped with knowledge and expertise in an internal contrel systern to continuously support the
development of core business processes of various departrents as appropriate and consistent with crganizational
or business changes. The analysis, design, preparation, and plan of processes and measures is established as
appropriate for internal control and risk management, including having guidelines for various operations with
consultation, advice, and suggestions to different units agencies for the development of appropriate and
adequate internal control,
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4. Information and Coemmunication

The Company focuses on the importance of accurate, reliable, and timely inforrmation and data communication
systerns, which shall b2 managed to cover overall operations and communications for the use of data and
infarmation in a timely decision-making, with effective security systems and emergency plans to protect data and
information from any hazards and darmages of catastrophic accidents. In this regard, the Company has a policy to
store documents by categorizing them to be appropriate, complete, and verifiable.

The company has established an investor relations unit which is a unit that coordinates with various investors so
that investors or interested parties can contact and inguire about the Company's information. In addition, the
Company has provided a channel through which internal persons, or third parties can submit complaints, details
can be found in the topic of whistle blowing channels or complaints,

5. Monitoring Activities

The Company has an internal audit unit which directly reports and receives supervision from the Audit
Committee. The Internal Audit Unit shall audit all business units in accordance and could assess the sufficiency
and efficiency of the internal control system. It is also complied with the Company's policies and rules under
international standards for the practice of professional internal auditing by designing the Company's structure,
The Internal Audit Unit can fully access to information and operations of the Company without restrictions, while
expressing their opinions on the audit results independently. The issues from the audit and the audit results shall
be reported to the executives and Managing Director as a summary and reviewed by the Audit Committee’s
meeting. The executives are directly responsible for correcting the internal control system with support from the
Internal Contral Unit, The internal Audit Unit shall regularly monitor and oversee the progress in resolving
problemns, with periodic overview of progress reports on issues being currently addressed to the OLT to ensure
timely and appropriate resolutions. This year, the Audit Committee has held a meeting to consider various issues
as assigned by the Board of Directors, including the reviewing of audit results and the effectiveness of the
management's resolutions to follow on the correction of internal control systermn with the Internal Audit Unit, as
well as the reviewing of financial reports and adequate disclosure of information to the management.

9.12. Control system audit within the year

Internal Control Systemn Review for 2024 The internal auditor, responsible for auditing the internal contrel systems,
has selectad to review the key operational systerms of Fort Corporation Public Company Limited. These systems
include four main areas: the procurement system (project work), the cash disbursernent system, the service
system, and the raw materials and eguipment management system (project work). Additionally, one system from
Genius Traffic System Co, Ltd. was reviewed, specifically the IT management system. The internal auditor has also
followed up on the results of the internal audits for these systems. Furthermore, risk management practices have
been monitored, and the internal control system has been evaluated annually. The annual audit plan is primarily
based on business environment factors and risk factors, which are continuously monitored and adjusted if any
significant risks are identified. The audit results are presented and reported to the Audit Committes and the Board
of Directors for their consideration and necessary corrective actions. In the internal control review for 2024,
the internal auditor did not identify any material deficiencies in the internal control system,

91.3. Opinion of the Audit Committee to the Internal Audit Unit

The Audit Committee Meeting No. 2/2019, held on May 13, 2019, appointed Mr. Kanapos Sae-Tang as the Internal
Audit Manager, Chief of Internal Audit which was responsible for evaluating the efficiency and sufficiency of the
internal control system and inspecting the operations of the Company and affiliated companies.

The consideration and approval of the appointrment of internal auditors has been approved by the audit
committea with qualifications of the internal auditor presented in the attachment.

- Details appear in Attachment 3 Details of Head of Internal Audit =



9.2 Connected transactions
9.2.1 Information on connected transactions with persons who may have

conflicts.
During the year ending December 31,2024, the company and its subsidiaries engaged in transactions with
related parties or individuals who may have conflicts of interest, These relationships may arise from being
shareholders, having common shareholders, or sharing directors. The summary of significant related party
transactions as of December 31,2024, and 2023, is presented in the following table, which outlines the related
party accounting transactions as follows:

; Transection value
Relationship [Million baht]

& 5 2 i

i) Lo ]

o | 3| BE | T3 a 2

Type of transaction Related cornpany/person = r U= g8 2 T T

o = =2 ETTD o g

£ g% EL & z

s p 5 SEE a

< 5 == =

g g 3 >3

Expense
Purchase of gocds/services | Forth Tracking Systern Co, Lid. ® X 18.07 2091
Purchase of goods/services | joint venture Forth and Yip In Soi ® - 0.28
Rental expense Mr. Pongchai Amatancn X X 0.25 0.25
Rental expense Mz Picharmon Armatanan X - 0.51
Rental expense Mrs. Punnee Siripongpreeda b - -
Administrative expenses Forth Tracking Systemn Co, Ltd. ® X 0.38 0.46
Administrative expenses | joint venture Forth and Yip In Soi X - 0.01
Administrative cxpenses FORTH MRO SERVICE Co, Ltd. x X 0.02 -
Bevenue
Sale of goods! TAQ BIN SDN, BHD X X 23.57 49.56
Sale of o Ell}.; ng Turtle Beverage (Australia) Py ¥ X 3207 6.47
Sale of goods’ Forth Tracking System Co, Ltd X X 279 3.00
Sale of goods’ Forth and Yip In Tsol Joint Verture x 118.95 79.33
Sale of geads/ Mr. Pongehai Amatanon X X 2277 11.45
Other incorme Farth and Yip In Tsai Joint Verture bt 012 144
Cther incorme TAD BIN SDN, BHD X X 1.04 0.26
Other income rl:g:; ng Turtle Beverage (Auwstralia) Pty ¥ X 077 012
Mr, Pongchai Amatanon

Other income X X 6.79 T.25
Cuarantee fee income Forth and ¥ip In Tsoi Joint Venture X .68 Q.72
Guarantee fee income FORTH MRO SERVICE Co, Ltd. X X Q.07 0.05
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Transection value

Relationship [Million Baht)

Type of transaction Related company/person

Cormmoaon

Associate
Major shareholder
Director/ Close
person of director
shareholders/
cormmaon directons
Asscciate
Major shareholder

Interest income Survey Systermn Company ® 011 0.0a

dividend incame Farth Tracking System Co, Ltd H X 10.20 10.20

922 The necessity and reasonableness of the transactions

1. Normal business transaction

Purchase of goods/service  The policy for purchase of goods or services from the related parties is the same as
those for general partners. Prices are negotiated with a view to achieving the
reasonable gross profit margin and competitiveness,

Sale of goods/service The policy for sale of goods or services to the related parties is same as those of
general partner. Prices are negotiated with a view 1o achieving the reasonable gross
profit margin and competitiveness.

2. Supporting normal business transaction

Rental expense This expense was incurred from land and building rental, used for business place of
the Company and its subsidiaries from connected persons. The price is set in
accordance with market price andfor acquisition cost plus related expenses with the
Jjustified condition and reason.

Rental income This income was derived from building rental, used for business place of an
associate. The price is set in accordance with market price and/or acquisition cost
plus related expenses with the justified condition and reason.

Other income The policy for sale of goods or services to the related parties is same as those of
unrelated parties, Prices are negatiated with a view to achieving the reasonable
price and condition,

Dividend income Dividends received from investments in associates It depends on the operating
results of the associated companies and in accordance with the resclutions of the
board of directors or the shareholders' meetings of the associated companies.

Administrative expenses The policy for purchase of goods ar services frorm the related parties is same as those
of unrelated parties. Prices are negotiated with a view to achieve the reasonable
price and condition.

3. Transaction regarding offer or receipt of financial of financial assistance

Interest income The Company has policy to determine interest rate of loan granted to an associate
by refer to interest rate of the Company’s loans which obtained from the financial
institutions.

Guarantee fes income The policy for specifying the guaranteed fee rates for associated credit facilities of

the Cormpany are based on the guaranteed fees of the companies that are recaived
from the Financial Institutions Council.

9.2.3 Measures or procedures for approval of connected transactions

In case of a connected transactions between the Company and a person who may have a conflict of interest or has
a stake or may have conflicts of interest in the future, the Audit Committee will give opinions on the necessity of
entering into the transaction and the appropriateness of the price of the transaction by considering the conditions
to be in line with the nature of business operations in the industry and comparing to the price of outsiders or
rnarket prices, If the Audit Committee is not proficient in the consideration of connected transactions, the
Company will arrange the independent expert or the Company’s auditor to give cornments on such connected
transactions to be used for the decision of the Board of Directors, the Audit Committee, or shareholders, as isthe
case. The committeas who have a stake are not allowed to vote on the transaction. In addition, the connected
transactions will be disclosed in the notes to financial statements audited or reviewed by the Caompany's auditors,
Mareover, the connected transaction shall comply with the laws of securities and exchange and the regulations,
notifications, orders or requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission. Those who may have conflicts of
interest or have a stake in the connected transactions will not have the right to vote on such connected
transactions.
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Independent Auditor’s report

To the Shareholders of Forth Corporation Public Company Limited

Opinion

| have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Forth Corporation Public
Company Limited and its subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the related consolidated statements of
comprehensive income, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies, and have also audited the separate financial statements of Forth Corporation Public
Company Limited for the same period (collectively “the financial statements”).

In my opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of Forth Corporation Public Company Limited and its subsidiaries and of
Forth Corporation Public Company Limited as at 31 December 2024, their financial performance

and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Thai Financial Reporting Standards.

Basis for Opinion

| conducted my audit in accordance with Thai Standards on Auditing. My responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Statements section of my report. | am independent of the Group in accordance with

the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants including Independence Standards issued by the
Federation of Accounting Professions (Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants) that

are relevant to my audit of the financial statements, and | have fulfilled my other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants. | believe that
the audit evidence | have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in my professional judgement, were of most significance
in my audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of my audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming my opinion thereon,

and | do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

| have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’'s Responsibifities for the Audit of the
Financial Statements section of my report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
my audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to my assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements. The results of my audit procedures,
including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for my audit
opinion on the accompanying financial statements as a whole.

Key audit matters and how audit procedures respond for each matter are described below.

Revenue recognition from sales and services

The Group had revenue from sales and services as described in Note 28 financial statements
which was material to the Group's financial statements and directly impacted the Group’s annual
profit and loss. Therefore, | focused on the Group’s revenue recognition based on policies as

disclosed in Note 4.1 financial statements.
| performed audit procedures on the recognition of sales and services revenue as follows:

+ Applied a sampling method to examine supporting documents for sales and services
transactions occurring during the year and near the end of the accounting period to examine
whether revenue recognition was consistent with the conditions of commercial terms, and

whether it was in compliance with the Group’s policy.
« Sent a confirmation for the outstanding balance of account receivables.
+« Reviewed credit notes that the Group issued after the period-end.

+ Performed analytical procedures on disaggregated data to detect possible irregularities in
transactions throughout the period, particularly for accounting entries made through journal
vouchers.
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Revenues from project works

The Group had revenues from project works as described in Note 28 to the financial statement

which was material to the Group's financial statements and directly impacted the Group’s

financial performance. In addition, the estimation of costs and provision for loss on project works,

as well as the measurement and recognition of such revenue, required significant management

judgment, including the assessment of the percentage of completion and provision for loss on

project works. These factors gave rise to risks related to the measurement and recognition of

transactions anticipated from these contracts. Therefore, | focus on the recognition of such revenues.

| performed audit procedures on the revenue recognition of project works of the Group as follows:

Selected significant contracts on a sampled basis to assess the terms and risks associated
with revenue recognition to ensure that they comply with the terms specified in the contracts

and are consistent with the Group's revenue recognition policy.

Reviewed the budget estimates on a sampled basis to verify that initial budgets and any

subsequent revisions have been approved by authorised personnel.

Examined actual costs incurred on a sampled basis against supporting documents, and
reviewed acceptance notes, invoices issued, and cash receipts for contracts where services

were completed within the accounting period.
Tested the calculation of the percentage of completion based on actual project costs incurred.

Evaluated management's estimation of potential losses by performing an analytical review of
the ratio of actual project costs incurred against the estimated total budget of project costs.

Performed an analyﬁcal review and compared revenue and gross pl‘Ofit margin to identify any
irregularities in revenue recognition, particularly for transactions recorded through journal
vouchers.
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Provision for diminution in value of inventory

Estimating the net realisable value of inventory, as disclosed in Note 9 to the financial
statements, is an area of significant management judgment and the Group's products are
technology-related, and are thus at the risk of becoming obsolete when there are technological
changes. Consequently, there is a risk with respect to the amount of provision set aside for

diminution in the value of inventory.
| performed audit procedures on allowance for diminution in value of inventories consideration as follows:

¢« Gained an understanding and assessed the method and the assumptions applied by
management in determining such provision.

« Gained an understanding of the basis applied in determining provision for diminution in value
of inventory, and reviewing the consistency of the application of that basis.

« Compared the data on inventory aging report prepared by product category, and reviewed

inventory movement.

« Tested the calculation of the net realisable value and comparing, on a sampled basis, the
cost of inventories against expected net realisable value which the selling price was from the

latest invoice or price list less estimated cost to make the sale.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprise the
information included in annual report of the Group, but does not include the financial statements
and my auditor's report thereon. The annual report of the Group is expected to be made available

to me after the date of this auditor’'s report.

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and | do not express

any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be

materially misstated.

When | read the annual report of the Group, if | conclude that there is a material misstatement
therein, | am required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance for correction

of the misstatement.
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with Thai Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate

the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting

process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements

as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue

an auditor’'s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Thai Standards on Auditing will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial

statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Thai Standards on Auditing, | exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. | also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

« Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

15
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« Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

« Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. If | conclude that a material uncertainty exists, | am
required to draw attention in my auditor’'s report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of my auditor’s report. However,

future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

« Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

« Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the
entities or business activities within the group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. | am responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. | remain solely responsible for my audit opinion.

| communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies

in internal control that | identify during my audit.

| also provide those charged with governance with a statement that | have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on my independence, and where

applicable, related safeguards.



From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, | determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. | describe these matters in my auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
| determine that a matter should not be communicated in my report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits

of such communication.

| am responsible for the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report.

B &

Pornanan Kitjanawanchai
Certified Public Accountant (Thailand) No. 7792

EY Office Limited
Bangkok: 28 February 2025

17



Forth Corporation Public Company Limited and its subsidiaries

Statement of financial position

As at 31 December 2024

Assels
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Short-term loans to related parties
Unbilled receivables - Project works
Inventaries
Current portion of long-term assets
Loans receivable
Hire purchase and finance lease receivables
Other current assets
Advances payment for goods
Advances payment for project works
Prepaid telephone charges
Others
Total current assets
Mon-current assets
Restricted bank deposits
Other non-current financial assets
Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in associates and joint ventures
Long-term assets - net of current portion
Loans receivable
Hire purchase and finance lease receivables
Investment properties
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Intangible assets
Deferred tax assets
Cther non-current assets
Total non-current assets

Total assets

=
]

10
11

12
13
14
16

10
11
17
18
231
19
30

Consolidated financial statements

(Unit: Baht)

Separaie financial statements

2024 2023 2024 2023
840,119,809 B80T 494 584 49,703,938 31 467 479
1,710,104 418 1,801,177 075 185,786,679 157 989 397
- 3,087,000 37,546,578 47 416,104
144 803,408 113,504 040 101,907,226 102 591,872
1,822.439,198 1,725,841,372 522,424,234 221,402,778
605,960,517 193,572,823 . -
81,026,070 85,862 169 60,973,244 84 817,887
690,485,525 376,771,346 660,654,062 324 048 368
92,200,983 105,984,231 92,209,983 105,984 231
56,881,869 52,045 387 . -
220,570,079 165,992,230 54,192,488 14,530,083
6,364 600,876 5,432,232 257 1,785,398.430 1,090,308,209
34 454,164 39,424 500 . .
25,000,000 25,000,000 25,000,000 25,000,000
- - 1,680,503,705 1,688 548,705
77,441,923 83,786,561 66,607 465 66 607 466
531,919,686 102,212,423 - -
7,298,293 87,020,392 7,288,293 87,020,392
472,861,279 456,093 356 1,774,710.049 1,634 905,505
3,840,131,854 4,050,805 367 280,047 672 387 607,803
178,015,345 208,443 542 48,378,120 53,230,798
94,969,998 95,343 499 6,470,968 5914171
354 687,243 339,111,841 123,070,844 93,146,769
156,159,362 129,426,238 117,749 257 82,810 841
5,772,939, 157 5 616,667,719 4,139 838 373 4,134 792 550

12,137,540,033

11,048,890 976

5,925,234 803

5,225 100,759




Forth Corporation Public Company Limited and its subsidiaries

Statement of financial position (continued)

As at 31 December 2024

Liabilities and shareholders' equity

Current liabilities

Bank overdrafts and short-term loans from banks

Short-term loans from related parties
Trade and other payables
Current portion of long-term liabilites
Long-term loans from banks
Lease liabilities
Advances received from customers
Income tax payable
Other current financial liabilities

Other current liabilities

Retention received from service representatives

Provisions
Others
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Long-term liabilities - net of current portion
Lang-term loans from banks
Lease liabilities
Other non-current financial liabilities
Provision for long-term employee benefits
Total non-current liabilities

Total liabilities

=
=

20

21

22

231.2

24

22
23.1.2
24
25

Consolidated financial statements

(Unit: Baht)

Separate financial statements

2024 2023 2024 2023
4,163.418,983 2,950,524 223 2,368,418,983 1,656,200,000
- - 50,000,000 -
1,337.4298,017 1,464 865,911 269,345 266 266,091,083
483,512,000 545,530,000 271,632,000 327 680,000
63,297 955 56,483,740 6,088,778 5,079,408
904,910,639 413,213,518 792,678,415 306,611,869
81,172,796 62,135,987 79,401 -
80,045,550 76,855,738 . .
490,765, 867 558,977,038 . -
71,187,578 21,924,012 59,081,423 5,858,576
138 680,255 127 886,006 51,811,809 42,137 486
7614420649  6,278,396,173 3,869,134,173  2,609,658,420
620,870,279 925,584,279 423,400,279 694,984 279
128,189,359 162,535,396 42,755,148 47,102,142
155,888,035 235,933,584 - -
212,173 848 164,709,422 58,423,381 48,213,729
1.117,121,521 1,488,762 691 524,578,808 790,300,150
8,931,542,170 7,767,158 864 4,393,712,981 3,399,958,570
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Forth Corporation Public Company Limited and its subsidiaries

Statement of financial position (continued)

As at 31 December 2024

Shareholders® equity
Share capital
Registered
935,374,700 ordinary shares of Baht 0.50 each
Issued and fully paid-up
935,374 700 ordinary shares of Baht 0.50 each
Share premium
Other deficits
Retained earnings
Appropriated - statutory reserve
Unappropnated
Other components of shareholders’ equity
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
MNon-controlling interests of the subsidiaries
Total shareholders® equity
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity

Consolidated financial statements

(Unit: Baht)

Separaie financial statements

Note 2024 2023 2024 2023
467,687,350 467 687,350 467,687,350 467 687,350
467,687,350 467 687,350 467,687,350 467 687,350
362,557,877 362,557 877 362,557 877 362,557 877
(206,668,420) (205,317 929) - -
27 48,000,000 48,000,000 48,000,000 48 000,000
1,278,060,678 1,422,582 126 653,276,595 946,896,962
(6,858,503) (7,326,159) - -
1,842 778,892 2,088,183 265 1,531,521 822 1,825,142,189
1,263,218,971 1,193,557 847 - -
3,205,997.863 3,281,741,112 1,531,521,822 1,825,142,189

12,137,540,033

11,048,899,976

5,925,234,803

5,225,100,759




Forth Corporation Public Company Limited and its subsidiaries
Statement of comprehensive income

For the year ended 31 December 2024

=
=]
3

Profit or loss:
Revenues 28
Sales
Services
Revenues from project works
Other income
Dividend income 14, 16
Interest income from loans
Others 21
Total revenues
Expenses
Cost of sales
Cost of services
Cost of project works
Selling and distribution expenses
Administrative expenses
Total expenses
Profit from operating activities
Share of profit (loss) from investments in associates
and joint ventures 16.2
Finance cost
Profit before income tax
Income tax 30

Profit for the year

Consolidated financial statements

{Unit: Baht)

Separate financial statements

2024 2023 2024 2023
4.541,868,441 5,067.228,096 561,619,237 1,014,898 097
3,625,913,830 3,582,723 961 664,296,038 601,320,303
599,555,910 841,503,794 398,370,076 679,462,001
- - 267,981,133 738,810,471
134,827,932 38,378,448 - -
247,256,848 290,066,690 132,626,763 100,173,670
9,149,422 961 9,819,991,989  2.044.893.247 3,134,664,542
3944734096 4,262,627 426 501,521,500 820,378,674
2,386,381,538 2,292 377,143 476,025,681 373,387,578
550,548,018 BB81,048,257 307 448,776 563,142,475
139,199,434 181,733,486 20,306,667 26,759,402
1,314,873,303 1,232,967,148 511,680,792 468,157,606
8,344.737,289  8,650,751,460 1,006,983,416  2,251,825735
804,685,672 1,169,240, 529 137,909,831 £82 838,807
3,854,462 {3,415,623) - -
(203,597 ,386) (189,016,941) {108,789,842) {92,926,000)
604,942,748 976,807,965 29,119,889 789,912,807
(156,596,354) (170,355,013) 28,409,972 0,861,272
448,346,394 806,452,952 57,529,861 799,774,079
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Forth Corporation Public Company Limited and its subsidiaries
Statement of comprehensive income (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Note
Other comprehensive income;
Other comprehensive income fo be reclassified
to profit of loss in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation of
financial statements in foreign currency
Cther comprehensive income to be reclassified

to profit or loss in subsequent periods - net of income tax

Other comprehensive income not fo be reclassified
to profit or loss in subsequent periods:
Actuarial losses
Less: Income tax effect
Other comprehensive income not to be reclassified
to profit or loss in subsequent periods - net of income tax

Other comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year

Profit attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company

Non-contrelling interests of the subsidiaries

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Equity helders of the Company

MNon-controlling interests of the subsidiaries

Earnings per share 32

Basic eamings per share

Consolidated financial statements

{Unit: Baht)

Separate financial statements

2024 2023 2024 2023
467 566 713,864 - .
467,566 713,864 - .

(26,273 ,468) - (6,328,611) .

4,972 536 - 1,265,722 .

(21,300,933) - (5,062,889) .

(20,833,367) 713,864 (5.062,889) -

427,513,027 807,166,816 52,466,972 799,774,079

221,301,344 572,560,692 57,529,861 789,774,079

227,045,050 233,892,260

448,346,394 808,452,952

202,033,457 573,274,556 52,466,972 799,774,079

225 479,570 233,892,260

427,513,027 807,166,816

0.24 0.61 0.06 0.86
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Forth Corporation Public Company Limited and its subsidiaries
Cash flow statement
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax
Adjustments to reconcile profit before tax
to nat cash provided by (paid from) operating activities:
Deapreciation
Amortisation for intangible assets
Write-off of equipment
Allowance for expecied credit losses
Dacreasa of invenlories to net realisable value (reversal)
Impairment loss on equipment
Impairment loss on intangible asset
Unrealised loss (gain) on exchange rate
Loss (gain) on sales of equipment
Gain on sales of investment property
Loss (gain) on financial lease modification
Impairment loss on investments

Share-based payment

Share of loss (profit) from investments in associates and jotnt venture

Dividend income
Provisions
Pravision for long-lerm emploves benafits
Interest income
Interest expenses
Profit from operating activities before changes in
operating assets and liabilities
Operating assets (increase) decrease
Trade and other receivables
Inventaries
Loans receivable
Unbilled receivables - Project works
Advancas payment for goods
Advances payment for project works
Prepaid telephane charges
Hire purchase and finance lease receivables
Other current assels
Other non-curent assots
Operating liabilities increase (decrease)
Trade and other payables
Advancas recaived from customears
Cash paid for long-lerm employes benalils
Other current liabilities
Cash flows from (used in) operating aclivities
Cash racaived from interast income
Cash received from income tax
Cash paid for interest expenses
Cash paid for income tax
Het cash flows from used in) operating activities

{Unit: Baht)
Consolidated financial statemants Separate financial statements
2024 2023 2024 2023
604,942 748 976.807.965 28,119,889 789,912,807
719,620 372 625,608,866 80282039 60,428 157
19,260 948 26,426,224 958,703 TeT 726
564,559 2,102,132 -
31,851,818 54,478,082 30,237,508 49,174 808
26,832 915 45,162,662 (3,682,142) (18,857,017)
3,218,398 6,803,288
7,594 521 -
24,062 026 1,212,961 28,438,157 (1.177.978)
1,537 858 {2,607 ,655) (T44.797) (453 662)
(642,408) - (643.,408)
(303,363) (313.161) (36,322) 9223
- - 14,000,000 2,000,000
850,000 -
(3.854,462) 3415623 -
(2687,981,133) (738.810,471)
63.714,130 6,654,440 65,915,449 2,436,848
24 864 846 13,885,689 3,881,043 4,384 462
(147.416,293) (47,149.714) (6,909,527) (6.852,939)
189,757 148 168,285,740 105,278,526 89,629,650
1,589,020,243 1,888,367 663 58,113,985 232,631,411
57,480 642 1,120,698,690 (&7 ,640,740) 366,721,289
(223.530,741) 172,219,491 (297,339,313) (111,688 362)
(831.895721) (107,036.970) -
(32,634,909) 97,284,386 (650,894) 29,675,968
(313,714,178) (167,613,674) (336,605,684} (233,888811)
13,774,248 44 064,405 13,774,248 44,064 405
(3.936.482) 34,871,465 - E
90,439 817 (84,912,602) g7 694072 (75,058 814)
(55,462, 357) 20,923,313 (39,602 405) (3.716,532)
2,640,025 7.393.535 480,117 1.070,672
(78,773,172) (730,032,612) 6,115,549 (235,392 495)
491.697 121 68,673,872 486,065,546 62,836,980
(3.673,859) {4,793,729) - (984,333)
(100.678,431) (5,167.126) (31,608,041} 9,197,225
570,562,215 2,374,939.107 [121,202,570) 85,458,803
141,181,575 42,441,240 1,585478 2,129,121
218 098 2,169,030 -
(170.002,415) (148,757.033) (102,477 .399) (88,283,576)
(177.581,534) (310.595.629) (25,587 412) (22,085, 764)
364,378,938 1,862, 196,715 (245, 681,903) (22,781,416)
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Forth Corporation Public Company Limited and its subsidiaries
Cash flow statement (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Cash flows from investing activities

Decrease (increase) in restricted bank deposits

Cash received from sales of assets held for sale

Cash recaived from from sales of equipment

Cash recaived from from sales of invesiment property
Cash paid for acquisition of plant and equipment

Cash paid for purchase of investment property

Cash paid for acquisition of intangible assats

Cash paid for short-term loans lo related parties

Cash received from short-term loans o related parties
Cash receipts from dividend of subsidianies and associate
Increase in invesiments in subsidiaries

Increase in invesiments in associale

Cash received from share capital return from subsidiany
Cash received from loans o employee

Net cash flows from (used in) investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Increase (decreasa) in bank overdrafts and short-term loans from banks

Cash receipts from short-term loans from related party
Cash receipts from long-term loans

Repayment of long-term loans from banks

Cash received from cther financial liabilites

Repayment of other financial liabilities

Repayment of lease liabilities

Dividend paid

Dividend paid to non-controlling interests of the subsidiaries

Increase in non-controlling interests from capital increase of the subsidianes

Net cash flows from (used in) financing activities
Increase in translation adjustments

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Supplemental disclosures of cash flows infermation
Mon-cash transactions
Transfer property and plant to investment properties
Payable for purchase of equipment
Increase in right-of-use assels from lease agreements

Decrease in right-of-use assets from lease modification

{Unit: Baht)
Consolidated financial statemants Separate financial statements
2024 2023 2024 2023
4,970,338 (8.972.500) -
- 131,531,448 -
3,344 473 18,832,155 844 B22 19,433 565
18,771,323 - 18,771,323
(504.717.429)  (1.357,774.236) (92,027,700} (460,396,197)

(35.414,953) - (35,414 963)

(18,887 448) {18,526,763) (1,515,500} (2.887,700)

{3,087 ,000) (3,087,000) (9,187,000} (34,587 ,000)

6,174,000 - 29,039,000 8,000,000

10,198,100 10,193,100 287,981,133 738,810,471

- - (16,250,000} (88,756,250)
- [499,880) -
- 295,000
711,384 155213 -
(517,936,224) (1,227,142 453) 182,535,115 169,616,889
1.212.894,760 (815,593.842) 712,218,983 (336,918,065)
50,000,000

90,000,000 1,387,897 472 - 890,957 472

(456,732,000) (358,808,692) (327,632,000) (190,358,692)
62,208,000

(88,235,208) {85,915,118)

(68,106,332) (54,617 445) (7,117,399) (6,966,660)
(346,087 339) (579,847.772) (346,087 ,339) (579.647,772)
{158,783,937) (205,242,480)

765,000 1,243,750 -
185.714.944 (648.477.125) 81,382,245 (222.893.917)
467 566 713,864 -

32,625,225 87,290,991 18,236,457 (76,058 444)
807,494,584 720,203,583 31,467,479 107,825,822
840.119,808 807 494 584 45,703,936 31,467 479

508,441,972

57,381,003 120,658 3,197,166
77,124,847 2372677 1,676,318
9,524,917 837,117 257170



Forth

wporation Public Comps:

MNotes to consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2024

2.1

2.2

General information

Forth Corporation Public Company Limited (“the Company”) is a public company incorporated
and domiciled in Thailand. The Company is principally engaged in the manufacture and
distribution of electronic equipment and project work relating to design and install
telecommunication equipment. The registered address of the Company is at 1053/1,
Phaholyothin Road, Phayathai, Phayathai, Bangkok.

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Thai Financial Reporting
Standards enunciated under the Accounting Professions Act B.E. 2547 and their presentation
has been made in compliance with the stipulations of the Notification of the Department of

Business Development, issued under the Accounting Act B.E. 2543.

The financial statements in Thai language are the official statutory financial statements of the
Company. The financial statements in English language have been translated from the Thai
language financial statements.

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except where

otherwise disclosed in the accounting policies.
Basis of consolidation

a) The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Forth
Corporation Public Company Limited (“the Company”) and the following subsidiaries

(“the subsidiaries”) (collectively as “the Group”):

Country of Percentage of

Company's name MNature of business incorporation shareholdings
2024 2023

% %

Subsidiaries held by the Campany
Electronics Source Co., Lid. Trading of electronic parts Thailand 100 100
Genius Traffic System Co., Lid. Sale and installation of light boards and Thailand 100 100
traffic systems

Joint Venlure Genius Grant for the construct and maintenance Thailand 20 20

of 125 billboards project
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Country of Percentage of
Company's name Nature of business incorporation shareheldings
2024 2023
% %
Forth Smart Service Plc. Collection service via online top-up Thailand 53 53
machines
Forth Consulting Co., Ltd. Consulting service for information Thailand 100 100
management and computer software
management
Forth Lighting Co., Lid. Trading of lamps and lighting equipments  Thailand 100 100
Forth Meter Co., Ltd. Distribution of electronic meter Thailand 85 B85
Forth Vending Co., Ltd. Vending machines management service Thailand 46 48
and sale of beverage on vending
machines
Mindmap Commtech Inc. Payment service via online top-up Philippines 100 100
machines (cease operation)
Joint Venture Forth Genius Dissolution Thailand - a5
Forth EMS Plc. Manufacture and disftribution of Thailand a8 88
telecommunication equipment,
electronic equipment and assembly
electronic parts
Forth Group Joint Venture Co., Ltd, Engineering services Thailand 54 54
Aero Forth Co., Ltd. Sales of aircraft, aircraft hangar and Thailand 100 100
maintenance business, and flight training
Forth Global Mesh Co., Ltd. Providing services related to airport Thailand 51 51
electrical system and underground
power transmission systems
Forth Devens Co., Lid. Bid work project from the government, Thailand 75 75
the military, state enterprise and
private company
Subsidiaries held through subsidiaries of the Company
Subsidiaries held through
Forth Smart Service Plc.
Forth Smart Capital Co., Lid. Provide nane finance and personal loan Thailand 100 100
services
Forth Smart Distribution Co., Ltd. Distribution of goods and rendering of Thailand 100 100

service relating to online top-up

machines



Country of Percentage of

Company's name Mature of business incorporation shareheldings
2024 2023
% %o
Forth Vending Co., Ltd. Wending machines management service Thailand 27 27
and sale of beverage on vending
machines

Subsidiaries held through

Forth Smart Capital Co., Ltd.

Forth Smart Digital Co., Ltd Electronic commerce business Thailand 100 100
Subsidiaries held by Genius
Traffic System., Ltd.

Joint Venture Genius Grant for the construct and maintenance Thailand 80 80

of 125 billboards project

Joint Venture Forth Genius Dissolution Thailand - 5

b)

9)

h)

The Company is deemed to have control over an investee or subsidiaries if it has rights,
or is exposed, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and it has the

ability to direct the activities that affect the amount of its returns.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated, being the date on which the Company obtains control,

and continue to be consolidated until the date when such control ceases.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared using the same significant
accounting policies as the Company.

The assets and liabilities in the financial statements of overseas subsidiaries are
translated to Baht using the exchange rate prevailing on the end of reporting period,
revenues and expenses translated using monthly average exchange rates. The resulting
differences are shown under the caption of “Exchange differences on translation of

financial statements in foreign currency” in the statements of changes in shareholders’
equity.

Material balances and transactions between the Group have been eliminated from the

consolidated financial statements.

Non-controlling interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets of the
subsidiaries that are not held by the Company and are presented separately in the
consolidated profit or loss and within equity in the consolidated statements of financial

position.

The excess of book value of net assets, acquired in subsidiaries under common control,

over the price at which they were exchanged is presented in other components of equity

129



in the consolidated statements of changes in shareholders’ equity under the caption
“Retained earnings of subsidiaries arising from the Company swapping shares of subsidiaries

at a price lower than net book value of the subsidiaries as at the acquisition date”.
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2.3

2.4

3.1

3.2

The separate financial statements present investments in subsidiaries, associates and

joint ventures under the cost method.

The Group has interests in joint operations which are joint arrangements whereby the Group
has rights to assets and obligations relating to the joint arrangements. The Group recognises
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses in relation to its interest in the following joint
operations in the consolidated and separate financial statements from the date that joint

control commences until the date that joint control ceases.

Country of Interests in
Company's name Mature of business incorporation joint operations
2024 2023
% %
Joint Venture Forth Survey Provide service for searching Thailand 51 51
condominium information in 30
on internet
Joint Venture F916 Distribution fire trucks, rescued Thailand 49 49

vehicles and rendering

maintenance service

New financial reporting standards
New financial reporting standards that became effective in the current year

During the year, the Group has adopted the revised financial reporting standards which are
effective for fiscal years beginning on or after 1 January 2024. These financial reporting
standards were aimed at alignment with the corresponding International Financial Reporting
Standards with most of the changes directed towards clarifying accounting treatment and

providing accounting guidance for users of the standards.

The adoption of these financial reporting standards does not have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.

Financial reporting standards that will become effective for fiscal years beginning on
or after 1 January 2025

The Federation of Accounting Professions issued a number of revised financial reporting
standards, which are effective for fiscal years beginning on or after 1 January 2025. These
financial reporting standards were aimed at alignment with the corresponding International
Financial Reporting Standards with most of the changes directed towards clarifying

accounting treatment and providing accounting guidance for users of the standards.

The management of the Group believes that adoption of these amendments will not have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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Accounting policies
Revenues recognition
Sales of goods

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised at the point in time when control of the asset is
transferred to the customer, generally upon delivery of the goods. Revenue is measured at
the amount of the consideration received or receivable, excluding value added tax, of goods
supplied after deducting returns, discounts and allowances to customers.

Rendering of services

Income from rendering of prepaid mobile top-up service and other online top-up services are
recognised, when services have been rendered and customers have already paid through online
top-up machines, at net amount which is fee income of the Company, excluding cost of telephone

and other online services which is cost of telephone operators and online service providers.

Income from rendering of services through online top-up machines (transaction fee) is
recognised at a point in time upon completion of the services and customers have already paid
service fees through online top-up machines.

Income from providing management services for automatic beverage vending machines
recognised when finished providing services.

Income from maintenance services is recognised over time when services have been
rendered taking into account the stage of completion, measuring based on a straight-line basis
over the contractual terms.

Other service revenue is recognised at a point in time upon completion of the service.
Revenues from project works

Revenues from project works are recognised when services have been rendered taking into
account the stage of completion, measuring based on comparison of actual costs incurred up
to the end of the year and total anticipated costs to be incurred to completion.

The recognised revenues which are not yet due per the contracts have been presented under
the caption of “Unbilled receivables” in the statements of financial position. The amounts
recognised as unbilled receivables are reclassified to trade receivables when the Group’'s
right to consideration is unconditional such as upon completion of services and acceptance
by the customer.

The amount that the entity receives or entitles to receive from customers, but the entity has
performance obligations to transfer goods or services to customers. Such amount is shown
under the caption of “Advances received from customers” in the statements of financial
position. Revenue is recognised when contract's obligations are completely performed.



The service-type warranties provided customers with a service in addition to the assurance
that the service complies with agreed-upon specifications are recognised as revenue over the

period in which the service is provided.
Interest income from loans

Interest income from loans is recognised on an accrual basis throughout the contract period

based on the effective interest rate method by calculating to the gross carrying amounts of loan
receivables.

When loan receivables subsequently become credit-impaired, income from loans are calculated
by applying the effective interest rate method to the net carrying amount (gross carrying amount
net of allowance for expected credit losses) of their receivables. If the receivables are no longer
credit-impaired, then the calculation of income from loans revert to the gross basis.

Rental income

Rental income is recognised on the straight-line basis over the period of rental.
Dividends

Dividends are recognised when the right to receive the dividends is established.
Other income

Income from insurance received on online top-up machines is insurance that the subsidiary
receives from service representatives. The insurance received is recognised as income over

time.

Revenue from customers’ credit top-ups and money transfers is the amount of credit that the online
top-up machines retain from customers because the machines are unable to provide change. The
revenue from customers' credit top-ups is recognised as income when customers’ credit has

remained unused for a period of more than a year.

Revenue from unsuccessful top-ups and money transfers is the amount of credit that were not able
to be added in accordance with customer orders. The revenue is recognised when the customer
has not claimed a refund for more than a year.

Finance cost

Interest expense from financial liabilities at amortised cost is calculated using the effective
interest method and recognised on an accrual basis.
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4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

Costs of project works

Costs of project works are recognised in when the related cost of obligations under the
contract are incurred. Provision for anticipated losses on project is made in the accounts in

full when the possibility of loss is ascertained.
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand and at banks, and all highly liquid
investments with an original maturity of three months or less and not subject to withdrawal
restrictions.

Inventories

Finished goods and work in process are valued at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out method
and weighted average method) and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is measured
using the standard cost method, which approximates actual cost and includes all production

costs, labor cost and attributable factory overheads.

Raw materials, spare parts and factory supplies are valued at the lower of cost (first-in, first-
out method and weighted average method) and net realisable value and are charged to

production costs whenever consumed.
Costs to fulfil contracts with customers

The Group recognises costs to fulfil contracts with customers as an asset, provided that
the costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that will be used in satisfying
performance obligations in the future and the costs are expected to be recovered. The asset
recognised is amortised to expenses on a systematic basis that is consistent with the pattern
of revenue recognition. An impairment loss is recognised to the extent that the carrying
amount of an asset recognised exceeds the remaining amount of consideration that the entity

expects to receive less direct costs.
Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures

Investments in associates are accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using

the equity method.

Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures are accounted for in the separate

financial statements using the cost method less allowance for impairment (if any).



4.7

4.8

4.9

Spare parts and amortisation
Spare parts are consisted as follows:

a) Consumable spare parts are valued at the lower of cost (weighted average method) and

net realisable value and are charged through profit or loss whenever actually consumed.

b) Reusable spare parts are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation of
reusable spare parts is calculated by reference to their costs on the straight-line basis
over the estimated useful lives is 5 years and is recorded in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation

and allowance for loss on impairment (if any).

Depreciation of investment properties is calculated by reference to their costs on the straight-line
basis over estimated useful lives of 20 years. Depreciation of investment properties is

included in determining income.
No depreciation is provided on land classified as investment properties.

On disposal of investment properties, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset is recognised in profit or loss in the year when the asset is

derecognised.
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Land is stated at cost. Building and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated

depreciation and allowance for loss on impairment of asset (if any).

Depreciation of building and equipment is calculated by reference to their costs on the

straight-line basis over the following estimated useful lives:

Land improvement 20  vyears
Building and building improvements 5 10and 20 vears
Machinery 5and 10  vyears
Tools and equipment 3,5,8and 19  vyears
Office supplies 5 years
Motor vehicles Sand 10  years

Depreciation is included in determining income.

No depreciation is provided on land and assets under construction.
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4.10

4.11

4.12

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on disposal

of an asset is included in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
Intangible assets and amortisation

Intangible assets are stated at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated

impairment losses (if any).

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised on the straight-line basis over the economic
useful life and tested for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset
may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method of such intangible
assets are reviewed at least at each financial year end. The amortisation expense is charged
to profit or loss.

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are computer software which has useful lives of 3, 5

and 10 years.
Related party transactions

Related parties comprise individuals and enterprises that control, or are controlled by, the

Group, whether directly or indirectly, or which are under common control with the Group.

They also include associates and individuals which directly or indirectly own a voting interest
in the Group that gives them significant influence over the Group, key management
personnel, directors, and officers with authoerity in the planning and operating direction of
the Group.

Leases

At inception of contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease.
A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an

identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

4121The Group as a lessee

The Group applied a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for
short-term |eases and leases of low-value assets. At the commencement date of the |lease
(i.e. the date the underlying asset is available for use), the Group recognises right-of-use
assets representing the right to use underlying assets and lease liabilities based on lease

payments.



Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less accumulated depreciation, any accumulated
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-
of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities initially recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and |lease payments made at or before the commencement date of the lease less

any lease incentives received.

Depreciation of right-of-use assets are calculated by reference to their costs on the straight-

line basis over the shorter of their estimated useful lives and the lease term.

Land 6and8 years
Building 2-16 years
Office equipment 3 and 4 years
Motor vehicles 2-5 years
Advertising billboard 5 years

If ownership of the leased asset is transferred to the Group at the end of the lease term or
the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the

estimated useful lives of the asset.
Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are measured at the present value of the lease payments to be made over
the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments less any lease incentives
receivable.

The Group discounted the present value of the lease payments by the interest rate implicit
in the lease or the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. After the commencement date, the
amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the
lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if
there is a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments or a change in the

assessment of an option to purchase the underlying assets.
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

A lease that has a lease term less than or equal to 12 months from commencement date or
a lease of low-value assets is recognised as expenses on a straight-line basis over the lease

term.
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4.122The Group as a lessor

4.13

4.14

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
underlying asset to a lessee is classified as finance |leases receivables. As at the
commencement date, an asset held under a finance lease is recognised as a receivable at
an amount equal to the net investment in the lease or the present value of the lease
payments receivable and any unguaranteed residual value. Subsequently, finance income
is recognised over the lease term to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the net

investment in the lease.

A lease is classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to a lessee. Lease receivables from
operating leases is recognised as income in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
lease term. Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the underlying assets and recognised as an expense over the lease term
on the same basis as the lease income.

Foreign currencies

The consolidated and separate financial statements are presented in Baht, which is also the
Company's functional currency. Items of each entity included in the consclidated financial

statements are measured using the functional currency of that entity.

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into Baht at the exchange rate ruling at the
date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are

translated into Baht at the exchange rate ruling at the end of reporting period.
Gains and losses on exchange are included in determining income.
Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group perform impairment reviews in respect of
non - financial assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that an asset
may be impaired. An impairment loss is recognised when the recoverable amount of an
asset, which is the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use, is
less than the carrying amount. In determining value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In
determining fair value less costs to sell, an appropriate valuation model is used. These
calculations are corroborated by a valuation model that, based on information available,
reflects the amount that the Group could obtain from the disposal of the asset in an arm’s
length transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties, after deducting the costs of

disposal.



4.15

4.16

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.

In the assessment of asset impairment (except for goodwill), if there is any indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased, the
Group estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss
is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset's
recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The increased carrying
amount of the asset attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss shall not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised

for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss.
Customer loyalty program

The Group launched a customer loyalty program for registered members, under which
customers earn points upon purchases of drinks from TAQ BIN Your Robotic Barista vending
machines. The points earned can be redeemed for free drink codes to be used with these
vending machines in accordance under the conditions and within the periods set by the

Group.

The fair value of accumulated points is determined based on the average cost of the drinks
that can be redeemed. The Group recorded such fair value based on the estimated customer
redemption rates as a deduction against revenues from beverage sales and as deferred

revenues. Revenues are recognised when the customers use the free drink code.
Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits

Salaries, wages, bonuses and contributions to the social security fund are recognised as
expenses when incurred.

Post-employment benefits
Defined contribution plans

The Company, its subsidiaries and their employees have jointly established a provident fund.
The fund is monthly contributed by employees and by the Group. The fund's assets are held in
a separate trust fund and the Group's contributions are recognised as expenses when incurred.

Defined benefit plans

The Group has obligations in respect of the severance payments to employees upon
retirement under labor law. The Group treats these severance payment obligations as a
defined benefit plan.
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4.18

4.19

The obligation under the defined benefit plan is determined by a professionally qualified
independent actuary based on actuarial technigques, using the projected unit credit method.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from defined benefit plans are recognised immediately in
other comprehensive income.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

Share-based payment

The Group receives services from employees as a consideration for equity instruments of
the Group in the form of shares. The share-based compensation is equity-settled. The fair
value of the employee services received by the Group in exchange for the Group's equity
instruments is determined at the grant date, with the fair value recognised as an expense in
profit or loss over the vesting period with a corresponding increase in equity.

The Group measures the value of the services received at the fair value of those services.
If the fair value cannot be measured reliably, the Group measures the value of the services
by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments granted as a consideration, which is
an indirect method.

The Group measures the value of the services by reference to the fair value of the equity
instruments granted as a consideration. The fair value of the instruments is determined using
the discounted cash flow method.

Income tax

Income tax expense represents the sum of corporate income tax currently payable and
deferred tax.

Current income tax

Current income tax is provided in the accounts at the amount expected to be paid to the
taxation authorities, based on taxable profits determined in accordance with tax legislation.

Deferred tax

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts at the end of each reporting period, using the tax

rates enacted at the end of the reporting period.



4.20

The Group recognises deferred tax liabilities for all taxable temporary differences while they
recognise deferred tax assets for all deductible temporary differences and tax losses carried
forward to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which

such deductible temporary differences and tax losses carried forward can be utilised.

At each reporting date, the Group reviews and reduces the carrying amount of deferred tax
assets to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available

to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.

The Group records deferred tax directly to shareholders' equity if the tax relates to items that

are recorded directly to shareholders' equity.
Financial instruments

The Group initially measures financial assets at its fair value plus, in the case of financial
assets that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. However,
trade and other receivables, that do not contain a significant financing component, are
measured at the transaction price as disclosed in the accounting policy relating to revenue

recognition.
Classification and measurement of financial assets

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as to be subsequently measured at
amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income ("FVOCI"), or fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL"). The classification of financial assets at initial recognition is
driven by the Group’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual

cash flows characteristics of the financial assets.
Financial assets at amortised cost

The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if the financial asset is held in order
to collect contractual cash flows and the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the

principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest
rate (“"EIR") method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit
or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.
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Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets measured at FVTPL are carried in the statement of financial position at fair

value with net changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

These financial assets include derivatives, security investments held for trading, equity
investments which the Group has not irrevocably elected to classify at FVVOCI and financial

assets with cash flows that are not solely payments of principal and interest.
Dividends on listed equity investments are recognised as other income in profit or loss.
Financial assets designated at FVOCI (equity instruments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to irrevocably classify its equity investments
which are not held for trading as equity instruments designated at FVOCI. The classification

is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive income on these financial assets are

never recycled to profit or loss.

Dividends are recognised as other income in profit or loss, except when the dividends clearly
represent a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case, the gains are

recognised in other comprehensive income.
Equity instruments designated at F\WVOCI are not subject to impairment assessment.
Classification and measurement of financial liabilities

Except for derivative liabilities, at initial recognition the Group's financial liabilities are
recognised at fair value net of transaction costs and classified as liabilities to be
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR
amortisation process. In determining amortised cost, the Group takes into account any fees
or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included in finance costs
in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial instruments

A financial asset is primarily derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the
asset have expired or have been transferred and either the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or the Group has transferred control of
the asset.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled or expires.



Impairment of financial assets

For trade receivables, accrued income, other receivables, loans receivables, hire purchase
and finance lease receivables and unbilled receivables, the Group applies a simplified
approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the Group does not track change in credit risk, but
instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. ECLs
are calculated based on its historical credit loss experience and adjusted for forward-looking

factor specific to the debtors and the economic environments.

The Group recognises expected credit losses of loan receivables using the General

Approach. The Group determines the changes in credit risk of debtors into 3 stages as follow.

- Stage 1: Financial assets where there has not been a significant increase in credit risk

(Performing): The Group recognises allowance for expected credit losses at the amount
equal to the expected credit losses in the next 12 months. The Group will use a
probability of default that corresponds to remaining maturity for financial assets with a

remaining maturity of less than 12 months.

- Stage 2: Financial assets where there has been a significant increase in credit risk

(Under-Performing). The Group recognises allowance for expected credit losses at the

amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses of financial assets.

- Stage 3: Financial assets that are credit-impaired (Non-Performing): The Group

recognises allowance for expected credit losses at the amount equal to the lifetime

expected credit losses of financial assets.

At every reporting date, the Group assesses whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk of debtors since initial recognition by comparing the risk of default over the
expected lifetime at the reporting date with the credit risk at the date of initial recognition. In
determining whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
uses internal quantitative and qualitative indicators, and forecasts information to assess the
deterioration in credit quality of such debtors such as overdue more than 30 days or

1 installment, and forbearance status for debt restructuring agreements, etc.

The Group assesses whether the credit risk has increased significantly from the date of initial
recognition on an individual or collective basis. In order to perform collective evaluation of
impairment, the Group classifies debtors on the basis of shared credit risk characteristics,

taking into account the period from the initial recognition date and other relevant factors.
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4.21

Loan receivables are assessed to be credit-impaired when one or more events that have
a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the receivables have occurred.
Evidence of credit-impaired receivables includes arrears of over 90 days past due or having
indications that the borrower is experiencing significant financial difficulty, a breach of
contract, bankruptcy, legal status, vehicle seizure status before over 90 days past due or

distressed restructuring.

Loans receivables that have been renegotiated due to a deterioration in the borrower’s
condition is usually considered to be significant increase in credit risk or credit-impaired
unless there is evidence that the risk of not receiving contractual cash flows has reduced

significantly and there are no other indicators of impairment.

The Group considers its historical loss experience, adjusts this for current observable data
and plus on the reasonable and supportable forecasts of future economic conditions,
including appropriate use of judgement, to estimate the amount of an expected credit losses.
The Group determines both current and future economic scenario, and probability-weighted
in each scenario (base scenario, best scenario and worst scenario) for calculating expected
credit losses. The Group has established the process to review and monitor methodologies,
assumptions and forward-looking macroeconomics scenarios on a yearly basis.

Increase (decrease) in an allowance for expected credit losses is recognised as expenses
during the year in profit or loss in the statements of comprehensive income. Bad debts are

written off when incurred.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering

the contractual cash flows.
Impairment of financial guarantee contracts

The Group estimates the expected credit losses of financial guarantee contracts based on
the present value of the payments expected to be made to the holder of the contract if
a default occurs, discounted using a risk-adjusted interest rate relevant to the exposure.
The calculation is made using a probability-weighting. The expected credit losses related to
financial guarantee contracts are recognised under provisions.

Forward currency contracts
The Group uses derivatives, forward currency contracts, to hedge it foreign currency risk.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is
entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. The subsequent changes are

recognised in profit or loss.



4.22 Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between buyer and seller (market participants) at the measurement
date. The Group applies a quoted market price in an active market to measure their assets
and liabilities that are required to be measured at fair value by relevant financial reporting
standards. Except in case of no active market of an identical assets or liabilities or when a
quoted market price is not available, the Group measures fair value using valuation technique
that are appropriate in the circumstances and maximises the use of relevant observable inputs

related to assets and liabilities that are required to be measured at fair value.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial
statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy into three levels based on

categories of input to be used in fair value measurement as follows:
Level 1 - Use of quoted market prices in an active market for such assets or liabilities

Level 2 - Use of other observable inputs for such assets or liabilities, whether directly or

indirectly
Level 3 - Use of unobservable inputs such as estimates of future cash flows

At the end of each reporting period, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred
between levels within the fair value hierarchy for assets and liabilities held at the end of the
reporting period that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis.

5. Significant accounting judgements and estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with financial reporting standards at times
requires management to make subjective judgements and estimates regarding matters that
are inherently uncertain. These judgements and estimates affect reported amounts and
disclosures; and actual results could differ from these estimates. Significant judgements and

estimates are as follows:
Revenue from contracts with customers
Identification of performance obligations

In identifying performance obligations, the management is required to use judgement
regarding whether each promise to deliver goods or services is considered distinct, taking
into consideration terms and conditions of the arrangement. In other words, if a good or
service is separately identifiable from other promises in the contract and if the customer can

benefit from it, it is accounted for separately.
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Determination of timing of revenue recognition

In determining the timing of revenue recognition, the management is required to use
judgement regarding whether performance obligations are satisfied over time or at a point in
time, taking into consideration terms and conditions of the arrangement. The Group
recognises revenue over time in the following circumstances:

- the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the entity’s

performance as the entity performs

- the entity’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the

asset is created or enhanced: or

- the entity's performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the entity and

the entity has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date

Where the above criteria are not met, revenue is recognised at a point in time, the
management is required to determine when the performance obligation under the contract is
satisfied.

In calculating the revenue recognised over time, the management is required to use judgement
regarding measuring progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation,
measuring based on comparison of actual costs incurred up to the end of the period and total
anticipated costs to be incurred to completion.

Allowance for expected credit losses of trade receivables, other receivables,

hire purchase and finance lease receivables and unbilled receivables

In determining an allowance for expected credit losses of trade receivables, other
receivables, loans receivables, hire purchase and finance lease receivables and unbilled
receivables, the management needs to make judgement and estimates based upon, among
other things, past collection history, aging profile of outstanding debts and the forecast
economic condition for groupings of various customer segments with similar credit risks. The
Group's historical credit loss experience and forecast economic conditions may also not be
representative of whether a customer will actually default in the future.

Allowance for expected credit losses of loan receivables (Lending service)

The management is required to use judgement in estimation in determining the allowance for
expected credit losses of loan receivables. The Group’s calculation of allowance for expected
credit losses based on complex models, a series of assumptions and assessments related to
the increase in credit risk, as well as designation of forward-looking information. The

estimates involve numerous variables; therefore, actual results may differ from the estimates.



Reduction of inventory cost to net realisable value

In determining the reduction of inventory cost to net realisable value, the management
exercises judgement in estimating the net realisable value of inventory based on the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs necessary
to make the sale. The management also exercises judgement in estimating the expected
losses from stock obsolescence based on the movements of inventories and the prevailing

economic condition.
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

In determining depreciation of plant and equipment, the management is required to estimate
the useful lives and residual values of the plant and equipment and to review estimated useful
lives and residual values when there are any changes.

In addition, the management is required to review property, plant and equipment for impairment
on a periodical basis and record impairment losses when it is determined that their recoverable
amount is lower than the carrying amount. This requires judgements regarding forecast of

future revenues and expenses relating to the assets subject to the review.
Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax
losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences and losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement is
required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon

the likely timing and level of estimate future taxable profits.
Estimated cost of project works / Provision for loss on project works

In determining estimated cost of project works, the management is required to make
judgment regarding estimate cost and related expenses to be incurred to complete the
project, and to review the estimated cost on a regular basis and when it is determined that

actual costs materially differ from the estimates.

In addition, the management is required to apply judgment in estimating loss it expects to be
realised on project work based on estimated cost of the project. This estimate takes into

account project progress, actual cost and the current circumstances.
Post-employment benefits under defined benefit plans

The obligation under the defined benefit plan is determined based on actuarial technigques.
Such determination is made based on various assumptions, including discount rate, future
salary increase rate, mortality rate and staff turnover rate.
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Litigation

The Group has contingent liabilities as a result of litigation. The Group’s management has
used judgement to assess of the results of the litigation and believes that no loss will result.

Therefore, no contingent liabilities are recorded as at the end of reporting period.
6. Related party transactions

During the years, the Group had significant business transactions with related parties. Such
transactions, which are summarised below, arose in the ordinary course of business and were
concluded on commercial terms and bases agreed upon between the Group and those related
parties.

(Unit: Million Baht)

Consolidated Separate
Pricing policy financial statements financial statements
2024 2023 2024 2023
Transactions with subsidiaries
(eliminated from the consoclidated financial statements)
Purchases of goods Agreed price - - 170 800
Sales of goods Agreed price - - 75 678
Service income Agreed price - - 4 6
Fevenue from project warks Agreed price - - 1 3
Other income Agreed price - - 18 19
Dividend income As declared - - 278 729
Interest income 3.0-3.3% per annum - - 2 2
Rental income Agreed price - - a3 61
Selling and administrative expenses  Agreed price - - 42 40
Cost of project works Agreed price - - 11 1
Transactions with associates
Sales of goods Agreed price &7 67 58 61
Service income Agreed price 78 683 78 83
Revenue from project works Agreed price 41 9 41 9
Other income Agreed price 2 2 2 3
Dividend income As declared - - 10 10
Cost of project works Agreed price 18 21 18 21
Transactions with directors
Service income Agreed price 22 12 - -
Other income Agreed price 7 T 7 7
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As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the balances of the accounts between the Group and those
related companies are as follows:

(Unit; Thousand Baht)

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2024 2023 2024 2023

Trade and other receivables - related parties (Note 8)
Subsidiaries - - 29,061 28,692
Associates 115,717 101,779 115,734 101,780
Directors 13,373 12,962 459 672
Total 129,090 114,741 145,254 131,144
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses (73,353) {41,779) (77.494) (53,672)
Total trade and other receivables - related parties, net 55,737 72,962 67,760 77472
Trade and other payables - related parties (Mote 21)
Subsidiaries - - 30,445 47535
Associates 15,032 15,262 14,430 14,798
Total trade and other payables - related parties 16,032 15,262 53 875 62,333
Advances received from customers - related parties
Subsidiaries - - a0 36
Associate 17,363 84,545 17,363 84,545
Total advances received from customers -

related parties 17,363 84,545 17,453 84,581
Lease liabilities - related party
Directors 357 609 - -
Total lease liabilities - related party 357 609 - -
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Short-term loans to related parties

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the balance of short-term loans to related parties and the

movement of such loans are as follows:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Consolidated financial statements

Balance as at Balance as at
31 December 31 December
Loans to related party 2023 Increase Decrease 2024
Related party
Survey Systermn Co., Ltd.* 3,087 3,087 (6,174)
Total short-term loans to related party, net 3,087 3,087 (6,174)

{Unit: Thousand Baht)

Separate financial statements

Balance as at Balance as at
31 December Unrealised loss 31 December
Loans to related parties 2023 Increase Decrease on exchange 2024
Subsidiaries
Forth Meter Co., Ltd. 12,765 - (12,765) - -
Forth Lighting Co., Ltd. 21,500 1,000 (6,000) - 16,500
Mindmap Commtech Inc. 18,857 - - (24) 18,763
Agro Forth Co,, Ltd. 28,000 1.000 - - 29,000
Forth Global Mesh Co., Ltd - 4,100 {4,100) - -
Related party
Survey System Co., Ltd.* 3,087 3,087 (6,174) - -
Total 84,209 9,187 (29.039) () 64,263
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses (36,793) (2.782) 12,765 94 (26,716)
47 416 6.405 (16.274) - 37547

Total short-term loans to related parties, net

* Relationship of related company is company jointly investing in a joint operation entity



Short-term loans from related party

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the balance of short-term loans from related party and

the movement of such loans are as follows:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Separate financial statements

Balance as at Balance as at
31 December 31 December
Loans from related party 2023 Increase Decrease 2024
Subsidiary
Genius Traffic System Co., Ltd. - 50,000 - 50,000
Total short-term loans from related party, net - 50,000 - 50,000

Directors and management's benefits

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group had employee benefit

expenses payable to their directors and management as below.

Consolidated

financial statements

(Unit: Thousand Baht)
Separate

financial statements

2024 2023 2024 2023
Short-term employee benefits 102,969 105,260 40,280 40,603
Post-employment benefits 3,738 3,635 1,467 1,467
Total 106,707 108,895 41,747 42,070

Guarantee obligations and commitments with related parties

The Company has outstanding guarantee obligations and commitment with its related parties,

as described in Note 36 to the financial statements.
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7.

Cash and cash equivalents

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2024 2023 2024 2023
Cash 17,318 19,324 200 202
Bank deposits 750,771 679,551 49,504 31,265
Cash in online automatic machines 28,934 24,026 - -
Deposits at banks with restrictions 36,104 83,522 - -
Bank deposit for advances received
from customers 6,993 1,072 - -
Total 840,120 807,495 49,704 31,467

As at 31 December 2024, bank deposits carried interests between 0.15 and 0.70%per annum
(2023: between 0.15 and 1.40% per annum).

As at 31 December 2024, bank deposits with withdrawal restrictions of Forth Smart Service

Public Company Limited (the subsidiary) were as follows:

Bank deposits with restrictions

Bank deposits that the subsidiary must adequately maintain each day for service related to
money deposits, payment receival service, and top-up service, as the subsidiary acts as

an agent for several commercial banks in providing these services.

Bank deposit for advances received from customers

The minimum bank deposits that the subsidiary must maintain for handling advance
payments from customers, in accordance with the notification of the Bank of Thailand
regarding “Stipulation of Guidelines, Procedures and Conditions for Electronic Money Service
Business”, which requires the subsidiary to keep deposits received in advance from
customers in cash at commercial banks or specialized financial institutions at all times, in

an amount not less than the outstanding value of such advance payments from customers.



Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables - related parties (Note 6)

Age on the basis of due dates
Not yet due
Past due
Up to 3 months
3 - 6 months
6 - 12 months
Over 12 months
Total
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses
Total trade receivables - related parties, net
Trade receivables - unrelated parties
Age on the basis of due dates
Mot yet due
Past due
Up to 3 months
3 - 6 months
6 - 12 months
Over 12 months
Total
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses

Total trade receivables - unrelated parties, net

Total trade receivables - net

Consolidated

financial statements

(Unit: Thousand Baht)
Separate

financial statements

2024 2023 2024 2023

317 73,545 3,407 73,698
34,173 5,606 29,173 2,467
8,237 7,314 3,617 1,521
81,223 - 81,223 -
2,514 25,677 14,453 37,213
126,464 112,142 131,873 114,899
(73,353) (41,779) (72,972) (48,784)
53,111 70,363 58,901 66,115
563,371 482,074 89,242 45,385
253,093 228,375 27,162 13,512
14,374 24,269 157 4,788
10,117 5,624 113 78
97,386 104,818 23,508 23,462
939,741 845,160 140,182 87,225
(101,426) (95,390) (22,869) (7.564)
838,315 749,770 117,313 79,661
891,426 820,133 176,214 145,776
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Other receivables - related parties (Note 6)

Other receivables

Advances

Accrued income

Interest receivables

Less: Allowance for expected credit losses
Interest receivables - net

Total other receivables - related parties, net

Other receivables - unrelated parties

Other receivables

Less: Allowance for expected credit losses
Other receivables - net

Other receivables - service representatives
Advances

Less: Allowance for expected credit losses
Advances - net

Accrued income

Less: Allowance for expected credit losses

Accrued income - net

Total other receivables - unrelated parties, net

Total other receivables - net

Total trade and other receivables - net

The normal credit term is 30 to 60 days.

Consolidated

financial statements

{Unit: Thousand Baht)
Separate

financial statements

2024 2023 2024 2023
840 1,822 4,700 8,003
20 - 859 840
1,766 742 3,172 2,345
- 35 4,650 5,057
- - (4,522) (4,888)
- 35 128 169
2,626 2,599 8,859 11,357
52,245 98,481 2,264 2,220
(8,557) (6,875) (2,220) (2,220)
43688 91,606 44 -
672,417 757,971 - -
41,741 41772 20,970 20,970
(40,545) (40,902) (20,946) (20,946)
1,196 870 24 24
103,437 132,684 1,332 1,518
(4,686) (4,686) (686) (686)
98,751 127,998 646 832
816,052 978,445 714 856
818,678 981,044 9,573 12,213
1,710,104 1,801,177 185,787 157,989

Accrued income generally has the period of increase invoice within 30 official days after the

end period.




Set out below is the movements in the allowance for expected credit loss of trade receivables.

Beginning balance

Provision for expected credit losses

Write-off

Reversal

Translation adjustment

Ending balance

Consolidated

financial statements

{Unit: Thousand Baht)

Separate

financial statements

2024 2023 2024 2023
(137,169) (97,308) (56,348) (20,984)
(48,705) (44,180) (39,493) (35,364)
3,719 705 - )
7,333 2,946 - )
43 668 - -
(174,779) (137,169) (95,841) (56,348)

The significant increase in allowance for expected credit losses of trade receivables was

mainly due to economic conditions that affect the debtors’ ability to make payments.

Inventories

Raw materials
Work in process
Finished goods
Supplies

Goods in transit
Project in progress

Total inventories

Raw materials
Work in process
Finished goods
Project in progress

Total inventories

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Consolidated financial statements

Reduce cost to net

Cost realisable value Inventories - net
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
992 567 944 635 (230,383) (251,789) 753,184 692 846
75918 120,546 (11,592) (10,063) 64 326 119,483
1,231,082 993,124 (297 667) (254 776) 933,415 743,343
a7,397 60,938 (12,790) (10,182) 84 607 50,756
33,040 38,963 - - 33,040 38,963
53,867 88,135 - (7 ,689) 53,867 80,446
2,483 871 2,269,341 (561,432) (534,499) 1,822 439 1,725,842
(Unit: Thousand Baht)
Separate financial statements
Reduce cost to net
Cost realisable value Inventories - net
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
156,856 168,544 (148,647) (147 669) 8,200 20,875
6,052 6,986 (4,594) (4,6486) 1,458 2,340
604,133 232705 (118,044) (114 863) 486,089 117 742
26,668 88,135 - (7,689) 26 669 80,446
793,709 496 370 (271,285) (274,967) 522 424 221,403
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Movement of reduction cost of inventories to net realisable value are as follows:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Consolidated Separate

financial statements financial statements

2024 2023 2024 2023
Beqginning balance (534,499) (489,335) (274,967) (293,824)
Addition (35,766) (91,330) (4,007) (5,053)
Write-off 1,144 43,790 - 23,910
Reversal 7,689 2376 7,689 -
Ending balance (561,432) (534,499) (271,285) (274,967)

The Group reduced cost of inventories to reflect the net realisable value. This was included

in cost of sales.
10. Loans receivable

10.1 As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the contracted terms of the Company's loan receivables
are 12 - 60 installments with payments to be made in equal installments and interest charged
at fixed rates throughout in the contracts. Loan receivables classified by due date per

agreement are as follows:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Consolidated financial statements

Amounts due Amounts due
within 1 year over 1 year Total
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

Loan receivables 613,168 230,311 261,595 123,519 1,174,763 353,830
Add: Accrued interest income 14,574 3,611 - - 14,574 3,611
Less: Allowance for expected

credit losses (21,781) (40,349) (29,675) (21,307) (51,456)  (61,656)
Loan receivables - net 605961 193573 531,920 102,212 1,137,881 205785

' The balance of loan receivables due within 1 year includes receivables that are credit impaired.

156



10.2 As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the balances of loan receivables are classified by credit

risk and allowance for expected credit losses as follows:

{Unit: Thousand Baht)

Consolidated financial statements

Loan receivables and Allowance for expected
accrued interest income credit losses
2024 2023 2024 2023
Loan receivables without a significant
increase in credit risk (Performing) 1,123,333 293,634 6,302 3,889
Loan receivables with a significant increase
in credit risk (Under-performing) 16,520 6,281 1,778 481
Loan receivables with credit impaired
{Mon-performing) 49,484 57,526 43,376 57,286
Total 1,189,337 357 441 51,456 61,656

10.3 Allowance for expected credit losses

Movements of allowance for expected credit losses of loan receivables and accrued

interest income are as follows:

{Unit: Thousand Baht)

Consolidated financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Lifetime Lifetime

ECL - not credit  ECL - credit

12-month ECL impaired impaired
(Stage 1) (Stage 2) (Stage 3) Total

Beginning balance 3,889 481 57,286 61,656
Add (less): Stage changes 131 155 {286) -
Add (less): Changes due to revaluation of

allowance for credit loss 1,602 1,243 (8,571) (5,726)
Add: New financial assets acquired 1,314 64 - 1,378
Less: Derecognition of financial assets (634) (165) (5,053) (5,852)
Ending balance 6,302 1,778 43,376 51,456
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(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Consolidated financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Lifetime Lifetime

ECL - not credit  ECL - credit

12-month ECL impaired impaired
(Stage 1) (Stage 2) (Stage 3) Total

Beginning balance 3,31 2,181 44 165 49 657

Add (less): Stage changes (160) (463) 623 -
Add (less): Changes due to revaluation of

allowance for credit loss (1,086) (1,218) 13,371 11,067

Add: New financial assets acquired 2,530 263 2810 5603

Less: Derecognition of financial assets (7086) (282) (3,683) (4,671)

3,889 481 57,286 61,656

Ending balance

11. Hire purchase and finance lease receivables

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, hire purchase and finance lease receivables classified by

types of receivables are as follows:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2024 2023 2024 2023
Hire purchase receivables 15,530 29,203 15,477 28,159
Finance lease receivables 72,794 143 679 72,794 143,679
Hire purchase and finance lease receivables 88,324 172,882 88,271 171,838
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As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the balances and movement of hire purchase and finance

lease receivables are as follows:

Hire purchase and finance lease receivables

Less: Unearned interest income
Present value of minimum lease payment
Less: allowance for expected credit loss

Hire purchase and finance lease receivables

Hire purchase and finance lease receivables
Less: Unearned interest income
Present value of minimum lease payment

Less: allowance for expected credit loss

Hire purchase and finance lease receivables

{Unit: Thousand Baht)

Consolidated financial statements

Portion due within Portion due
one year after one year Total

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
89,944 98,945 7,507 88,945 97,451 187,890
(3,029} {5,382) (209) {1,925) (3,238) (7,307)
86,915 93,563 7,298 87,020 94,213 180,583
(5,889)  (7.701) - (5.889)  (7.701)
81,026 85,862 7,298 87,020 88,324 172,882

Separate financial statements

{Unit: Thousand Baht)

Portion due within

Portion due more than

one year one year Total

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

82,689 88,945 7.507 88,945 90,196 177,890

(1.716) (3,976) (209) (1.925) (1,925) (5,901)

80,973 84,969 7,298 87,020 88,271 171,989
- {151) - - {151)

80,973 84,818 7,298 87,020 88,271 171,838

Movement of hire purchase and finance lease receivables for the year ended 31 December

2024 are as follows:

Balances as at 31 December 2023
Collection during the year

Realised interest income

Allowance for expected credit losses

Balances as at 31 December 2024

Less: Current portion

(Unit: Thousand Banht)

Consolidated

financial statements

Separate

financial statements

Hire purchase and finance lease receivables - net

of current portion

172,882 171,838
(90,439) (87.694)
4,069 3,976
1,812 151
88,324 88,271
(81,026) (80,973)
7.298 7,298
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12. Restricted bank deposits
Restricted bank deposits as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 comprised of:

a) The subsidiaries’ fixed deposits which are pledged with bank to secure letter of guarantee
issued by banks on behalf of the subsidiaries in respect of certain performance bonds
required in the normal course of business amounting to Baht 9 million (2023: Baht 14

million).

b) Bank deposits of Baht 25 million (2023: Baht 25 million) is placed with two commercial
banks that required the subsidiary to maintain a minimum savings deposit at all times until
the agency contracts expire (the subsidiary acts as the commercial bank agent to
provided deposit service through online top-up machine).

13. Other non-current financial assets
Details of other non-current financial assets as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

{Unit: Thousand Baht)

Consolidated financial statements Separate financial statements
2024 2023 2024 2023
Equity instruments designated
measurement at FVOCI
Odin Power Co., Ltd. 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000
Box 24 Co., Ltd.™ - - - -
Total 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000

{'Held by Forth Smart Capital Company Limited
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14. Investments in subsidiaries

14.1 Details of investments in subsidiaries as presented in separate financial statements

are as follows:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Carrying amount based Dividend received
Company Cost Allowance for impairment on cost method - net during the year

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
Ferth Vending Co., Ltd. 644 500 644 500 - - 644 500 644,500 19,335 68,820
Forth Smart Service Ple. 396,223 396,223 - - 396,223 396,223 162 428 134 696
Forth EMS Ple. 350,000 350,000 - - 350,000 350,000 - 280,000
Genius Traffic System Co., Ltd. 200,056 200,056 - - 200,056 200,056 75,000 185,000
Mindmap Cemmtech Inc. 76,764 76,764 (76,764) (76,764) - - - -
Electronics Source Co., Ltd. 54 975 54,975 - - 54,975 54,975 20,000 59,999
Forth Meter Co., Ltd. 32,000 18,000 (32,000) {18,000) - - - -
Forth Consulting Co., Ltd. 30,000 30,000 (30,000) (30,000) - - - -
Forth Lighting Co., Ltd. 20,000 20,000 - - 20,000 20,000 - -
Agro Forth Co., Ltd. 16,500 16,500 - - 16,500 16,500 - -
Forth Devons Co., Ltd. 6,000 3,750 - - 6,000 3,750 - -
Joint Venture Genius 1,200 1,400 - - 1,200 1,400 - a7
Forth Group Jaoint Venture Co., Ltd. 540 540 - - 540 540 - -
Forth Global Mesh Co., Lid. 510 510 - - 510 510 1,020 -
Joint Venture Feorth Genius - 85 - - - 85 - -
Total 1,829,268 1,813,313 (138,764)  (124,764) 1,690,504 1,688,549 277,783 728612
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Subsidiaries held through the Company

a)

b)

c)

Joint Venture Forth Genius

On 30 November 2023, the Counterparty Meeting of Joint Venture Forth Genius, passed
a resolution to approve a dissolution of such joint venture. The subsidiary has already

registered the dissolution on 1 May 2024.
Forth Devons Company Limited

On 27 March 2024, the Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders of Forth Devons
Company Limited passed a resolution to approve an increase in the registered share
capital from Baht 5 million (500,000 ordinary shares with a par value of Baht 10 each) to
Baht & million (800,000 ordinary shares with a par value of Baht 10 each) by issuing the
new 300,000 ordinary shares with a par value of Baht 10 each to its existing shareholders
in proportion to their shareholdings. The subsidiary had already registered the increase
in share capital with the Department of Business Development, Ministry of Commerce

and received the full amount of share payment in April 2024.
Forth Meter Company Limited

On 25 June 2024, the Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders of Forth Meter
Company Limited passed a resolution to approve an increase in the registered share
capital from Baht 40 million (4,000,000 ordinary shares with a par value of Baht 10 each)
to Baht 54 million (5,400,000 ordinary shares with a par value of Baht 10 each) by issuing
the new 1,400,000 ordinary shares with a par value of Baht 10 each. The Company
exercised the rights to purchase such issued shares in proportion to its shareholding and
also acquired ordinary shares in the portion that existing shareholders waived their right
to subscribe totaling 1,400,000 ordinary shares with a par value of Baht 10 each,
amounting to Baht 14 million. The subsidiary had already registered the increase in share
capital with the Department of Business Development, Ministry of Commerce and
received the full amount of share payment in June 2024,

Following the acquisition of the above ordinary shares, the Company's percentage of
shareholding of Forth Meter Company Limited increased from 85.0% to 88.9%. The
Company also additionally recognised allowance for impairment on investment in such
subsidiary amounting to Baht 14 million in the statement of comprehensive income of the

separate financial statements.

The Group recognised a change in the proportion of investment in the subsidiary in the
amount of Bath 2.1 million under the caption of “Deficit from changes in shareholding of

subsidiary” in the consolidated financial statements.



14.2 Details of investments in subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests

Propoertion of equity

interest held by non-

Accumulated balance of

(Unit: Million Baht)
Profit or loss allocated to Dividend paid to

non-controlling interests non-controlling interests

Company contralling interests non-contralling interests during the years during the years
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
(%) (%)
Forth Smart Service Plc,
and subsidiaries 47 47 703 688 162 145 146 121
Ferth Vending Co., Ltd. 40 40 488 458 41 94 11 4
Forth EMS Ple. 12 12 50 56 () 1 - 40

14.3 Summarised financial

information that based

on amounts before inter-company

elimination about subsidiaries that have material non-controlling

Summarised information about financial position

{Unit: Million Baht)

Company Current assets Non-current assets Current liabilities Non-current liabilities
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
Forth Smart Service Plc.
and subsidiaries 1,232 1,417 2,065 1,320 1,913 1,463 87 103
Forth Vending Co., Ltd. 463 524 2,308 2,350 715 810 402 47
Forth EMS Ple. 1,492 1,476 737 481 1,089 1,058 525 257
Summarised information about comprehensive income
(Unit: Million Baht)
Other Total
Company Revenus Profit comprehensive income comprehensive income
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
Forth Smart Service Plc.
and subsidiaries 2.475 2,255 435 299 {2) - 433 299
Forth Vending Co., Lid. 1,573 1,796 102 235 - 102 235
Forth EMS Ple. 2411 3,718 27 141 (6) - (21) 141
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Summarised information about cash flow

(Unit: Million Baht)

Cash flow from (used in) Cash flow used in Cash flow from (used in)  Met increase (decrease) in
Company operating activities investing activities financing activities cash and cash equivalents
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
Forth Smart Service Ple.
and subsidiaries (239) 551 {43) (157) 282 (404)
Forth Vending Co., Ltd. 534 488 (347) (747) {(182) 236 5
Farth EMS Ple. 209 349 (52) (54) (88) (264) B9

15. Joint arrangement - joint operation

The Group has interests in joint operations which are joint arrangements whereby the Group
has rights to assets and obligations relating to the joint arrangements. The Group recognises
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses in relation to its interest in the joint operations in
the consolidated and separate financial statements from the date that joint control
commences until the date that joint control ceases.

Forth Survey Joint Venture

The Company has entered into a joint venture with Survey System Company Limited, a joint
venture in the form of Forth Survey Joint Venture (the Joint Venture) with an interest in the
joint operation of 51% to bid for a contract to improve provicial boundary data in the

geographic information system (GIS).

In 2023, the Joint Venture entered into the Service Contract Agreement, as the contractor,
with the Department of Lands. In 2024, the Joint Venture has already delivered work to the
Department of Lands.

Financial information of the joint arrangement which is the joint operation is presented
including in the separate financial statements as below.

(Unit: Million Baht)

2024 2023
Summarised information about profit and loss:
Total revenues B 3
Total expenses (3) (2)
Profit for the year 1 1
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16.2

Forth MRO Service Company Limited

On 28 September 2023, Forth MRO Service Co., Ltd. (the joint venture) entered into a total
of 3 agreements with Airports of Thailand Company Public Company Limited (AOT) which
are consisted of (1) a 15-year land lease agreement at Don Mueang Airport, commencing
from the date of permission to operate the Aircraft Maintenance, Repair and Overhaul (MRO)
(2) a 2-year land use permit for construction of the MRO at Don Mueang Airport as specified
in the agreement, and (3) a 15-year permit for the operation of the aircraft maintenance,
repair and overhaul (MRO) center at Don Mueang Airport, commencing from the date of

permission to operate the MRO.

Under these three agreements, the joint venture is obligated to undertake the construction of
buildings and its related structures for the Aircraft Maintenance, Repair, and Overhaul center
(“MRO Center”) at Don Mueang Airport. The joint venture assumes responsibility for the
expenses associated with the construction. Upon completion, the joint venture is required to
transfer the ownership of such constructed property to the Ministry of Finance, while retaining
the right to use the property for the operation of the MRO Center. The joint venture is also
responsible for the operating expenses of the MRO Center and is obliged to share the
revenue generated from the MRO Center to AOT at the rates specified in the agreements.

Share of comprehensive income and dividend received

During the years, the Company has recognised its share of profit (loss) from investments in
associates and joint ventures in the consolidated financial statements and dividend income

in the separate financial statements as follows:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Consolidated financial statements Separate financial statements
Share of profit (loss) from Dividend received
Company's name investments during the years during the years
2024 2023 2024 2023
Forth Tracking System Co_, Ltd. 4 286 10,736 10,199 10,199
Joint Venture Forth and Yip In Tsoi - (14,151) -
Forth MRO Service Company Limited (432) - -

Total 3,854 (3,415) 10,199 10,199




16.3 Summarised financial information about material associates and joint ventures

17.

Summarised information about financial position

Cash and cash equivalent
Other current assets
Equipment

Trade and other payables

Net assets

Shareholding percentage (%)

Share of net assets

Goodwill

(Unit: Million Baht)

Forth MRO Service Company Limited

Carrying amounts of joint ventures based on equity method

Investment properties

2024 2023
24 30

3 13

25 10

- (1)

52 52
74 74
38 38

5 5

43 43

The net book value of investment properties as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 is presented

below.

As at 31 December 2024
Cost

Less: Accumulated depreciation

MNet book value

As at 31 December 2023

Cost
Less: Accumulated depreciation

MNet book value

Consolidated financial statements

{Unit: Thousand Baht)

Separate financial statements

Land and land Land and land  Office building
improvement Building Total improvement for rent Total
453,281 26,474 479,755 1,174,022 872,418 2,046 440
(6.594) (6,894) {11,320) (260.410) (271,730)
453,281 19,580 472,861 1,162,702 612,008 1,774,710
437,656 24812 462 468 1,002,187 764,766 1,856,953
(6,375) (6,375) (3,644) (218.404) (222,048)
437 656 18,437 456,093 1,088,543 546,362 1,634,905
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A reconciliation of the net book value of investment properties for the years 2024 and 2023

is presented below.

Met book value at beginning of year
Addition

Depreciation

Disposal

Transferred from (to) property, plant

and equipment

Net book value at end of year

Consolidated

financial statements

(Unit: Thousand Baht)
Separate

financial statements

2024 2023 2024 2023
456,093 467,425 1,634,905 1,154,411
35,415 - 35,415 -
(519) (925) (49,681) (27,948)
(18,128) - (18,128) -
- (10,407) 172,199 508,442
472,861 456,093 1,774,710 1,634,005

As at 31 December 2024, the fair value of the investment properties amounted to Baht 469

million (2023: Baht 452 million) in the consolidated financial statements and Baht 2,026 million

(2023: Baht 1,837 million) in the separate financial statements.

The fair value has been determined based on the valuation performed by an independent

valuer, using market approach for land, while building and office building held for rent has been

determined using the income approach. Key assumptions used in the valuation include yield

rate, inflation rate, long-term vacancy rate and long-term growth in real rental rates.
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As at 31 December 2024, the subsidiary has outstanding balance of equipment under the
sales and leaseback contract, as discussed in Note 24 to financial statements, amounting to
Baht 249 million (2023: Baht 299 million). The sale and leaseback contracts has 60 monthly

installments commencing from June 2022 to November 2027.

As at 31 December 2024, the subsidiary has mortgaged its equipment amounting to Baht 419
million (2023: Baht 174 million) as collateral against credit facilities received from bank.

As at 31 December 2024, certain equipment items of the Group had been fully depreciated
but were still in use. The gross carrying amount before deducting accumulated depreciation
of those assets amounted to approximately Baht 3,552 million (2023: Baht 2,764 million)
(the Company only: Baht 311 million (2023: Baht 307 million)).

19. Intangible assets

Intangible assets is computer software. The net book value of intangible assets as at
31 December 2024 and 2023 is presented below.

(Unit: Thousand Baht)
Consolidated Separate

financial statements financial statements

As at 31 December 2024:

Cost 261,343 31,546
Less: Amortisation (158,778) (25,075)
Less: Impairment (7,595) -
Net book value 94,970 6,471

As at 31 December 2023:

Cost 242,455 30,030
Less: Amortisation (139,517) (24,116)
Less: Impairment (7,595) -

MNet book value 95,343 5914
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20.

A reconciliation of the net book value of intangible assets for the years 2024 and 2023 is
presented below.

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Consolidated financial statements Separate financial statements
2024 2023 2024 2023
Met book value at beginning of year 95343 110,837 5914 3,824
Acquisition 18,888 18,527 1,516 2888
Impairment - (7,595) - -
Amortisation (19,261) (26,426) (959) (798)
Met book value at end of year 94,970 95,343 6,471 5914

Bank overdrafts and short-term loans from banks

{Unit: Thousand Baht)

Interest rate Consolidated Separate
(% per annum) financial statements financial statements
2024 23 2024 2023 2024 2023

Short-term loans from banks 2.84-3.70 3.00-3.70 4,098,649 2,931,200 2,303,649 1,656,200
Trust receipts 2.86-288 285 64,770 19,324 64,770 =

Total 4,163,419 2,950,524 2,368 419 1,656,200

Short-term loans and trust receipts are due at call and within 3 months.

Bank overdrafts and short-term credit facilities of the Group are secured by transfers of most
of collection rights for their project works. In addition, the Company guaranteed facilities of
the subsidiaries and the associated as described in Note 36 to the financial statements.

As at 31 December 2024, the short-term credit facilities of the Group which have not yet been
drawn down amounted to Baht 4,490 million (2023: Baht 4,942 million) (the Company only:
Baht 2,200 million (2023: Baht 2,032 million)).
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21. Trade and other payables

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Consolidated Separate

financial statements financial statements

2024 2023 2024 2023
Trade and other payables - related parties (Note 6)
Trade payables 14,429 14,798 50,608 59,018
Other payables 401 280 2777 2,841
Accrued expenses 202 183 490 474
Total trade and other payables - related parties 15,032 15,262 53,875 62,333
Trade and other payables - unrelated parties
Trade payables 694,437 762,288 93,868 81,921
Other payables 302,066 363,849 16,912 20,347
Accrued expenses 325,894 323,667 104,690 101,490
Total trade and other payables - unrelated parties 1,322,397 1,449 604 215470 203,758
Total trade and other payables 1,337,429 1,464 866 269,345 266,091

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, Forth Smart Service Public Company

Limited reversed other payables as other income in profit or loss as follows.

{Unit: Million Baht)

Consolidated financial statements

2024 2023
Credit top-up amount for prepaid telephone or money transfer that
customers have not used for a period of more than a year 39 42
Unsuccessful money top-up for which customers did not claim
the refund for more than a year 42 69

Total 81 111
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23.

23.1

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2024 2023 2024 2023
Beginning balance 1,471,114 442 025 1,022,664 322,025
Additional borrowings 90,000 1,387,897 - 890,997
Repayments (456,732) (358,808) (327,632) (190,358)
Ending balance 1,104,382 1,471,114 695,032 1,022,664

According to the conditions stipulated in the loan agreements, the Group agrees not to
encumber its assets throughout the loans periods. The loan agreements contained covenants
as specified in each loan agreements that, among other things, require the Group to maintain
certain debt to equity ratio, debt service coverage ratio, current ratio, including certained
condition on dividend payment and debt incurring, and shareholding ratio of the shareholders.

As of 31 December 2024, the Company was unable to maintain the capital ratio and
conditions that the Company must has the balances of cash and cash equivalents, accounts
receivable and inventories is greater than the balances of short-term borrowings and trade
payables, as stipulate in of the loan agreement (Loan 8). However, in December 2024, the
Company received a waiver letter approving the relaxation of conditions as of 31 December

2024, from the lender. Therefore, the Company reclassified such loan as long-term loan.

As at 31 December 2024, the long-term credit facilities of the Group which have not yet been
drawn down amounted to Baht 600 million (2023: Baht 100 million) (the Company only: Nil
(2023: Baht 100 million)).

Leases
The Group as a lessees

The Group as a lessee has lease contracts for various items of assets used in its operations.
Leases generally have lease terms between 1 - 16 years.



2311 Right-of-use assets

Movement of right-of-use assets for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are

summarised below:

{Unit: Thousand Baht)

Consolidated financial statements

Office Motor Advertising
Land Buildings equipment vehicles billboard Total

Net book value as at

1 January 2023 3,545 145,843 58 29,193 18,772 197 411
Additions - 25,447 360 51,317 - 77124
Lease medification - (7,083) - (2,.442) - (9,525)
Depreciation (206} (36,502) (150) {15,116} (4,593) (56,567)
Net book value as at

31 December 2023 3,338 127,705 268 62,952 14,179 280,806
Additions - 29,304 - 6,095 - 35,399
Lease modification - (3,626) - - - (3,626)
Depreciation (208) (35,709) (94) (21,589) (4,593) (62,201)
Net book value as at

31 December 2024 3133 117,674 174 47,448 9,586 178,015

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Separate financial statements

Buildings Motor vehicles Total
Net book value as at 1 January 2023 58,008 549 58,557
Additions 1,676 - 1,676
Lease modification (357) - (357)
Depreciation (6,096) (549) (6,645)
Net book value as at 31 December 2023 53,231 - 53,231
Additions 698 1,674 2372
Lease modification (837) - (837)
Depreciation (5,931) (457) (6,388)
Net book value as at 31 December 2024 47,161 1,217 48,378

179



180

2312 Lease liabilities

Consolidated

financial statements

(Unit: Thousand Baht)
Separate

financial statements

2024 2023 2024 2023
Lease payments 212,045 246 422 59,310 64,894
Less: Deferred interest expenses (20,588) (27,403) (10.,468) (12,712)
Total 191,487 219,019 48,842 52,182
Less: Portion due within one year (63,298) (56,484) (6,087) (5,080)
Lease liabilities - net of current portion (128,189) 162,535 42755 47,102

Movement of the lease liabilities account during the years ended 31 December 2024 and

2023 are summarised below:

Consolidated

financial statements

(Unit: Thousand Baht)
Separate

financial statements

2024 2023 2024 2023
Balance at beginning of year 219,019 197,777 52,182 55,400
Additions 35,399 77,124 2,373 1,676
Lease modification (3,929) (9,838) (873) (348)
Accretion of interest 9,104 8,574 2,277 2,421
Repayments (68,108) (54,618) (7,117) (6,967)
Balance at end of year 191,487 219,019 48 842 52,182

A maturity analysis of lease payments is disclosed in Note 39.2 to the financial statements

under the liquidity risk.

23.1.3Expenses relating to leases that are recognised in profit or loss

Consolidated

financial statements

{Unit: Thousand Baht)
Separate

financial statements

2024 2023
Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets 62,201 56,567
Interest expense on lease liabilities 9,104 8574
Expense relating to short-term leases 150,158 111,015
Expense relating to leases of low-value assets 246 4,414

2024 2023
6,388 6,645
2,277 2,421
3,742 8,931



2314 0Others

23.2

24,

The Group had total cash outflows for leases for the year ended 31 December 2024 of Baht
218 million (2023: Baht 166 million) (the Company only: Baht 11 million (2023: Baht 16
million)), including the cash outflow related to short-term lease and leases of low-value
assets.

The Group as a lessor

The Company has entered into operating leases for its investment property portfolio
consisting of office and manufacturing building.

The Company has future minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases
as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 as follows:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)
Separate
financial statements

2024 2023
Within 1 year 74,025 22,842
Over 1 and up to 5 years 374,843 75,261
Over 5 years 150,770 125,449
Total 599,638 223,192

Other financial liabilities

(Unit: Thousand Baht)
Consolidated

financial statements

2024 2023

Other cumrent financial liabilities
Liabilities under sale and leaseback agreement

amount paid according to sale and leaseback agreement liability 88,235 88,235
Less: Deferred interest (8,190) (11,379)
Total other current liabilities 80,045 76,856
Other non-current liabilities
Liabilities under sale and leaseback agreement

amount paid according to sale and leaseback agreement liability 162,248 250,483
Less: Deferred interest (6,360) (14,549)
Total other non-current financial liabilities 155,888 235,934

Total other financial liabilities 235933 312,790
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A maturity analysis of other financial liabilities is disclosed in Note 39.2 to the financial
statements under the liquidity risk.

Movement of other financial liabilities for the year ended 31 December 2024 are summarised

below:
(Unit: Thousand Baht)
Consolidated
financial statements
Balance at 31 December 2023 312,790
Accretion of interest 11,378
Repayments (88,235)
Balance at 31 December 2024 235,933
Less: Portion due within one year (80,045)
Other financial liabilities - net of current portion 155,888

25. Provision for long-term employee benefits

Provision for long-term employee benefits, which represents compensations payable to
employees after they retire, was as follows:

{Unit: Thousand Baht)

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2024 2023 2024 2023
Provision for long-term employee benefits
at beginning of year 164,709 155,617 48,214 44 803
Included in profit or loss:
Current service cost 19,876 10,551 2,768 3,045
Interest cost 4,889 3,335 1,113 1,350
Included in other comprehensive income:
Actuarial loss arising from
Demographic assumptions changes 1,717 - - -
Financial assumptions changes 16,644 - 2,141 -
Experience adjustments 7,913 - 4187 -
Benefits paid (3,674) (4,794) - (984)
Provision for long-term employee benefits
at end of year 212,174 164,709 58,423 48,214

The Group expects to pay Baht 44 million of long-term employee benefits during the next
year (2023: Baht 24 million).

As at 31 December 2024, the weighted average duration of the liahilities for long-term
employee benefits of the Group is 12 - 26 years (2023: 12 - 23 years) (the Company only: 12
years (2023: 12 years)).
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Significant actuarial assumptions are summarised below:

Discount rate
Salary increase rate

Turnover rate

{Unit: % per annum)
Consolidated Separate

financial statements financial statements

2024 2023 2024 2023
25-29 3.1-441 2.5 3.1
4.0-6.0 4.0-6.0 6.0 6.0
1.0-45.8 1.0-34.4 6.7-28.7 6.7 - 28.7

The results of sensitivity analysis for significant assumptions that affect the present value of
the long-term employee benefit obligation as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are summarised

below:

Discount rate

Salary increase rate

Turnover rate

Discount rate

Salary increase rate

Turnover rate

(Unit: Thousand Baht)
2024

Consolidated Separate

financial statements financial statements

Increase 1%  Decrease 1%  Increase 1%  Decrease 1%
(20,101) 23,880 (3,574) 4,201
22,865 (19,701) 3,983 (3,471)

Increase 20% Decrease 20% Increase 20% Decrease 20%

(17,383) 21,437 (5,284) 6,675

(Unit: Thousand Baht)
2023

Consolidated Separate

financial statements financial statements

Increase 1% Decrease 1% Increase 1% Decrease 1%
(15,739) 18,656 (3,030) 3,532
19,607 (17,107) 3,819 (3,347)

Increase 20% Decrease 20% Increase 20% Decrease 20%

(12,678) 19,560 (5,138) 6,410
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26. Provisions

(Unit: Thousand Baht)
Consolidated financial statement

27.

Provisions - Provisions -
Project works Product warranties Total
1 January 2023 11,372 7,176 18,548
Increase 7,396 3,614 11,010
Actual paid (1,820) (1,458) (3,278)
Revision of provisions (4,356) - (4,356)
31 December 2023 12,592 9,332 21,924
Increase 69,380 1,936 71,316
Actual paid (12,693) (1,758) (14,451)
Revision of provision (3,793) (3,808) (7,601)
31 December 2024 65,486 5,702 71,188
(Unit: Thousand Baht)
Separate financial statement

Provisions - Project works
1 January 2023 3,742
Increase 4,214
Actual paid (320)
Revision of provisions (1,777)
31 December 2023 5,859
Increase 67,158
Actual paid (12,694)
Revision of provision (1,242)

59,081

31 December 2024

Statutory reserve

Pursuant to Section 116 of the Public Limited Companies Act B.E. 2535, the Company is
required to set aside to a statutory reserve at least 5% of its net profit after deducting
accumulated deficit brought forward (if any), until the reserve reaches 10% of the registered
capital. The statutory reserve is not available for dividend distribution. At present, the statutory
reserve has fully been set aside.
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28. Revenue from contracts with customers

28.1 Disaggregated revenue information

Type of goods or service:
Sale of goods
Service income
Revenues from services through
online top-up machines
Income from rendering of mobile top-up service
for prepaid phone, and receipt of
other online services
Rental and equipment maintenance services
Revenues from project works
Total revenue from contracts with customers
Timing of revenue recognition:
Revenue recognised at a point in time
Revenue recognised over time

Total revenue from contracts with customers

28.2 Revenue recognised in relation to contract balances

Consolidated

financial statements

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Separate

financial statements

2024 2023 024 2023
4,541,868 5,067,229 561,619 1,014,898
615,273 687 448 12,786 9,161
1,731,908 1,606,285 - -
370,142 405,739 - -
808,501 883,252 651,510 592,159
599,556 841,594 398,370 679,462
8,767,338 9,491 547 1,624,285 2,295,680
7,269,281 7,766,701 574,405 1,024,059
1,508,057 1,724 846 1,049,880 1,271,621
8,767,338 9,491,547 1,624,285 2,295,680

During the year 2024, the Group recognised contract liabilities as revenue totaling Baht 254
million (2023: Baht 207 million) (the Company only: Baht 251 million (2023: Baht 108 million)).

28.3 Revenue to be recognised for the remaining performance obligations

As at 31 December 2024, the Group expected to be recognised revenue in the future in

respect of performance obligations under contracts with customers that are unsatisfied

(or partially unsatisfied) totaling Baht 1,706 million (2023: Baht 817 million) (the Company
only: Baht 1,442 million (2023: Baht 579 million)). The Group expects to satisfy these

performance obligations within 4 years.
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28.4 Contract balances

The balance of unbilled receivables - project works as at 31 December 2024 and 2023, aged
on the basis of period until they are expected to be billed to customers in the future, can be

summarised as follows:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2024 2023 2024 2023
Period to expected billing
In up to 3 months 56,485 72,081 61,026 63,935
In over 3 and up to 12 months 88,318 34,725 40,881 31,959
In over 1 year - 6,698 - 6,698
Total unbilled receivables - project works 144,803 113,504 101,907 102,592

29. Expenses by nature
Significant expenses classified by nature are as follows:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Consolidated Separate

financial statements financial statements

2024 2023 2024 2023
Salaries and wages and other employee benefits 1,184 370 1,449 829 246,033 241,734
Depreciation and amortisation 738,952 652,096 81,241 61,226
Costs of sales 3,944 734 4,262 627 501,522 820,379
Subcontract expenses for project works 548,260 382,623 526,563 382,623
Benefit sharing to service representatives 990,275 943,585 - -
Bank fee from money transfer service 136,343 170,267 - -
Rental expenses 150,404 115,429 3,742 8,931
Repair and maintenance expenses 119,605 115,150 4,887 4,201
Service expenses for data transferming system 0,734 79,402 - -
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30.

Income tax

Income tax for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are made up as follows:

Consolidated

financial statements

{Unit: Thousand Baht)
Separate

financial statements

2024 2023 2024 2023

Current income tax:
Current income tax charge 167,199 202,049 248 a5
Adjustment in respect of current income tax

of previous year - (2,430) - -
Deferred tax:
Relating to origination and reversal of

temporary differences (10,603) (29,264) (28,658) (9,958)
Income tax expenses (benefits) reported in

profit or loss 156,596 170,355 (28,410) (9,861)

The amounts of income tax relating to each component of other comprehensive income for

the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

Consolidated

financial statements

(Unit: Thousand Baht)
Separate

financial statements

2024 2023

Deferred tax relating to actuarial losses 4,973 -

2024 2023
1,266 -
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The reconciliation between accounting profit and income tax expenses is shown below.

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2024 2023 2024 2023

Accounting profit before tax 604,943 976,808 29,120 789,913
Applicable tax rate (%) 20 20 20 20
Accounting profit before tax multiplied by

applicable tax rate 120,989 195,362 5,824 157,983
Adjustment in respect of current income tax

of previous year - (2,430) - -
Temporary differences and tax loss which

deferred tax assets have not been

recognised 13,985 14,004 5,600 2,865
Previously deductible temporary differences and

tax loss that is use to reduce current tax

expenses (7,681) (16,707) (2,724) (7.532)
Reversal of deferred tax assets 10,809 - 4,905 -
Effect of elimination entries on the consclidated

financial statements {1,097) (8,381) - -
Effects of:

Mon-deductible expenses 10,041 9415 4 987 3,488

Tax-exempted dividend income - - (57,596) (147,762)

Revenues and expenses - tax allowed 8,989 (20,335) 10,714 (19,890)

Others 561 (573) (120) (13)
Total 19,591 {11,493) (42,015) (163,177)
Income tax expenses (revenues) reparted in

profit or loss 156,596 170,355 (28,410) (9,861)
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The components of deferred tax assets are as follows:

Deferred tax assets
Allowance for expected credit losses
Allowance for diminution in value of inventories
Allowance for asset impairment
Unrealised profit from inter-sales transactions
Provision for long-term employee benefits
Provisions

Lease liabilities
Tax losses camied forward

Total

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has deductible temporary differences and unused tax

losses totaling Baht 342 million (2023: Baht 309 million), on which deferred tax assets have

not been recognised.

The Group has unused tax losses amounting to Baht 94 million will expire by 2029.

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Statements of financial position

Consolidated

financial statements

Separate

financial statements

2024 2023 2024 2023
38,737 32,466 18,279 9,508
108,721 102,831 54 257 53,456
15,168 19,330 6,400 6,400
115,587 129,261 - -
40,152 32,390 10,408 9643
14,435 5,880 11,816 2710
2,190 7,169 2214 1,745
19,697 9,685 19,697 9,685
354,687 339,112 123,071 93,147
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31.

Promotional privileges

Certificate No. Premotional privileges for The significant privileges Date of first earning
operating incomes
The Company
66-1469-1-00-2-0 - Research and development Exemption of import duties for raw - Mot yet exercised

activities for vending machine

materials and supplies for 1 year.
Exemption of corporate income tax for

net profits for 8 years.

The subsidiaries

62-1342-1-04-1-2 - Manufacturing Printed Circuit
Board Assembly (PCBA),
parts or devices used with
electrical appliances,
electronic products, and
finished electronic products,
PABX and Telephone set.

Exemption of corporate income tax for
net profits up to 50% of the investment
for efficiency production improvement
until 2 June 2025,

Exemption of import duties on
imported machinery as approved by
BOI committee.

Exemption of import duties for raw
materials and supplies until 2 June

2025.

- 3 December 2019

B66-1630-2-00-1-0 - Manufactunng automatic

vending machines and

Exemption of corporate income tax for

net profits for 5 years.

- Mot yet exercised

repairing automatic vending Exemption of import duties for raw
machines which produced by materials and supplies for 1 year.
the subsidiary
66-1720-2-00-1-0 - Manufacturing Printed Circuit Exemption of corporate income tax for | - 27 December 2023

Board Assembly (PCBA) and

Metwork Device.

net profits 3 years for the production of
PCBA and 5 years for the production of
Network Devices.

Exemption of import duties for raw

materials and supplies for 1 year.

66-1126-2-00-1-0 - Aircraft maintenance (weight
limit at 5,700 kilograms)
under category 3.18.1.3 -

Aircraft repair or components

Exemption of corporate income tax for
net profits for 8 years.
Exemption of 90% of import duties for

raw materials and supplies for 1 year.

- Mot yet exercised




32.

The Group’s operating revenues for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, divided

between promoted and non-promoted operations, are summarised below.

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Promoted operations Mon-promoted operations Total
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
Sales and service
Domestic sales
and services 23,085 6,912 6,517,319 6,530,447 6,540,384 6,537,359
Oversea sales
and services 201,963 29,411 1,425435 2083173 1,627,398 2,112,594
Total sales (excluding
revenues from project
225,028 36,333 7,842,754 8,613,620 8,167,782 8,649,953

works)

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing profit for the year attributable to equity

holders of the Company (excluding other comprehensive income) by the weighted average

number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Consclidated

financial statemenis

Separate

financial statemenis

2024 2023
Profit for the year (Thousand Baht) 221,301 572 561
Weighted average number of ordinary shares
{Thousand shares) 935,375 935,375
Earnings per share (Baht per share) 0.24 0.61

2024 2023
57,530 799,774
935,375 935,375
0.06 0.86
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33.

Segment information

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on its products

and services and has three reportable segments as follows:

1) Electronics manufacturing service business is a business segment that sources,
manufactures and distributes electronics parts, both work manufactured order and

general equipment.

2) Enterprise solutions business is a business segment that bids for project work, sources,

subcontracts and install various systems for the government and private sectors.

3) Smart service business is a business segment that provides online financial transaction
service and sells products and service through vending machines and provides lending
services.

The chief operating decision maker monitors the operating results of the business units
separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource allocation and assessing
performance. Segment performance is measured based on operating profit or loss and total
assets and on a basis consistent with that used to measure operating profit or loss and total

assets in the financial statements.

The basis of accounting for any transactions between reportable segments is consistent with

that for third party transactions.
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Geographic information

The Groups' segments operating revenues for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, are presented below.

(Unit: Million Baht)y
Electronics manufachuring Enterprise soiution
senvice business. business Smart senvice business Eliminations Tatal
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

Thailand 1456 2844 2324 2,867 3877 3838 (BBE) {2.129) 72aM 7218
Metherlands 1.103 2,035 = = - - 1,108 2035
United States of

America 3068 107 - - - - 308 107
Others 155 13 61 53 ] 3 - 222 169
Total 1520 4899 2,385 2,920 3883 1839 (886} (2,129) 8902 9529
Major customers

For the year 2024, the Group has revenue from one major customer in amount of Baht 1,103 million (2023: Baht 2,035 million), arising from sales
by the electranics manufacturing service business segment.



34.

35.

Provident fund

The Group and its employees have jointly established provident funds in accordance with the
Provident Fund Act B.E. 2530. The Group and its employees contribute to the fund monthly
at a rate of 3% of basic salary. The funds, which are managed by Bangkok Capital Asset
Management Company Limited, TISCO Asset Management Company Limited, and American
International Assurance Company Limited, will be paid to employees upon termination in
accordance with the fund rules. The contributions for the year 2024 amounting to
approximately Baht 13 million (2023: Baht 15 million) (the Company only: Baht 4 million

(2023: Baht 4 million)) were recognised as expenses.

Dividends
Dividend paid
Dividends Appraved by Total dividends per share
(Thousand Baht) (Baht)

Dividends for 2022 The 2023 Annual General Meeting

of the Company's shareholders

on 24 April 2023 346,087 0.37
Interim dividend The Board of Directors' Meeting

on 15 August 2023 233,844 0.25
Total dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 579,931 0.62
Dividends for 2023 The 2023 Annual General Meeting

of the Company's shareholders

on 26 April 2024 205,782 0.22
Interim dividend The Board of Directors’ Meeting

on 14 August 2024 140,305 0.15
Total dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024 346,087 0.37
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36. Commitments and contingent liabilities

Short-term leases and lease of
low-value assets and service
agreements commitments
Leases
Service agreements

Capital commitments
Building and building improvements

construction contracts
Agreement to purchases of
equipment
Agreement to purchases of
computer software

Other commitments

Agreements to purchase of goods

and services

Agreements to purchase of goods
and services - Project works
Guarantees
Guarantees for irade payable
Project guarantees
Utilities guarantees

Other guarantees

Consolidated financial statements

Separate financial statements

2024 2023 2024 2023

Baht 121 millien Baht 13 million - -
Baht 2 million Baht 3 million - -

- Baht 23 millien - Baht 23 million
Baht 50 million - - -

- Baht 4 million - -
Baht B73 million Baht 591 million Baht 543 million Baht 396 million
usD 10 million uso 17 million ushD 1 million usD 1 million
JPY 26 millicn JBY 2 millicn JBY 26 million -
EUR 10 million EUR 1 million EUR 10 million -
Baht 988 millicn Baht 540 million Baht B21 million Baht 538 million
Baht 158 million Baht 161 million - -
Baht 1,343 million Baht 1,061 million Baht 1,083 million Baht 296 million
Baht 4 million Baht 4 million Baht 4 million Baht 3 million
Baht 5 million Baht 5 millien Baht 5 million Baht 5 million

As at 31 December 2024, the Company has guaranteed loan and credit facilities of its

subsidiaries and associate amounting to Baht 1,693 million and Baht 117 million, respectively
(2023: Baht 1,479 million and Baht 287 million, respectively).

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had commitments to related parties amounting to

Baht 56 million in relation to the purchase of goods (2023: Baht 79 million).



37.

371

37.2

38.

Litigation

On 20 February 2024, a project subcontractor (the plaintiff) filed a lawsuit against the
Company as a defendant with the Civil Court, alleging breach of contract and tort, and seeking
damages for unpaid debits related to a subcontract for inspection, repair and maintenance of
a fiber optic cable network infrastructure, amounting to Baht 31 million. The Civil Court
scheduled the settlement of issues for 22 April 2024. On the same day, the Company
submitted a response to the lawsuit and filed a counterclaim to recover project management
fees and equipment used in the project from the subcontractor, totaling Baht 7 million.
The Civil Court performed hearing of witness of the Company and such project subcontractor
in February and March 2025.

On 19 April 2024, a telecommunications service provider (the plaintiff) filed a lawsuit against
the Company, alleging breach of contract and tort, and seeking damages for the rental/use
of telecommunication towers and facilities. The plaintiff demanded the removal of equipment
installed on their telecommunication towers and claimed damages for contract termination
amounting to Baht 36 million. The Company's legal counsel believes that the plaintiff does
not have the standing to sue and that the complaint is incomplete due to a lack of supporting
evidence, and that the Company does not own the equipment installed on the plaintiff's
telecommunication towers. The Civil Court performed hearing of witness for the Company
and such telecommunications service provider and has scheduled a hearing for the verdict
in March 2025.

Fair value hierarchy

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group had the assets that were measured at fair

value using different levels of inputs as follows:

(Unit: Million Baht)

Consolidated financial statements

2024 2023
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets measured at fair value
through other comprehensive
income
Mon-listed equity investments - - 25 - - 25
Liabilities measured at fair value
Foreign currency forward contracts - 27 - - 1

Assets for which fair value are
disclosed

Investment properties - - 469 - - 452
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39.

39.1

39.2

(Unit: Million Baht)

Separate financial statements

2024 2023

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets measured at fair value

through other comprehensive

income
Mon-listed equity investments - - 25 - - 25
Liabilities measured at fair value
Foreign currency forward contracts - 29 - - - -
Assets for which fair value are

disclosed

Investment properties - - 2,026 - - 1,837

Financial instruments
Derivatives

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2024 2023 2024 2023
Derivative liabilities
Foreign exchange forward confracts 26,971 1,197 28,590
Total derivative liabilities 26,971 1,197 28,590

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments

The Group uses foreign exchange forward contracts to manage some of its transaction
exposures. The contracts are entered into for periods consistent with foreign currency

exposure of the underlying transactions, generally from three to six months.
Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's financial risks associated with significant financial instruments and how they are

managed is described below.
Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk primarily with respect to trade receivables, other receivables,
unbilled receivables, loans receivable, receivable under hire purchase and finance lease
agreements and deposits with financial institutions. The maximum exposure to credit risk is

limited to the carrying amounts as stated in the statements of financial position.



Trade receivables, other receivables, hire purchase and finance lease receivables and

unbilled receivables

The Group manages the risk by adopting appropriate credit control policies and procedures
and therefore does not expect to incur material financial losses. In addition, cutstanding trade
receivables, other receivables, hire purchase and finance lease receivables and unbilled

receivables are regularly monitored.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date to measure expected credit
losses. The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer
segments with similar credit risks. The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome,
the time value of money and reasonable and supportable information that is available at the
reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions. Generally, trade receivables, other receivables, loans receivable, hire purchase
and finance lease receivables and unbilled receivables are written-off according to the Group's
policy with consider as appropriate.

Loan receivables

The subsidiary is exposed to credit risk primarily with respect to loan receivables. The
subsidiary manages the risk by adopting appropriate credit control policies and procedures.
In addition, the subsidiary does not have high concentrations of credit risk since it has a variety
of customer bases and a number of customers. The maximum expaosure to credit risk is limited
to the carrying amounts of loan receivables less allowance for expected credit loss as stated

in the statements of financial position.

Credit risk management guidelines

The subsidiary manages the credit risk starting from credit approval process, risk analysis,
the customers' payment ability and customers status monitoring to examine and review credit
quality in order to prevent and resolve loans that may be a problem in the future.

Cash deposits with banks

The Group manages the credit risk from balances with financial institutions by making
investments only with approved counterparties and within credit limits assigned to each
counterparty. Counterparty credit limits are reviewed by the Group's management and may
be updated throughout the year subject to approval of the Group’s management. The limits
are set to minimise the concentration of risks and therefore mitigate financial loss through a

counterparty’s potential failure to make payments.
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Market risk

There are two types of market risk comprising interest rate risk and foreign currency risk.
The Group's risk management policy is disclosed in the interest rate risk and foreign currency

risk topic, respectively.
Interest rate risk

Most of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities bear floating interest rates or fixed interest rates
which are close to the market rate except for trade and other receivables, unbilled receivables,
investments, trade and other payables and retention received from service representatives
without interest.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, significant financial assets and liabilities classified by type
of interest rate are summarised in the table below, with those financial assets and liabilities
that carry fixed interest rates further classified based on the maturity date, or the repricing
date if this occurs before the maturity date.

{Unit: Million Baht)

Consolidated financial statements

2024
Fixed interest rates Floating MNon-
Within 1-5 Owver interest interest
1 year years S years rate bearing Total Interest rate
(% per annum)
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents - - - T4 46 840 Mote 7
Loan receivables 608 532 - - - 1,138 5.00-25.00
Hire purchase and finance
lease receivables 81 7 - - - a8 3.00-3.18
Financial liabilities
Bank overdrafts and
short-term loans from banks 4,163 - - - - 4,163 Mote 20
Long-term loans from banks e - - 1,100 - 1,104  2.00-6.35
Cther financial liabilities 80 156 - - - 236 3.45-4.67
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Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Loan receivables

Hire purchase and finance
lease receivables

Financial liabilities

Bank overdrafis and
short-term loans from banks

Long-term loans from banks

Other financial liabilities

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Short-term loans to
related parties

Hire purchase and finance
lease receivables

Financial liabilities

Bank overdrafts and
short-term loans from banks

Long-term loans from banks

Consolidated financial statements

(Unit: Million Baht)

2023
Fixed interest rates Floating Maon-
Within 1-5 Ower interest interest
1 year years 5 years rate bearing Taotal Interest rate
(% per annum)
- - - 764 43 807 Mote 7
194 102 - - - 296 5.00 - 25.00
a6 a7 - - - 173 3.00-3.16
2,951 - - - - 2,951 Mote 20
52 4 - 1415 - 1471 3.20-3.80
T8 236 - - - 314 345 -467

Separate financial statements

(Unit: Million Baht)

2024
Fixed interest rates Floating Mon-
Within 1-5 Cwer interest interest
1 year years S years rate bearing Total Interest rate
(% per annum)
- - - 50 - 50 Mote 7
3B - - - - 3B 3.00-3.30
a1 7 - - - a8 300-3186
2,368 . - - . 2,368 Mote 20
- - - 695 - 695 381-473
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(Unit: Million Baht)

Separate financial statements

2023
Fixed interest rates Floating MNen-
Within 1-5 Over interest interest
1 year years S years rate bearing Total Interest rate
(% per annum)
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents - - - kil - il Mote 7
Short-term loans to
related parties 47 - - - - 47 3.00-3.30
Hire purchase and finance
lease receivables 85 87 - - - 172 3.00-3.16
Financial liabilities
Bank overdrafts and
shart-term loans from banks 1,656 - - - - 1,656 MNote 20
Long-term loans from banks 56 - - 967 - 1,023 3.20-3.80

Foreign currency risk

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk arises mainly from trading transactions that are
denominated in foreign currencies. The Group seeks to reduce this risk by entering into
forward exchange contracts when it considers appropriate. Generally, the forward contracts

mature within one year.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the balances of financial assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are summarised below.

Foreign currency Financial assets Financial liabilities Average exchange rate
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
(Million) {Million) {Million) (Million) (Baht per 1 foreign currency unit)
US dollar 12.7 11.5 58 4.1 33.9080 342233
Japanese yen - - 0.2 31 0.2141 0.2423



Foreign exchange contracts outstanding of the Group as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are

summarised below:

2024

Bought Contractual exchange rate

Foreign currency  amount

of bought amount

Maturity date

(Million)  (Baht per 1 foreign currency unit)

US dollar 2.5 38.00 - 38.79 January 2025 - June 2025
Euro 9.5 33.51-36.18 February 2025 - August 2025
2023
Bought Contractual exchange rate

Foreign currency  amount

of bought amount

Maturity date

(Million)  (Baht per 1 foreign currency unit)

US dollar 22 34.28 - 35.63

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors the liquidity risk through the use of bank overdrafts, short-term loans from
financial institutions and lease liabilities. The Group has policy to use bank overdrafts and
short-term loans from financial institutions to maintain the Group’s working capital within the
facilities approved by the financial institutions and reviewed by the Group's management.

The Group has access to concentration of risk with respect to refinancing its debt and determined

January 2024 - June 2024

it to be low. The Group has access to a sufficient variety of sources of funding.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities as at

31 December 2024 and 2023 based on contractual undiscounted cash flows:

{Unit; Thousand Baht)

Consolidated financial statements

2024
On Less than 1-9 Owver
demand 1 year years 5 years Total

Bank overdrafts and short-term loans

from banks 555,000 3,635482 - - 4,190 482
Trade and other payables - 1,337,429 - - 1,337,429
Long-term loans - 521,831 666,025 - 1,187 856
Lease liabilities - 70,330 122,583 19,132 212,045
Other financial liabilities - 88,235 162,248 - 250,483
Retention received from service

representatives 490,766 - - 490,766
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Bank overdrafts and short-term loans

from banks
Trade and other payables
Long-term loans
Lease liabilities
Other financial liabilities
Retention received from service

representatives

Bank overdrafts and short-term loans
from banks

Trade and other payables

Long-term loans

Lease liabilities

Bank overdrafts and short-term loans
from banks

Trade and other payables

Long-term loans

Lease liabilities

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Consolidated financial statements

2023
On Less than 1-5 Over
demand 1 year years 5 years Total
414,200 2,574,368 - - 2,988 568
- 1,464,866 - - 1,464,866
- 564,623 957,979 - 1,622 602
- 63,529 156,400 26,493 246,422
- 88,235 250,483 - 338,718
558,977 - - 558977
{Unit: Thousand Baht)
Separate financial statements
2024
On Less than 1 1-5 Over
demand year years 5 years Total
555,000 1,826,381 - - 2,381,381
- 269,345 - - 269,345
- 296,233 459,212 - 755,445
- 8,148 32,030 19,132 59,310
(Unit: Thousand Baht)
Separate financial statements
2023
On Less than 1 1-5 Over
demand year years 5 years Total
414,200 1,251,395 - - 1,665,595
- 266,091 - - 266,091
- 367,835 731,460 - 1,089,295
- 7.345 31,698 25,851 64,894



39.3 Fair values of financial instruments

40.

41.

Since the majority of the Group’s financial instruments are short-term in nature or carrying
interest at rates close to the market interest rates, their fair value is not expected to be

materially different from the amounts presented in the statements of financial position.

The methods and assumptions used by the Grouping estimating the fair value of financial

instruments are as follows:
a) The fair value of equity instrument is stated at cost method.

b) The fair value of derivatives has been determined using a discounted future cash flow
model and a valuation model technique. Most of the inputs used for the valuation are
observable in the relevant market, such as spot rates of foreign currencies, yield curves
of the respective currencies, interest rate yield curves and commodity price yield curves.
The Group considers counterparty credit risk when determining the fair value of

derivatives.
During the current year, there were no transfer within the fair value hierarchy.
Capital management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it has appropriate
capital structure in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value and it meets
financial covenants attached to the loan agreements. The Group has complied with these
covenants throughout the reporting periods. As at 31 December 2024, the Group's debt-to-
equity ratio was 2.8:1 (2023: 2.4:1) and the Company's was 2.9:1 (2023: 1.9:1).

Events after the reporting period

a) On 11 February 2025, a meeting of Board of Directors of Forth Tracking System Company
Limited, the associate, passed a resolution to approve an interim dividend payment paid
from unappropriated retained earnings and from profit for the year 2024 of Baht 85 per
share, or a total of Baht 25.5 million. The dividend is scheduled be paid on 14 February
2025.

b) On 27 February 2025, a meeting of Board of Directors of Forth Smart Services Public
Company Limited, subsidiary, passed a resolution to propose the Annual General Meeting
of Shareholders to approve an increase in the subsidiary's registered share capital from
Baht 376.6 million (753.1 million ordinary shares of Baht 0.5 each) to Baht 400 million
(800 million ordinary shares of Baht 0.5 each) by issuing 46.9 million new ordinary shares
at a par value of Baht 0.5 each to support the capital increase under a general mandate
in proportion to their existing shareholding (Right Offering).
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41.

c) On 27 February 2025, a meeting of Board of Directors of Forth Vending Company Limited,
subsidiary, passed a resolution to purchase land with building to be used as warehouse
for a total of Baht 170 million. A meeting of Board of Directors of the subsidiary also
passed a resolution to enter into loan agreement with certain local bank to finance the

purchase of such land and building with amount not exceeding Baht 150 million.
Approval of financial statements

These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Company’'s Board of Directors
on 28 February 2025.
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Certification of Information and Data Accuracy

Hawing carefully verified the information and data shown in this annual registration statement / annual report
(Farm 56-1 One Report), the company certifies that they are completely accurate, factual, and not misleading or
lacking in essential detail. In addition:

() The financial statements and data summarized in annual registration statement / annual repart (Form 56-1
Cne Report) show essentially accurate information and data about its financial standing, performance, and
cash flow of the company and its subsidiaries.

(2) It has put in place a good information and data disclosure systemn to ensure that it discloses essential details
about itself and its subsidiaries cormpletely and accurately, while ensuring due compliance,

(3] It has put in place a good internal control system and ensured due compliance with such system. the
company has provided internal control system assessment details as of December 3lst, 2024, to the external
auditor and the Audit Committee, including defects and key changes in the internal control system together
with wrongdoing potentially affecting the preparation of the financial reports for itself and its subsidiaries.

As avidence that all documents are identical to those certified by the company, the company has assigned
Mr, Arin Jamnaree 1o put her initials on every page of the documents. Therefore, il him initials are missing on any
given page, the company will disown such data.

MName Position Signature

e G

rr. Pongchai Amatanon Chief Executive Officer

Authorized person

Name Position Signature

Mr. Arin Jamnaree Accounting Directar M




Attachment 1

Profiles of Directors, Management, Controlling Person, and Company
Secretary

1. Information Directors, Management, Controlling Person, Person in charge of Finance
and Accounting, Head of Controller and Company Secretary
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dirrman o

Mr. Sanit Vorapunya
Cha o o FZZ'.-' sndent O

July 8, 2005

Academic Qualifications/ Training: Work Experiences in 5 Years
« Master of (Econ), University of Wisconsin, USA. Listed Company
= Bachelor of Economics, Thammasat University. e 2018 - Present Chairman of BOD,

Independent Director,

Thai Institute of Directors “OD] Forth CDFDDI’atiDn Plc.

s Director Accreditation Program (DAR)

« 2015-2018 Chairman of BOD,
No. 24/2004 Independent Director,
Others Forth Corporation Plc.
o Certification of Thailand National Defense * 2020-2022 Chairman of BOD,
College No. 301287 Southeast Life Insurance Plc,
s 2020 -2022 Chairman of BOD,
. The Southeast Insurance Plc.
:faIN'l:;eel'lruldlng Percentage (%) . 2009 - 7020 Director. .
Southeast Life Insurance Plc.
o JO0O9 - 2020 Director,
Family Relationship with the Executives The Southeast Insurance Plc.
Mone o 2000 - 2022 Chairman of the Audit Cormnmittee,

Thai surnmit Harnes Ple,

Non-Listed Company
s 006 - Present  Director,
Electronic Source Co, Ltd.
¢ 2006 -Present Director,
Genius Traffic System Co, Ltd.
¢ 1996 - Present Director,
Thai Ressarch and Training Co, Ltd.

o 2020-2022 Chairman of BOD
The Southeast Capital Co, Ltd,
s 2009- 2020 Director,

The Southeast Capital Co., Ltd.
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Mr. Pongchai Amatanon

July 8, 2005

Acadernic Qualifications/ Training:
= Bachelor of Engineering, King Mongkut's
Institute of Technology Ladkrabang

Thai Institute of Directors (10D)
« Director Accreditation Program [DAP)
Mo. 30/2004

Others

« Certification of Thailand Mational Defense College,
Batch 58

« Topexecutives program, Capital Market Acadermy,
Batch 14

Shareholding Percentage (%)
42.87% (Including spouse and immature children)

Family Relationship with the Executives
+ Father of Mr. Pattanan Amatanon,
« Brother of Mr. Kaelic Amatanon

Work Experiences in 5 Years:
Listed Company

.

-

2017 - Presant

2005 - Present

2013 - 2020

Director,

Executive Chairman Nomination
and Rermuneration Committes,
Forth Smart Service Plc.
Director,

Risk Management Committee
Chief Executive Officer,

Forth Corporation Plc.
Independent Director,

Audit Committes,

Thai Airways International Plc.

Mon-Listed Company

2021 - Present
2020 - Present

2020 - Present

2016 - Presant
2016 - Presant

2005 - Present
20013 - Present
20M - Present

2008 - Present

2002 - Present
2002 - Prezent

2002 - Present

2021 - 2023

2019 - 2022

Director, Acro Forth Co., Ltd.
Director,

Faorth Smart Distribution Co, Ltd,
Director,

Forth MRO Services Co, Ltd,
Director, Odin Power Co., Ltd.
Director,

Forth Smart Capital Co, Ltd.
Director, Forth Wending Co., Ltd.
Director Forth Lighting Co, Ltd.
Director,

Forth Consulting Co, Ltd.
Director,

Electronic Source Co., Ltd,
Director, Forth Meter Co, Ltd.
Director,

Farth Tracking System Co., Ltd.
Director,

Cenius Traffic System Co, Lud.
Director,

Covernment Pharmaceutical
Organization

Director, Forth EMS Co, Ltd,
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April 23, 2018

Academic Qualifications/ Training: Work Experiences in 5 Years:
« B of Economics, East Texas State University, Listed Company
Texas, USA o 20012 - Present Director,
o MINI MBA, Chulalongkorn University, Independent Director,

Audit Committee, Nomination
and Rermuneration Committes,
Forth Caorporation Flc

Director, Rarma 9 Hospital Ple,

Thai Institute of Directors (10D)
o Director Certification Program (DCPF)
Mo, 13420010 20017 - Present

v Advanced Audit Committee Program [AACF"] . 2016 - Present Indeper‘lder‘lt direclofs\.

No. 29/2018 . Executive Director, SC Asset Ple.
« Board that make a Difference (BMD) No. 82018 . 20152020 Advisar
Others Advanced Info Service Flc.,

= Certificate Course in Good Covernance for
Medical Executives, Class 3, King Prajadhipok’s
Institute and the Medical Council of Thailand

« Top executives' program, Capital Market
Acaderny, Class 14

»  Coursein Fraud in Financial Statement,
Economics Update, ESC Directions with Coz
EY Office Limited (Thailand)

+ Hotissue for Director Empowering Boards:
Enhancing Governance, Standards, and
Financial Insights

Non-Listed Company

s 2022 - Present Director, SCE TechX Co., Ltd.

«  20018-2020 Advisor, Thai Commercial Bank
o 2017 - 2020 Advisor, SCB Abacus Co, Lid.

Shareholding Percentage (%)
- None -

Family Relationship with the Executives
- Mone -
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Mr. Sakda Sreesan

gkom

April 24, 2023

Academic Qualifications/ Training:
=  MA, (Economics], Keio University, Japan.
+ B of Economics, Thammasat University.

Thai Institute of Directors (10D)
« Director Certification Program [DCF) Mo,
87/2007

Others

s Series-7 General Securities Examination,
Mew York City, 2533
CFA, CFA Institute, 2555
Top executives' prograrm, Capital Market
Acaderny, Batch 1

¢« Detection of Accounting Irregularities in Fast
Crowing Business. "The Role of Audit
Committee”

«  Sgminar on ‘The importance of the audit
committes and confidence in the Thai capital
rnarket” (SET)

+ Hot issue for Director Empowering Boards:
Enhancing Governance, Standards, and
Financial Insights

Shareholding Percentage (%)
- Mone -

Family Relationship with the Executives
MNone

Work Experiences in 5 Years:
Listed Companies

2023 - Present  Director, Independent Directer,
Chairman of Audit Committee,
Chairman of Momination and
Remuneration Committes,
Forth Corporation Flc.
International Coordinator
Asian Phwytoceuticals Public

Company Limited

2022 - Present

2020 - 2021 Chief Operating Office [CO0)
Asian Phytoceuticals Public
Company Limited

2016 - 2018 Director Tap Oil Limited.

The company is listed on the
Australian Stock Exchange

Mon-Listed Company

2009 - Present  Senior Advisor, Northern Gulf Oil,
[Thailand) Co., Ltd.

Director

The Education for Development

Foundation (EDF)

1987 - Present
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Mr. Kaelic Amatanon

July 8, 2005

Academic Qualifications/ Training:
s Vocational Certificate, Accounting, Chet upon
Commercial College.

Thai Institute of Directors (|OD)
« Director Accreditation Program (DAP)
Mo, 20/2004

Others
- None -

Shareholding Percentage (%)
B619%

Family Relationship with the Executives
¢ Brother of Mr. Pongchai Amatanon

Work Experiences in 5 Years:
Listed Companies
s 2005 - Present  Director, Forth Corporation Plc.

Non-Listed Company
+ 1988 - Present Director, Executive Director,
Electronic Source Co,, Ltd.



Mrs. Porntip Lerttanongsak

April 23, 2018

Academic Qualifications/ Training: Work Experiences in 5 Years:
= Bachelor, Commerce and Accountancy Listed Companies
Chulalongkorn University. « 2018 - Present Director,

Independent Director,

Thai Institute of Directors (IOD) Audit Committee

. a&%tz,ofrz .g;:é:reditation Program (DAP) ggﬂ;ﬂ?{’lg Risk Management
Others Forth Corporation Ple.
» TASI9 Calculate Employee Benefits and TFRS 9 Non-Listed Company

Provision for Impairment of Financial e 2017- Present Audit Partner,

nstruments AST Master Co, Ltd.

«  Owerall TFRS 9 and Auditing Excellence 2021

« Professional Skepticismn  Course by the
Securities and Exchange Commission

« Covernance and Information Technology Audit

e TFRS Financial Reporting Standards Course
2023 and interesting accounting issues for
listed companies

e Provision for impairment of financial instruments
{ TFRS9) Calculation Fair Value and Rental
contract (TFRS1§)

= Ethics of accounting professionals

Shareholding Percentage (%)
- Mone -

Family Relationship with the Executives
- Mone -
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Mr. Boonya Tantipanichapun

Academic Qualifications/ Training:
«  BA of Engineering, King Mongkut's Institute
of Technology Ladkrabang.

Thai Institute of Directors (IOD)
¢ Director Accreditation Program (DAPR)
Mo, 30/2004

Others

»  Certification of Thailand National Defense
College, Batch 60

« Topexecutives' program, Capital Market
Acaderny, Batch 23

Shareholding Percentage (%)
256% (Including spouse and immature children)

Family Relationship with the Executives
- None -

Work Experiences in 5 Years:

Listed Companies

« 2005 - Present  Director,
Executive Committes,
Risk Management Committes,
Forth Corporation Plc.

Mon-Listed Company
s 2023 - Present  Director,

Ro Tech Water House Co,, Ltd.
e 2002 - Present  Director,

Executive Director,

Genius Traffic Systern Co, Ltd.



Mrs. Matinee Wandeepirom

July 8, 2005

Academic Qualifications/ Training:
« BA of Engineering, King Mongkut's Institute
of Technology Ladkrabang.

Thai Institute of Directors (|OD)
¢ Director Accreditation Program (DAPR)
Mo, 30/2004

Others
- Nene -

Shareholding Percentage (%)
265%

Family Relationship with the Executives
e Sister and wife of Mr. Pongchai Amatanon

Work Experiences in 5 Years:

Listed Companies

« 2005 - Present  Director,
Momination and Remuneration
Committee,
Forth Corporation Pl

Mon-Listed Company
+ 2002 - Present  Director,
Executive Directar,
Cenius Traffic Systerm Co, Ltd,
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Noparat Siripongpreeda

April 23, 2018

Academic Qualifications/ Training: Work Experiences in 5 Years:
s  BA of Economics, Chulalongkorn University. Listed Companies
Thai Institute of Directors (IOD) s 2008 - Present Director, Forth Corporation Plc.
« Director Accreditation Program (DAP) MNon-Listed Company
No, 154/2018 « 2018-Present  Director,
Electronic Source Co, Ltd.
Others

o Senior Leader of Team Course (Shell, 2013)
+«  Women's Career Development Program
(Shell, 20713)

Shareholding Percentage (%)
- Mone -

Family Relationship with the Executives
- None -
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Pichamon Amatanon

Movember 12, 2021

Academic Qualifications/ Training:
» Bachelor of Engineering Chulalongkorn
University.

Thai Institute of Directors (1OD)
« Director Accreditation Program (DAP)
Mo, 188/2021

Others

« Hot issue for Director. Climate Governance
Class 4

« Entrepreneurial Finance Class 36

Shareholding Percentage (%)
012% (Including spouse and immature children)

Family Relationship with the Executives
« Wife of Mr. Phatthanan Armatanon

Work Experiences in 5 Years:

Listed Companies
s 2021 - Present

Director,

Executive Committes,

Risk Management Cormmittes,
Momination and Remuneration
Committes,

Chief Operation Officer,

Forth Corporation Plc.

Mon-Listed Company

e 2021 - Present

2021 - Present
2021 - Present

2021 - Present
2027 - Present

« 2021- Present
2015 - Present

2021 -2022
20013 - 2020

Director,

Electronic Source Co,, Ltd.
Director, Forth Meter Cao,, Ltd.
Directar,

Forth Consulting Co, Ltd.

Directar, Forth Lighting Co,, Ltd.

Director,

Forth Smart Capital Co., Ltd .
Director,

Forth Smart Digital Co., Ltd.

Director, Forth Wending Co., Ltd .

Director, Forth EMS Co, Ltd.
Sr. Technology Consultant
PWC Thailand.
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July 8, 2005

Academic Qualifications/ Training:
+ Bachelor of Engineering, King Mongkut's
Institute of Technology Ladkrabang

Thai Institute of Directors (10D)
«  Director Accreditation Program [DAP)
Mo, 20/2004

Others

« Certification of Thailand Mational Defense College,
Batch 58

+  Topexecutives' program, Capital Market Acadermy,
Batch 14

Sharehelding Percentage (%)
£2.87% (Including spouse and immature children)

Family Relationship with the Executives
= Father of Mr. Pattanan Amatanon,
«  Brotherof Mr. Kaglic Amatanon

Work Experiences in 5 Years:
Listed Company

2017 - Present

2005 - Present

2012 -2020

Director,

Executive Chairman Momination
and Remuneration Committes,
Forth Smart Service Ple.
Director,

Risk Management Committee
Chief Executive Officer,

Farth Corporation Plc.
Independent Director,

Audit Committee,

Thai Ainwvays International Plc.

Mon-Listed Company

.
-

2021 - Present
2020 - Present

2020 - Present

2016 - Present
2006 - Present

2015 - Present
2013 - Present
201 - Present

2008 - Present

2002 - Present
2002 - Present

2002 - Present

2021 - 2023

2009 - 2027

Director, Aero Forth Co, Ltd.
Director,

Forth Smart Distribution Co, Ltd,
Director,

Forth MRO Services Co., Ltd.
Qirector, Odin Power Co., Ltd,
Director,

Forth Smart Capital Co., Ltd.
Director, Forth Vending Co, Ltd.
Director Forth Lighting Co, Ltd.
Director,

Forth Consulting Co., Ltd,
Director,

Electronic Source Co, Lrd.
Director, Farth Meter Co,, Ltd.
Director,

Forth Tracking System Co,, Ltd,
Director,

Genius Traffic System Co, Ltd.
Director,

Governmeant Pharmaceutical
Organization

Director, Forth EMS Co, Ltd,



mata

non

Academic Qualifications/ Training: Work Experiences in 5 Years:
= Master of MA Management, Imperial College Listed Companies

Londor. s 2021- Present Chief Business Development Officer,
¢ Bachelor of Electrical & Electronic Eng, Forth Corporation Plc.

Imperial College London. .
P 9 Non-Listed Company

Thai Institute of Directors (10D) e 2021- Present Director, Aero Forth Co, Ltd.
« Director Accreditation Program (DAP) « 2021 - Present Director, Forth Devons Co., Ltd.
Mo, 202/2023 s 2020- Present Director,

oth Forth MRO Services Co, Ltd.
N oi'é’_ o 2020- Present Director, o

Forth Smart Distribution Co., Ltd,

. s 2019- Present  Director, Forth EMS Plc.

Shareholding Percentage (%] « 2008 - Present  Director, Forth Meter Co, Ltd.
012% (Including spouse and immature children) s 2017 - Present Director,

Forth Smart Digital Co, Ltd .
Family Relationship with the Executives s 20016 - Present  Director,
» Son of Mr. Pongchal Amatancn Genius Traffic System Co., Ltd,

« Husband of Ms, Pichamon Amatanon
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Ms. Pichamon Amatanon

November 12, 2021

Work Experiences in 5 Years:
Listed Companies
2021 - Present

Academic Qualifications/ Training:
+ Bachelor of Engineering Chulalongkorn

University. . Director,

222

Thai Institute of Directors (1CD)
= Director Accreditation Program (DAP)
Mo, 1882021

Others

+ Hotissue for Director: Climate Governance
Class 4

= Entrepreneurial Finance Class 36

Executive Committes,

Risk Management Committee,
Momination and Remuneration
Committee,

Chief Operation Officer,

Forth Corporation Plc.

Non-Listed Company

e 202 - Present Director,
Electronic Source Co., Ltd.
» 2021 - Present  Director, Forth Meter Co,, Ltd.
Shareholding Percentage (%) « 2021 - Present  Director,
012% {Including spouse and immature children) Forth Consulting Co, Ltd.
o 2021 - Present Director, Forth Lighting Co, Ltd.
Family Relationship with the Executives « 2021- Present  Director, _
s Wife of Mr. Phatthanan Amatanon Forth Smart Capital Co, Ltd
s 202 - Present Directar,
Forth Smart Digital Co., Ltd.
e+ 2015 - Present Director, Forth Vending Co., Ltd |
o 2021 -2022 Director, Forth EMS Co, Ltd.
o 2013-2020 Sr. Technology Consultant

PWC Thailand.



Mr. Arin Jamnaree

Academic Qualifications/ Training:
» Master of MBA, Tharmmmasat University.
¢+  Bachelor of Accounting, Thammasat University.

Thai Institute of Directors (1OD)
- Ngne -

Others
¢ Training on the topic “Accounting standard issues

related to ADT"
= Training en “Advance Transfer Pricing”

Shareholding Percentage (%)
- Mone -

Family Relationship with the Executives
- MNone -

Work Experiences in 5 Years:
Listed Companies
= 2017 - Present  Corporate Secretary,

Forth Corporation Ple.

s« 2008 - Present WP of Finance and Accounting,

Forth Corporation Ple,

Mon-Listed Company
- Mone -
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Ms.Pratchaya Somyapukdee

Financial Director

Academic Qualifications/ Training:

Master's degree in business administration,
Ramkhamhaeng University”

Mini Master of Business Administration in
Taxation (Internation Tax) Phasi School
Bachelor's degree in accounting, Bangkok

University

Thai Institute of Directors (10D}
= Mone
Others

CFO Refresher Course, The Stock Exchange of
Thailand

The Strategist CFO Program, Thammaniti
Training and Seminar Co.,, Ltd,

Training Course for the Advanced Management
Accountant (TCMA) Examination, Class 2/66,
The Federation of Accounting Professions
under the Royal Patronage of His Majesty the
King

Work Experiences in 5 Years:
Listed Companies

e 2024 = Present Financial Director
Fort Corporation Public Company Limited
* 2022 -2023 Chief Accounting and Financial Officer
Al Plast Public Company Limited
« 2018 -2022 Finance Controller
Pakfood Public Company Limited

Non-Listed Company

o 2023-2024 Chief Accounting and Financial Officer
Rakchai Cold Storage Co., Ltd.

Shareholding Percentage (%)
Naone

Family Relationship with the Executives
Mone



2. Duties and responsibilities of company secretary
The company secretary shall perform his or her duties in accordance with section
89/15 and section 89/16 of the Securities and Exchange Act (No.4) B.E. 2551, which
come into force on August 31, 2008. The company secretary shall perform his or her
duties with responsibilities, care, honesty and in compliance with laws, Article of
Association and Objective of the Company, resolution of the Board of Director, and
resolution of the shareholders' meeting. In performing this duty, the Company
Secretary has duties and responsibilities disclosed on the corporate website
v investor. forth.co.th under the corporate information section. or scan the QR

%@

code,

e g™
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Attachment 2

Lists of the Committee in Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries

Ple,

rvice

List of committee

Genius Traffic Systrm Co., Ltd,

Eletronics Source Co., Ltd.
Genius Joint Genius
Forth Smart Se

Forth Lighting Co., Ltd.
Forth Vending Co,, Ltd.

Mindmap Commtech Inc.

Forth Srmart Capital Co., Ltd.
Forth Smart digital Co,, Ltd.
Forth MRC Services Co., Ltd.
Forth Smart Distribution Co., Ltd.
AERO Farth Ce., Ltd,

Forth Devons Co., Ltd,

Farth Glabal Mesh Ca., Ltd.

Forth EMS Ple.

-~
-

Mr. Sarmit Vorapanya

Mr. Pongchai Amatanon ! ! ! 1 ! (i

Mrs. Rangsri Lerttripinyo !

Mr. Kaelic Amatanon L

Mrs. Matinee Wandeepirem [r i

Mr. Boonya Tantipanichapun M !

Mr. Poonsak Siripongpreeda !

Ms. Moparat Siripongpreeda Y

Mr. Sitthichok Amatanon I

Mr. Pattanan Amatanon !

Mr. Chawin Lerttripingo / L

k. Pichit Mimmkul fx

Mr. Damrong Kacwprasit !

Mr. Boonchal Sowannichkul !

PalLt. Gen Boriharn Siang-arom i

Admiral Kraisorn Chansuwanich !

Mr. Siwaphan Ratanaviropwong !

Mr. Chatchavin Pipatchotitham

Mr. Marongsak Lertsuptaves i

Mrs. Veronica Tercio

Mr. Waorasak Tantiwong

Mrlirmson Magada

Ms Rasines Lerttripinyo LF

hr. Atsila Amatanon /

Ms Sasisupa Sukonthasub I

Mr. Thawan Thianthong

Mr. Keerati Kitmanawat

Sqn.Ldr. Somchanok Tiemtiewrat

Cr.FPaweena Jariyathitipong
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List of committee

Subsidiaries

Eletronics Source Co., Ltd,
Genius Traffic Systrm Co,, Ltd.
Genius Joint Genius

Forth Smart Service Plc.

Farth Lighting Co., Ltd.

Mindmap Commtech Inc.

Forth Smart Capital Co,, Ltd.
Farth Smart digital Co., Ltd.
Forth MRO Services Co., Lid.

Forth Vending Co,, Ltd.
Farth EMS Ple.

Farth Smart Distribution Co., Ltd.

AERO Forth Co,, Ltd,

Forth Devans Co., Ltd,

Farth Clabal Mesh Co., Ltd.

Fig.Off. Charmnan

S.arndangnt

-

Ms. Pussadee Damkerngsuradet

-

Mr. Prasarn Wong

Kitisophon

Ms. Watanya Ama

tanon

Ms. Pichamon Amatanon ! /

Mr. Somkid Thaiphan

Mr. Churmpel Rimsakron

Mr. Thanetr Khumchoedchoochai

Mr. Thawatchai Jit

Lrapanun

Mr. Sattadon Sattabut

Mr. Kittinan Samruamphol

Ms. Misa Armatano

n

W

k. Arthorn Sinsawat

fx

Ms. Mongram Lachaareedilok

Mr. Chatchai Saksi

lapachai

hr. Laksika Amatanon

i

k. Pichai Duangt

aweesub

1

Remark:

—

/= Director X = Chairman of Diretor
Eletronics Source Co., Ltd.
Genius Traffic Systerm Co, Ltd.
Genius Joint Genius

Farth Smart Service Plc,

Forth Lighting Co,, Ltd.

Forth Vending Co, Ltd.
Mindmap Commitech Inc.

Forth Smart Capital Co., Ltd.
Farth Srmart digital Co., Ltd.
Farth EMS Plc,

Farth MRQ Services Co, Ltd,
Forth Smart Distribution Co., Ltd.
AERO Forth Co., Ltd.

Forth Cevons Co., Ltd.

Forth Global Mesh Co., Ltd.

if = Executive Committes
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Attachment 3

Profile of Head of Internal Audit

Mr. Kanapos Sae-Tang
Age 45 years
Internal Audit Manager

Education/ Training
& Bachelor of Business Administration Raja Mangala Institute of Technology Bangkok Technical Campus
Certificate CPRIAT
Certificate of Internal Auditor of Thailand (CPIAT], No&7
ESC Internal Audit
Tools and Techniques for the Audit Manager
Value-Added Business Control: The Right Way to Manage Risks
Risk Based Audit

Internal Audit Practice, Course 2 [Federation of Accounting Professions under the Royal Patronage of
His Majesty the King)
Experience

e 20719 - present Internal Audit Manager, Forth Corporation Public Company Limited

& 2007 -2018 Internal Audit Manager, Central Group

& 2005 - 2007 Internal Auditor, Mitr Phol Company Limited



Attachment 4

Operating Assets and Details of Assets Assessment

Operating Assets
Details appear under “Cperating Assets”

Asset Revaluation
MNone
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Attachment 5

Corporate Governance Policy and Code of Conduct

Corporate Governance Policy
Company discloses a full report of corporate governance pelicies and guidelines on the Company's website,
WA torforthcoth It can be viewed in the "Investor Relations™ or scan QR code.

Code of Conduct

Company discloses a full report of Business Ethics on the Bank's website, wwaw investor forth b It can be viewed in

the “lnvestor Relations” or scan QR code,
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Attachment 6

Report of Audit Committee

The Audit Committes, appointed by the Companys Board of Directors, consists of three
independent directors who have performed their duties in compliance with capability under their
responsibility and authority assigned in correspondence with the good practices of the Audit Committes,
In 2024, the Audit Committee had held 5 meetings with all 3 Audit Committee members attended all
the five meetings as well as the external auditors, the management, and the internal auditors to present
the information and suggestions on related agendas and the resolutions of main discussions were:

1. To review the quarterly and annual financial report of 2024 before proposing to the Board
of Directors to certify and approve in consideration of the accounting standards of the financial
report and sufficient disclosure of information.

2. To consider the audit plan, acknowledge the auditing result together with the
recommendations of the internal auditors relating to the analysis of the internal audit control
systern and present them to the Board of Directors to for revision as appropriate including
follow up the progress of the improvement of deficiencies in order to ensure the efficient
internal audit control considering the risk of all factors,

3 Toraview for ensuring that the Company complied with good practices for listed the practices
of the Company under the promulgation of the Stock Exchange of Thailand including
compliance with regulations and laws related to Company's business.

4. To review and propose opinions on connected transactions or transactions with conflict
of interests as well as consider ensuring the disclosure of the correct and complete
information.

5 To assess the independence of the external auditors and consider the appointment and
remuneration of auditors for 2024,

& The audit committee has evaluated its own performance for the year 2024.The result of the
evaluation is at an excellent level. And have already reported to the Board of Directors

The Audit Committee has expressed their opinion that the guarterly and annual financial
staterments and financial report were conducted in accordance with Thai Financial Reporting Standards
as well as the disclosure of the complete, correct and sufficiently detailed connected transactions. In addition,
the Company has provided an internal control system with an efficient auditing mechanism as well as
effective balance system. Moreowver, the Company has kept a strong hold on the practices regarding to the
lawws and regulations of the Stock Exchange of Thailand, corporate government, business ethics and related
business laws.

According to the financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2024, the Audit
Committes has proposed for appointing EY Office Limited to pursue the Company’s auditors same as the
prior year since it is a reputable auditing firm and also is recognized best practice on auditing standards
widely accepted. The appointment of the Company's auditor will be proposed to the Annual General Meeting
of Sharehclders for 2025 which will be held in April 2025 for next approval.

AW (Y W

[Mr. Sakda Sreesangkom) {Mrs, Vilasinee Puddhikarant) [Mrs, Porntip Lerttanongsak)

Chairman of Audit Committee Audit Committee Audit Committee
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Report of Risk Management Committee

Dear Shareholders,

The Risk Management Committee is appointed by the Board of Directors which consists of 4 directors, with
Mrs, Pormthip Lerttanongsalk as the Chairrman of the Committes, Mr, Phongchai Armatanon, Mr, Boorya Tuntipanichapun,
and Ms. Phichameonchu Amatanen as memibers of the Risk Managernent Committes,

The Risk Managerment Committee has performed the duties assigned by the Board of Directors which
is defined in the charter of Risk Management Committes with a duty to acknowledge, determine risk
management policy and strategies aligning with risk management policies as well as pushing and following up on
cooperation in risk management and regularly report to the Board of Directors about the risks of the organization.

In 2024, the Risk Management Committee held 2 meetings of which results were reported to the Board
of Directors in summany with important results as follows:

1. Consider and acknowledge the risks of the organization in 2024, the causes of the risks and the
impact and approve the guidelines to cope with risk,

2. Consider and approve the risk management plan for the year 2025,

Howewer, from the performance of risk management in the past year, the Risk Managerment
Committee is confident that the Company's risk management process functions efficiently. Moreover,
the executives of the Company is aware of the importance of risk management and is ready to support the risk
management continuously.

v

(Mrs. Porntip Lerttanongsak)

Chairman of the Risk Management Committee



Report of Nomination and Remuneration Committee

Dear Shareholders,

Momination and Rermuneration Committee Appointed by the board of directors Which consists
of 4 members in which Mr, Sakda Sreesangkom, Independent Director is the Chairman of the Nomination and
Compensation Committee, Mrs.Vilasinee Puddhikant, Mrs.Matinee Wandeepirem and Ms.Phichamon Amatanon
are the Momination and Compensation Committee. In April 2024, the meeting of the Board of Directors
considered the appointment of Mr, Sakda Sreesangkom as the Nomination and Remuneration Committee to
replace the Nomination and Remuneration Committes who resigned from their positions as Company Directors
and Sub-Committess,

The Momination and Remuneration Cormmittee performs duties as assigned by the Board of Directors
which is defined in the Charter of the MNomination and Remuneration Committee which is responsible
for recruiting qgualified persons to serve as directors of the Company, directers in various sub-committees and
determine the necessary and appropriate remuneration of the directors. In addition, the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee has considered the development plan for directors to imprave knowledge and
capabilities related to the business of the Company in order to create confidence for the shareholders that
all persons who are directors are qualified, knowledgeable and have the potential to work to create maximum
benefits for the Company and shareholders.

In 2024, the MNomination and Remuneration Committee arranged 2 meetings and reported
the meeating results to the Board of Directors for acknowledgment. The important results from the meeting are as
follows:

1. Determine the directors’ remuneration and gratuities for the year 2024 by considering the
Company's operating results, business size and responsibilities of the Board of Directors comparing
with other companies in the same industry as the Company and present to the Annual General
Meeting of Shareholders for the year 2025 for approval.

2. Consider recruiting and nominating persons to be elected as directors 1o replace those who are due

to retire by rotation by taking into account the appropriate qualifications in various fields in line with
the company's business stratagies to be proposad to the Board of Directors for consideration and
further submission to the Annual General Meegting of Shareholders for approval.

A SATS

(Mr. Sakda Sreesangkom)

Chairman of Nomination and Remuneration Committes
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